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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
------------------------------------------------------------------------XF 
PATRICK DONOHUE, Individually and on Behalf of S.J.D., 
a Student with Disabilities; 
ANGELA NOLAN Individually and on Behalf of S.N., 
a Student with Disabilities in New York State; 
MARIE FARRELL Individually and on Behalf of E.F., 
a Student of New York City; and  
all Others Similarly Situated, 

CASE NO.: 21 - CV - 
Plaintiffs, 

                                                                                                         CLASS ACTION 
     -against-                                                                    COMPLAINT FOR 
                                                                                                         DECLARATORY AND 
KATHLEEN HOCHUL, in her official capacity as   INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
Governor of New York; 
BILL de BLASIO, in his official capacity as  
the Mayor of New York City; 
HOWARD ZUCKER, in his official capacity as  
the New York State Commissioner of Health; 
BETTY ROSA, in her official capacity as the New York  
State Commissioner of Education; 
LESTER YOUNG, JR., in his official capacity as  
Chancellor of the New York State Board of Regents; 
MEISHA PORTER, in her official capacity as the  
Chancellor of New York City Department of Education; 
DAVE CHOKSHI, in his official capacity as  
Commissioner of New York City Department of Health; 

NEW YORK DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH; 
NEW YORK DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION; 

NEW YORK BOARD OF REGENTS; 
NEW YORK CITY DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION; 

NEW YORK CITY DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH; 
Defendants. 

------------------------------------------------------------------------X 
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Plaintiffs are Parents and Natural Guardians of school-aged children who attend elementary 

and/or secondary schools throughout the City and State of New York, as well as the Students 

themselves, including Students with disabilities, who bring this action on their own behalf and on 

behalf of all other similarly situated school-aged children attending elementary and secondary 

school in the City and State of New York, on a common basis, against KATHLEEN HOCHUL 

(“Governor Hochul”), in her official capacity as the Governor of New York State; HOWARD 

ZUCKER (“Commissioner Zucker”), in his capacity as Commissioner of New York State 

Department of Health; BETTY ROSA (“Commissioner Rosa”), in her official capacity as the 

Commissioner of New York State Department of Education; LESTER YOUNG, JR. (“Chancellor 

Young”), in his official capacity as Chancellor of the New York State Board of Regents; BILL de 

BLASIO, in his official capacity as the Mayor of New York City; MEISHA PORTER (“Chancellor 

Porter”), in her official capacity as the Chancellor of New York City Department of Education; 

DAVE CHOKSHI (“Commissioner Chokshi”), in his official capacity as Commissioner of New 

York City Department of Health; the NEW YORK STATE HEALTH DEPARTMENT (“NYS 

DOH”); the NEW YORK STATE EDUCATION DEPARTMENT (“NYS DOE”); the NEW 

YORK STATE BOARD OF REGENTS (“NYS BOR”); the NEW YORK CITY DEPARTMENT 

OF EDUCATION (“NYC DOE”); and the NEW YORK CITY DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH 

(“NYC DOH”), (collectively “Defendants”), and allege the following upon information and belief: 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

Plaintiffs bring this action on their behalf and all others similarly situated to assert the claims 

alleged in this Complaint. Plaintiffs seek a judgment declaring that Defendants violated their rights 

by implementing a mask mandate in elementary and secondary schools throughout the City and 

State of New York in violation of the First, Eighth, Ninth, and Fourteenth Amendments of the 
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United States Constitution, Article XI of the New York State Constitution, several federal 

regulations and statutes, including the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”), 

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973; the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA.”), and 

42 U.S.C. § 1983, as well as regulations, laws, and statutes of the State of New York. Plaintiffs 

seek an Order enjoining Defendants from implementing and continuing to implement their 

unconstitutional, unlawful, and unnecessary mask mandate relative to elementary and secondary 

school students throughout the City and State of New York, and from imposing their personal 

political and “religious” beliefs onto the Plaintiffs — the Parent/Plaintiffs as well as their Students 

attending elementary and secondary school throughout the City and State of New York. 

In this proposed class action, the primary and predominant class, consists of all elementary 

and secondary school students attending school in New York City and throughout the State of New 

York who are subject to Defendants’ mask mandate. Plaintiffs’ proposed subclasses consist of four 

classes of Students attending school in the State of New: 1) all Students attending school outside 

New York City with an Individualized Education Program (“IEP”); 2) all Students attending 

school outside New York City that do not have an IEP (neuro-typical, or “non-disabled”); 3) all 

Students attending school in New York City with an IEP; and 4) all students attending school in 

New York City that do not have an IEP (neuro-typical). 

The 2019 Coronavirus (COVID-19) disease causes mild to severe respiratory symptoms, 

including fever, cough, and difficulty breathing. People infected with COVID-19 have had 

symptoms ranging from those that are mild (like a common cold) to severe pneumonia that requires 

medical care in a general hospital and can be fatal, with a disproportionate risk of severe illness 

for older adults and/or those who have serious underlying medical health conditions.  
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On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization (WHO) designated the COVID-19 

outbreak as a Public Health Emergency of International Concern. On a national level, the Secretary 

of Health and Human Services determined on January 31, 2020, that as a result of confirmed cases 

of COVID-19 in the United States, a public health emergency existed and had existed since January 

27, 2020, nationwide. After that, the situation rapidly evolved throughout the world, with many 

countries, including the United States, quickly progressing from identifying travel-associated cases 

to person-to-person transmission among close contacts of travel-associated cases, and finally to 

widespread community transmission COVID-19. 

New York State first identified cases on March 1, 2020, and after that became the national 

epicenter of the outbreak. On March 7, 2020, with widespread transmission rapidly increasing 

within some regions of the state, Governor Andrew M. Cuomo issued an Executive Order 

declaring a state disaster emergency to aid in addressing the threat COVID-19 poses to the health 

and welfare of New York State residents and visitors, which ended June 24, 2021, due to the 

success in vaccination rates, and declining hospitalization and positivity statewide. Defendant 

Hochul was sworn in as Governor Cuomo’s successor on August 24, 2021. On the same day, 

Defendant Hochul announced that she would be utilizing federal funds to implement the mask 

mandate as set forth herein. The funds would be used to provide surgical masks to students.  

Defendants’ current mask mandate for all children in attendance at New York State 

elementary and secondary schools, both public and private, should be declared unconstitutional 

and enjoined for the following reasons set forth below. 

The mask mandate cannot survive any Constitutional standard of review – not Strict 

Scrutiny, Intermediate Scrutiny, or Rational Basis – as the mandate itself is vague and does not 
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require the students to wear any specific type of mask, which has been found to prevent the 

transmission of COVID-19. The current mask mandate is problematic for numerous reasons: 

i. Other than mandating a mask, the mandate does not require a specific type of 
mask that has been proven or found in any way to reduce or prevent the 
spread/transmission of COVID-19; 

ii. The proposed mask-mandate is ambiguous—for instance, a “mask” or “face 
covering” is required, but there are no further clarifications as to what type of 
mask(s) should be worn, which sort of masks are effective, which are not, and 
which kind of mask and/or face covering satisfies and/or complies with the 
mandate; 

iii. By its very definition, a “mask” is a medical device. The implementation of a 
mask-mandate alters the terms of a special education student’s Individual 
Education Plan (“IEP”) and would require local educational agencies to follow 
the procedures and regulations of the IDEA in implementing such a mandate, 
which the Defendants did not do in the instant matter;  

iv. As a mask is worn over the nose and mouth and restricts a student’s breathing 
and form of communication, it qualifies as a “restraint,” defined by the federal 
Office of Civil Rights, and its mandated use on school-aged children is 
otherwise unlawful; 

v. The mandate segregates the public into political and moral factions, infringing 
on the Plaintiffs’ freedoms – political, religious, social, familial, autonomy, 
and otherwise;  

vi. Defendants’ mask mandate is an unconstitutional/unlawful violation and/or 
infringement of the Plaintiffs’ rights as its use as proscribed by the mandate is 
not supported by any credible scientific evidence or evidence that would stand 
up to the rigid Frye (New York) and/or Daubert (federal) test(s). 

vii. The current mask mandate requires all school-aged children to wear a mask at 
all times while attending school. The present mask mandate does not provide 
an alternative method of educating those school-aged children/students who 
cannot, or choose not to, comply with said mandate, in accordance with the 
New York State Constitution.  
 

                                                JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. The instant case arises under the First, Fourth, Eighth, Ninth, and Fourteenth Amendments 

of the United States Constitution, Article XI of the New York State Constitution, several 

federal statutes, including the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”), 20 

U.S.C. § 1400, et seq., including but not limited to § 1415(j) and United States Department 
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of Education the regulations, which were promulgated pursuant to authority granted by 

statute (34 C.F.R. Part 300), Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (“Section 504”), 

29 U.S.C. § 794, et seq.; the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12101, 

et seq. and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

2. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331, which confers original 

jurisdiction on federal district courts to hear suits arising under the Constitution, laws, or 

treaties of the United States, as well as 28 U.S.C. § 1343(a). 

3. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1367 over Plaintiffs’ state 

law/constitutional claims, which are closely related to Plaintiffs’ federal claims falling 

within this Court’s original jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 28 U.S.C. § 1343(a). For 

example, N.Y. Const. art. XI, § 1 states, “A system of free common schools, wherein all the 

children of this state may be educated.” 

4. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), venue is appropriately placed within the Southern District 

of New York because at least Defendants reside or transact business in the Southern District; 

specifically, Governor Hochul, Commissioner Zucker, Commissioner Rosa, Mayor de 

Blasio, Chancellor Porter, Commissioner Chokshi, NYS DOH, NYS DOE, City of New 

York, NYC DOE and NYC DOH, maintain business offices in New York County. 

5. This Court has the authority to award the requested declaratory and injunctive relief under 

28 U.S.C. § 2201 and 2202 and costs and attorneys’ fees under 42 U.S.C. § 1988(b).  

6. Patrick Donohue, a New York City resident, is the Parent and Natural Guardian of S.J.D., 

who is is classified as a student with a traumatic brain injury – a disability defined by the 

IDEA, 20 U.S.C. § 1401(3), and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794, and 

a resident of New York, New York.  
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7. Defendant New York City Department of Education, as the Local Educational Agency 

(“LEA”), and Defendant New York State, as the State Education Agency (“SEA”) are 

obligated to provide S.J.D. with a free appropriate public education (“FAPE”) pursuant to 

the IDEA for every school year as outlined in her Individual Education Plan (“IEP”). 

8.  Pursuant to both Section 504 and the ADA, S.J.D. is a qualified individual with a disability 

who was denied benefits as per her IEP from the LEA solely because of their disability. 

9. Such denial of educational benefits was in bad faith or a gross misjudgment.  

10. S.J.D. is a 16-year-old female student who is currently fully vaccinated from COVID-19 

and, therefore, according to the science, has little to no risk of either catching COVID-19 or 

developing serious or life-threatening illness if a breakthrough case occurs. 

11. S.J.D. has been attending a private educational program, The International Institute for the 

Brain (“iBRAIN”), before, during, and throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. 

12. iBRAIN was the first educational program in the United States to reopen on May 4, 2020, 

and S.J.D. was one of the first two students in America to return to school.1 

13. Since S.J.D.’s return to iBRAIN, she has not been required to wear a mask at any time during 

her educational program at iBRAIN. 

14. Wearing a mask would significantly interfere with S.J.D.’s breathing, and since S.J.D. is 

non-verbal and has a limited range of fine motor skills, she would be unable to communicate 

if she was having difficulty breathing. 

15. Wearing a mask would significantly interfere with her ability to participate in her educational 

and related service program throughout the school day at iBRAIN. 

 
1 https://abc7ny.com/ibrain-blood-drive-covid-pandemic/10616170/  
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16. As per S.J.D.’s IEP, she requires a full-time 1:1 nurse to monitor her throughout the day.  

Due to her brain injury and subsequent seizure disorder, she is more susceptible to aspiration, 

leading to pneumonia and possible death. 

17. According to S.J.D.’s IEP, none of her education and related service program includes 

wearing a mask.  

18. S.J.D.’s iBRAIN IEP for the 2021-2022 school year is attached as EXHIBIT 1.  

19. Marie Farrell, a New York resident, is the Parent and Natural Guardian of E.F., who is 

classified as a student with Autism – a disability defined by the IDEA 20 U.S.C. § 1401(3) 

and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794, and a resident of Staten Island, 

New York.   

20. Defendant New York City Department of Education, as the LEA, and Defendant New York 

State Department of Education, as the SEA, are obligated to provide E.F. with a FAPE 

pursuant to the IDEA for every school year as outlined in her IEP.  

21. Pursuant to both Section 504 and the ADA, E.F. is a qualified individual with a disability 

who was denied benefits as per her IEP from the SEA and LEA solely because of their 

disability.   

22. Such denial of educational benefits was in bad faith or a gross misjudgment. E.F. is a 16-

year-old female student who is not vaccinated, as tests have shown that she possesses 

COVID-19 antibodies. Her doctor has advised her parents that a vaccine at this time is not 

appropriate. According to science, she has little to no risk of catching COVID-19 or 

developing a severe or life-threatening illness if a breakthrough case occurs. 

23. E.F. has attended a public education program in Staten Island before, during, and throughout 

the COVID-19 pandemic. 
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24. E.F. currently has difficulty communicating; she frequently uses one-word utterances. 

Donning a mask would further inhibit her speech progress and cause further dysregulation, 

triggering maladaptive behaviors such as elopement, bouncing, screaming, etc. 

25. E.F. also struggles to identify body language, which becomes increasingly difficult for her 

to identify facial features and language while her teachers and peers wear masks.  

26. Wearing a mask would significantly interfere with her ability to participate in her educational 

and related service program throughout the school day. 

27. According to E.F.’s IEP, none of her education and related service program includes wearing 

a mask. 

28. E.F.’s (present) IEP for the 2020-2021 school year is attached as EXHIBIT 2. 

29. Angela Nolan, a New York resident, is the Parent and Natural Guardian of S.N., who is 

classified as a student with a learning disability – a disability defined by the IDEA 20 U.S.C. 

§ 1401(3) and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794, and a resident of New 

York, New York.   

30. Defendant New York City Department of Education, as the LEA and New York State 

Department of Education, as the SEA, are obligated to provide S.N. with a FAPE pursuant 

to the IDEA for every school year as outlined in his Individual Education Plan (“IEP”).  

31. Pursuant to both Section 504 and the ADA, S.N. is a qualified individual with a disability 

who was denied benefits as per his IEP from the LEA solely because of their disability.  Such 

denial of educational benefits was in bad faith or a gross misjudgment.  

32. S.N. is a 12-year-old (soon to be 13-year-old) young man who is currently fully vaccinated 

from COVID-19 and, therefore, according to the science, has little to no risk of either 
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catching COVID-19 or developing serious or life-threatening illness if a breakthrough case 

occurs. 

33. S.N. has attended a public education program in Staten Island before, during, and throughout 

the COVID-19 pandemic. 

34. S.N. struggles with forming intelligible speech. According to IEP, “[l]ow jaw sounds 

continue to be a target at the connected speech level along with sound substitutions noted 

for voice/voiceless [] and controlled vowels.  

35. Wearing a mask would significantly interfere with his ability to participate in her educational 

and related service program throughout the school day, especially when attempting to 

“model” teachers or related service providers to reach his goal of “low jaw” sounds. 

36. According to S.N.’s IEP, none of her education and related service program includes wearing 

a mask. 

37. S.N.’s (present) IEP for the 2020-2021 school year is attached as EXHIBIT 3. 

38. Defendant KATHLEEN HOCHUL is the Governor of the State of New York (“Governor 

Hochul”) with a business office located at 633 Third Avenue, 38th floor, New York, NY 

10017. 

39. Defendant HOWARD ZUCKER is the Commissioner of the New York State Department of 

Health (“Commissioner Zucker”). Commissioner Zucker’s principal place of business is 

located at Empire State Plaza, Corning Tower, Albany, New York 12237. 

40. Defendant NEW YORK STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH (“NYS DOH”) is the 

department of the New York State government responsible for public health. Defendant 

NYS DOH includes The New York State Public Health and Health Planning Council (“NYS 
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PHPC”). NYS DOH’s principal place of business is located at Empire State Plaza, Corning 

Tower, Albany, New York 12237. 

41. Defendant LESTER YOUNG, JR. (“Chancellor Young”), is the Chancellor of the New York 

State Board of Regents.  Chancellor Young’s principal place of business is located at 89 

Washington Avenue, Albany, New York 12234. 

42. Defendant NEW YORK STATE BOARD OF REGENTS (“NYS BOR”) and its members 

are responsible for determining the policies governing New York’s schools and adopting 

rules and regulations to effectuate State education laws and policies. Education policies set 

by the Board of Regents govern State learning and promotion standards, State examinations, 

teacher licensing, and educational accountability. The NYS BOR elects the New York State 

Commissioner of Education.  NYS BOR’s principal place of business is located at 89 

Washington Avenue, Albany, New York 12234. 

43. Defendant BETTY ROSA (“Commissioner Rosa”), in her official capacity as the 

Commissioner of New York State Department of Education, and as the chief executive 

officer of New York State’s education system and NYS BOR, is responsible for enforcing 

all laws relating to the educational system of New York State, executing all State educational 

policies, and has general supervisory authority over all schools subject to the New York 

State Education Law, including NYC DOE. N.Y. Educ. Law § 305(1)-(2) (McKinney).  

Commissioner Rosa’s principal business place is at 89 Washington Avenue, Albany, New 

York 12234. 

44. Defendant NEW YORK STATE EDUCATION DEPARTMENT (“NYS DOE”) is the 

official State Education Agency (“SEA”) that exercises general supervision over all 

programs in the State that provide educational services to disabled students, including NYC 
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DOE. It must ensure that all programs meet State education standards. 20 U.S.C. § 

1412(a)(11).  

45. Upon information and belief, NYS DOE is the recipient of federal funding under the IDEA, 

and as such, has the responsibility to establish and maintain procedures . . . to ensure that 

children with disabilities and their parents are guaranteed procedural safeguards concerning 

the provision of free appropriate education.” 20 U.S.C. § 1415(a). NYS DOE is a state 

government entity in Albany. Its principal place of business is at 89 Washington Avenue, 

Albany, New York 12234. 

46. Defendant BILL de BLASIO (“Mayor de Blasio”) is the Mayor of the City of New York 

and directs the New York City Department of Education through the appointment of the 

Chancellor.  Mayor DeBlasio’s principal place of business is located at City Hall, New York, 

New York 10007. 

47. Defendant MEISHA PORTER (“Chancellor Porter”) is the Chancellor of the NYC DOE, 

and as such, is entrusted with the specific powers and duties outlined in N.Y. Educ. Law § 

2590-h (McKinney), including oversight of D.O.E. regarding students with disabilities under 

the IDEA and Section 504.  The Chancellor’s principal place of business is located at 52 

Chambers Street, New York, New York 10007. 

48. Defendant NYC DOE is the official body (the LEA) charged with developing and enforcing 

policies concerning the administration and operation of public schools in the City of New 

York, including programs and services for students with disabilities.  

49. Upon information and belief, NYC DOE receives federal and state funds to educate students 

with disabilities and must comply with state and federal statutory requirements under Section 
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504 of the Rehabilitation Act. See 29 U.S.C. § 794. NYC DOE’s principal place of business 

is located at 52 Chambers Street, New York, New York 10007. 

50. Defendant DAVE CHOKSHI (“Commissioner Chokshi”) is the Commissioner of the New 

York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene. Commissioner Chokshi’s principal 

place of business is located at 42-09 28th St, Long Island City, NY 11101. 

51. Defendant NYC DOH is the department of the New York City government responsible for 

public health and issuing birth certificates and dog licenses, and conducting restaurant 

inspections and enforcement. NYC DOH’s principal place of business is located at 42-09 

28th St; Long Island City, NY 11101. 

CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

General Class Action Allegations 

52. Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and all other similarly situated school-

aged children, both with disabilities and without, in the State of New York.  

53. Plaintiff Students herein represent all students in the State of New York; all Students in the 

State of New York with Disabilities as outlined in the IDEA; all New York City Students; 

and all New York City Students with Disabilities as outlined in the IDEA. 

54. A class action is a superior means, and the only practicable means, by which Plaintiffs and 

unknown class members can challenge Defendants’ actions as set forth herein.  

55. The action is brought, and may properly be maintained, as a class action under Fed. R. Civ. 

P. 23(a) and 23(b)(2). 

56. This action satisfies the numerosity, commonality, typicality, and adequacy requirements of 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a), as well as the requirements of Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2).  
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Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(1):  Numerosity 

57. The class is so numerous that joinder is impracticable. 

58. All putative class members are elementary and/or secondary school students, and their 

Parents, in the City and State of New York, including students with IEPs.  

59. The number of individuals affected by Defendants’ (collectively) unlawful acts likely ranges 

in the millions. 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(2):  Commonality 

60. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the classes. 

61. All class members present common factual questions in pursuit of declaratory and injunctive 

relief relative to the Defendants’ mask mandate as it applies to elementary and/or secondary 

school students, and their Parents, in the City and State of New York, including students 

with IEPs.  

62. All class members present common factual questions relative to the Defendants’ mask 

mandate. The factual and legal issues are common as to all Plaintiffs and all Defendants.  

63. All class members seek declaratory and injunctive relief relative to the Defendants’ mask 

mandate as it applies to elementary and/or secondary school students, and their Parents, in 

the City and State of New York, including students with IEPs. The factual and legal issues 

are common as to all Plaintiffs and all Defendants.  

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(3):  Typicality 

64. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of other respective class members. 

65. Like all class members, Plaintiffs attend school (elementary or secondary) in the City and 

State of New York; they are disabled students who have IEPs in accordance with the IDEA. 
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66. All Plaintiffs and class members were denied their procedural and substantive due process 

rights under state and federal law, as well as the Constitutions of the United States and the 

State of New York.  

67. All Plaintiffs and class members class seek the same injunctive and declaratory relief. 

68. All members of the class, including named Plaintiffs, seek a judgment declaring that 

defendants’ actions were unlawful and an injunction preventing defendants from committing 

such actions in the future. 

69. There is nothing distinctive about the putative Plaintiffs’ claims for declaratory, injunctive, 

or pendency relief that would lead to a different result in their case than in any case involving 

other class members. 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(4):  Adequacy 

70. Plaintiffs are adequate representatives of the class because their interest in the vindication of 

their rights is aligned with the interests of the other class members. 

71. Plaintiffs are members of the class, and their interests do not conflict with those of the other 

class members concerning any claims. 

72. Class counsel has developed and continues to develop relationships with Plaintiffs and others 

similarly situated. 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2):  Declaratory and Injunctive Relief Class 

73. A class action is appropriate for declaratory and injunctive relief under Fed. R. Civ. P. 

23(b)(2) because Defendants’ actions generally apply to the class. All elementary and 

secondary school students in the City and State of New York are subject to the Defendants’ 

mask mandate. The implementation of Defendants’ mask mandate in New York State, to be 
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worn by all students and staff in attendance – without complying with Plaintiffs’ rights under 

the Constitution, federal law, and state law as provided herein. 

74. The class seeks declaratory and injunctive relief to enjoin Defendants herein from denying 

the rights guaranteed under the provided by Constitution, federal law, and state law as 

provided herein to all students in New York State, including those students with disabilities 

as defined by the IDEA and their parents. 

75. Specifically, Plaintiffs seek a judgment declaring a mask mandate would qualify as a 

“restraint” as defined by the relevant state and education laws and thus creates a “change in 

educational placement” for those students with disabilities under the IDEA. Plaintiffs also 

seek an injunction to prevent Defendants herein from unilaterally changing the Plaintiffs’ 

educational placement through a mask mandate. 

76. Class status is particularly appropriate because there is a risk that any individual member’s 

claim for declaratory or injunctive relief will become moot before the litigation is resolved.  

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3):  Damages Class 

77. Plaintiffs only seek nominal damages, declaratory, and injunctive relief at this time. 

However, no claims for damages should be deemed waived where otherwise available. 
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

“I TURNED 18 IN FEB 2020. I LOST MY FRIENDS, MY EDUCATION, THE FIRST YEAR OF MY ADULT LIFE, MY 

MENTAL HEALTH, AND 20LBS. I DIDN’T MAKE SACRIFICES. I WAS SACRIFICED.” 

-Jane Kitchen, 182 

 

78. When COVID-19 swept the United States in March of 2020, panic emerged, and sacrifices 

were made. Students all over the country faced a new, complicated obstacle: learning from 

home with little to no resources, limited outside interactions with the “real” world, missed 

proms, birthdays, and graduations—the list is exhaustive. Fueled by incessant media 

coverage and polarizing political stances of government officials on federal and local levels, 

COVID-19 has come to represent perhaps the most significant entanglement of science, 

misinformation, religion, and politics of this century. 

79. Lost in the sea of executive orders and lock-downs were the students of New York State. 

Forced to learn and interact with their peers behind a screen at the behest of government 

officials focused solely on furthering their own political and at times religious agendas, the 

educational and individual rights of elementary and secondary school students in New York 

State were sacrificed to the pandemonium of political power and purported “science” of 

those obligated and sworn to protect their rights. 

80. Although Defendants herein remain steadfast that a mask mandate is necessary for light of 

potential exposure to the COVID-19 virus, Defendants make these baseless allegations that, 

when and if tried before a court of law, simply would not meet the legal standards required 

 
2 https://twitter.com/janesays22/status/1415354369126457346?lang=en 
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to implement such a mandate when balancing the interest of public safety with a vague and 

ambiguous mandate that violates Plaintiffs’ individual rights under State and federal law. 

I. DEFENDANT HOCHUL LACKS THE EXECUTIVE POWER TO IMPLEMENT A MANDATE, AS 
PROVIDED BY STATE LEGISLATURE. 

81. As background, on March 7, 2020, former Governor of New York State, Andrew Cuomo 

(“Governor Cuomo”) declared a State Disaster Emergency (Executive Order 202) due to the 

COVID-19 pandemic (“NYS COVID-19 Disaster Declaration”). 

82. Nearly a year later, on March 5, 2021, the New York State Legislature (“N.Y.S. 

Legislature”) stripped Governor Cuomo of his emergency powers by: 

1) Revoking Governor Cuomo’s authority to issue any new directives; 

2) Allowing the directives in place at that time to continue for another thirty (30) 
days; however, any new extensions or modifications of directives would 
require five (5) days notice to the N.Y.S. Legislature or local elected officials 
before that extension or modification went into effect; 

3) Requiring Governor Cuomo to respond publicly to any comments received 
from the N.Y.S. Legislature or local leaders if a directive was extended; 

4) Requiring Governor Cuomo to create a searchable database of all executive 
actions that remained in force to inform lawmakers and the public with the 
then-current state of the law; and 

5) Allowing the N.Y.S. Legislature to terminate a state disaster emergency by 
concurrent resolution.3 

 

83. When Governor Hochul took office, she did not possess any emergency powers that the 

legislature had previously granted to Governor Cuomo.  

84. In a N.Y. Senate press release, Senate Leader Rob Ortt stated, “We are in a state of 

recovery—not emergency—and it is time for New Yorkers to return to their daily routines 

 
3 https://www.nysenate.gov/legislation/bills/2021/s5357 
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and a sense of normalcy. The process has been long. Many lessons have been painful, but it 

is finally time to move on.”4 

85. At or about the same time, Carl, Heastie, Speaker of the New York State Assembly, stated: 

“A year ago, as New York was being ravaged by COVID-19, we passed legislation 
to give the governor temporary emergency powers that would allow the state to 
nimbly react to a constantly evolving, deadly situation,” 
“These temporary emergency powers were always meant to be that — temporary. 
By immediately repealing the temporary emergency powers, allowing no new 
directives to be issued, and bringing transparency and oversight to the standing 
directives, we can establish better communication and collaboration with our local 
communities and help preserve the health and wellbeing of New Yorkers as we see 
the light at the end of the tunnel of this devastating and deadly healthcare crisis.”5 

86. Plaintiffs allege that to appreciate the gravity of Defendants’ unlawful acts fully, one must 

pay close attention to the “shell game” (also referred to as a thimblerig) at hand. 

87. MARCH 2, 2021: As set forth above, the N.Y.S. Legislature stripped Governor Cuomo of his 

emergency powers, with all existing Executive Orders then-in effect to expire within thirty 

(30) days of the bill’s passage (S03537). 

88. MAY 26, 2021: By and through Executive Order 202 (dated March 7, 2021), the DOH and 

PHPC enacted and/or updated 8 NYCRR 66-3.1: Duration and Applicability. This also 

extended the regulation relative to the Governor’s emergency powers and the authorization 

to declare an emergency. The provision read:  

“The provision of this Subpart shall apply for the duration of any state disaster 
emergency declared pursuant to sections 28 and 29-a of the Executive Law* related 
to the outbreak of COVID-19 in New York State. To the extent any provision of 
this Subpart becomes inconsistent with any Executive Order, the remainder of the 
provisions in this Subpart shall remain in effect and shall be interpreted to the 
maximum extent possible as consistent with such Executive Orders.”   
 
*These provisions were expressly revoked by N.Y.S. Legislature on March 5, 2021, 
by Bill No. S05357 (March 2, 2021). 

 
4 https://www.nysenate.gov/newsroom/press-releases/robert-g-ortt/senate-assembly-republicans-end-disaster-
emergency-declaration 
5 https://nyassembly.gov/Press/?sec=story&story=95786 
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89. As an emergency Order, this remained effective for ninety (90) days until August 23, 2021. 

90. JUNE 23, 2021: In a last-minute effort to assemble a long-term plan and perhaps alerted to 

the impending future, Defendants DOH and PHPC met and “amended” 8 NYCRR 66-3.1: 

Duration and Applicability to an entirely made-over and gutted 8 NYCRR 66-3.1: Face 

Coverings. 

91. Absent from the “amended” provision was any trace of the previous regulation. The 

provision now read, in pertinent part: 

Any person who is over age two and able to medically tolerate a face-covering shall 
be required to cover their nose and mouth with a mask or face-covering when in a 
public place and unable to maintain, or when not maintaining, social distance, 
unless such person is fully vaccinated, meaning two or more weeks have elapsed 
since such person received the final dose of any COVID-19 vaccine approved by 
the United States Food and Drug Administration (F.D.A.) or authorized by the 
F.D.A. for emergency use; provided the person is not present in a pre-
kindergarten to twelfth-grade school, public transit, homeless shelter, correctional 
facility, nursing home, health care setting, or other settings where mask use is 
otherwise required by federal or state law or regulation. 

 
92. Black’s Law Dictionary defines “amendment” as the correction of an error. Indeed 

“amendments” do not present themselves by way of insertion of numerous paragraphs and 

additional provisions unrelated to the previous text.  

93. Not only is this prima facie evidence of a flagrant disregard for the political and legislative 

process(es), it is on its face unconstitutional and usurps the power of the legislative branch. 

94. Defendants intentionally utilized a section of the code that was expiring and simply re-wrote 

the section law to circumvent the legislative process of re-adoption and subjecting the matter 

to the contemplation of the legislative bodies.  

95. It is important to note that Executive Orders classified as “emergency” in nature are typically 

instituted for ninety (90) days before they must be re-adopted. With the “amendment” passed 
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on June 23, 2021, the “amended” 66-3.1: Face Coverings would expire August 26, 2021, as 

an extension of Executive Order 202.  

96. This marks the introduction of the third shell of the “shell game”; this “amendment” for a 

mask mandate (albeit implemented unlawfully) had an exception for students in schools and 

the deception about Executive Order 202.  

97. JUNE 24, 2021: In the wake of scandal and political pressure, Governor Cuomo signs 

Executive Order 210, rescinding all Executive Orders, including 202 and 205, effective June 

25, 2021. 

98. Although it remains unclear as to how these subsequent events occurred without proper 

executive or legislative authority, Plaintiffs allege, upon information and belief, that the 

following events occurred under the misconception that the expiration of Executive Order 

202 on June 25, 2021, did not affect the validity or duration of its arterial regulations 

(including 8 NYCRR 66-3.1, et seq.). Plaintiffs reiterate that this is a severe 

misapprehension, but such details give insight to the larger game at hand. 

99. AUGUST 2, 2021: In response to a question whether he can issue a statewide mask mandate 

Governor Cuomo stated: 

“The Legislature would have to come back, they’d have to pass a law to do that. 
So I don’t have any legal authority to mandate.  The best I can do is say I strongly 
recommend that they do that.”6 

100. AUGUST 12, 2021: The “shell game” continues, and the shells begin to move. Defendant 

Hochul announced her belief that masks should be worn in schools, despite the then-current 

regulations allowing students to be exempt from donning a mask. She stated: 

“That’s just an opinion right now. I don’t have the authority to make that the policy, 
and we’re gonna leave it up to the school districts . . . It’s not going to be top-down. 

 
6 https://apnews.com/article/lifestyle-business-health-coronavirus-pandemic-97863fa563eadaad177e0ccba8000cb4  
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It’s going to be much more collaborative, and I will listen to everyone before I make 
decisive decisions.”7 8 

127. AUGUST 12, 2021: Defendants NYS DOE, Chancellor Young, and Commissioner Rosa 

issued a “Health and Safety Guide for the 2021-2022 School Year,”9 including the following 

instructions regarding mask mandates in schools:10 

“Per the CDC guidance, schools that require people to wear a mask should consider: 

• The possibility of reasonable accommodation11 for individuals who are not fully 
vaccinated and/or who are unable to wear or have difficulty wearing certain types 
of masks because of a disability. 

• Relevant workplace safety guidelines or federal regulations.” (emphasis added) 

It should be noted, there is no reference to mandating masks in schools throughout 
the entire guidance. 

101. On the same day, Defendants NYS DOE, Chancellor Young, and Commissioner Rosa issued 

a “Health and Safety Guide for the 2021-2022 School Year”12 (hereinafter, “Health and 

Safety Guide” or “Guide”), including the following instructions regarding mask mandates 

in schools. 

102. However, the Health and Safety Guide sets forth a mask-mandate for those students in 

attendance. The Guide provides that: 

• Consistent and correct mask use is particularly important indoors and when 
physical distancing cannot be maintained in areas of high transmission of 
COVID-19. When teachers, staff, and students (ages 2 years and older) 
consistently and correctly wear a mask, they protect others as well as 
themselves. 

 
7 https://abc7ny.com/kathy-hochul-lt-governor-ny-gov-lieutenant/10946670/ 
8  https://nypost.com/2021/08/12/ny-governor-in-waiting-kathy-hochul-wants-masks-in-schools/ 
9 http://www.nysed.gov/common/nysed/files/programs/back-school/nysed-health-and-safety-guide-for-the-2021-
2022-school-year.pdf  
10 Id. 
11 The hyperlink included in this guidance from CDC refers only to workplace accommodations and nothing 
regarding students or children: https://www.eeoc.gov/wysk/what-you-should-know-about-COVID-19-and-ada-
rehabilitation-act-and-other-eeo-laws#D  
12 http://www.nysed.gov/common/nysed/files/programs/back-school/nysed-health-and-safety-guide-for-the-2021-
2022-school-year.pdf. 
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● The C.D.C.’s Order regarding masks, issued in January 2021, requires that 
“[a]ll passengers on public conveyances ... traveling into, within, or out of the 
United States ... regardless of their vaccination status, are required to wear a 
mask over their nose and mouth.” It applies to all forms of public 
transportation, including school buses. Passengers and drivers must wear a 
mask on school buses, including on buses operated by public and private 
school systems, regardless of vaccination status, subject to the exclusions and 
exemptions in C.D.C.’s Order. 

● Masks are recommended for school events and athletics while indoors, per the 
C.D.C.  

● The C.D.C. recommends that people who are not fully vaccinated wear a mask 
in crowded outdoor settings or during activities that involve sustained close 
contact with other people. Fully vaccinated people might choose to wear a 
mask in crowded outdoor settings if they or someone in their household is 
immunocompromised.  

● The C.D.C. recommends that schools should have a sufficient supply of masks 
for students and staff who forget their own or need a replacement, including 
on buses.  

● The Occupational Health and Safety Administration has established masking 
requirements that apply to school districts.”13 

 
103. Absent from the Guide is the authority to implement a mask mandate for students in 

elementary and/or secondary schools, as well as a scientific or medical basis for radically 

altering the previous mask mandate, enacted in the height of the pandemic, which expressly 

excepted children attending elementary and secondary schools.  

104. Significantly, the Guide references a general need for masking in school and on public 

transportation, and recommends providing masks to students who board the bus without 

them.  

105. The preceding occurred on the same day Defendant Hochul announced her intention to run 

for a full term as Governor in 2022. What may seem like a benign coincidence or innocuous 

happenstance was, in truth, part of a contrived scheme calculated to spark Defendant 

Hochul’s ascension to New York’s office on high – the Office of the Governor.  

 
13 Id. 
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106. AUGUST 18, 2021: As the number of women who came forward with credible accounts of 

sexual abuse and harassment at the hands of Governor Cuomo grew, so did the calls for 

Cuomo’s resignation. 

107. As Governor Cuomo descended from his post in shame, Lieutenant Governor Hochul 

ascended to her new position with zeal. Defendant Hochul was a politician with an agenda, 

like a zealot on a mission – a political, social, and religious zealot on a holy mission, to bend 

the masses to her will with the help of her apostles.  

108. Only six days after her last public statement about the mask mandate, on August 18, 2021, 

Governor Hochul, while still serving as Lt. Governor, announced she would impose a 

statewide mask mandate for all schools.  In her public statements, she completely reversed 

herself from just a few days earlier: 

“I believe we need a mask mandate for children to go back to school,” Governor 
Hochul told reporters following a tour of a public school in New York City. “And 
that will have to be universal. It will be statewide.  In a matter of days, I’ll be able 
to say we will have mask mandates. I just don’t have that authority at this time 
when I’m not going to overstep.  Mask mandates are something that the Department 
of Health has the authority to call for.  I believe that we’ll need mask mandates for 
children to go back to schools, and that’ll have to be universal, it’ll be statewide.”14 

109. Defendant Hochul hoisted herself onto the scene and the political stage by seizing the 

conversation of the moment – she decreed that the then-current mask mandate did not go far 

enough. A more restrictive, all-inclusive mandate was necessary for Defendant Hochul. The 

key to battling the pandemic and its lingering variant was to require elementary and 

secondary school children to all wear masks, at all times, in all schools (public and private) 

without exception. Soon to be Governor, Hochul prophesized the coming of such a mandate.  

 
14 https://apnews.com/article/andrew-cuomo-health-new-york-education-coronavirus-pandemic-
bd2377b3a96051e10a543881d0dbf5d3 
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110. Before even transitioning into the role of Governor, Hochul publicly announced that she 

would implement a state-wide mask mandate without disclosing the scientific and/or 

medical basis for her decision.  

111. AUGUST 18, 2021: In response to governors from various states blocking school mask 

mandates from being implemented in local school districts, Defendant Secretary Cardona 

announced in an interview in the New York Times that Defendant US DOE will “use its 

broad powers — including taking possible legal action — to deter states from barring 

universal masking in classrooms.”15 

112. Defendant Secretary Cardona stated he would deploy the Defendant US DOE’s Office of 

Civil Rights (“OCR”) to investigate states that block school mask mandates. Letters from 

Defendant Secretary Cardona were sent to eight states, Arizona, Florida, Iowa, Oklahoma, 

South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, and Utah, admonishing the governor’s efforts to ban 

school mask mandates and threatening legal action.16 

113. AUGUST 24, 2021: Defendant Hochul is sworn into office and succeeds Governor Cuomo as 

New York’s Governor.   

114. Displeased with the limitations of the then-current mask mandate, the shell game began: 

Defendant Hochul was determined to make the then-current mask mandate more restrictive 

– as revised 8 NYCRR 66-3.1 contained numerous exceptions to, including students at 

school, is set to expire August 26, 2021.  

115. Within the first fifteen hours of her ascension to the Governor’s office, Defendant Hochul  

fulfilled her prior prophecy, now-Governor Hochul tweeted from her verified account: 

@GovKathyHochul: “Getting children back to school safely is one of my highest 
priorities. To that end, I am immediately directing the Department of Health to 

 
15 https://www.nytimes.com/2021/08/18/us/politics/biden-masks-schools-civil-rights.html 
16 Id. 
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institute universal masking for anyone entering our schools.”17 (August 24, 2021, 
at 3:51 PM). 

116. On the same day, Defendant Hochul also announced that she would be utilizing federal funds 

to implement her mask mandate and that funds would be used to provide surgical masks to 

students.  

117. Not only did Defendant Hochul use (and likely continues to use) federal funds to implement 

an unlawful and illegal mandate, but she advocates for the use of non-surgical cloth masks, 

which is not explicitly mentioned in her mandate.  

118. The unlawful mandate requires “masks” or “face coverings” but fails to specify which face 

coverings are effective and which were not--or put another way, the mandate fails to provide 

the public with the information necessary to adhere to the mandate (i.e., surgical masks, N95 

respirator, bandanas, face masks, toilet paper, etc.) and to avoid incurring the penalties set 

forth. See Part VIII.  

119. AUGUST 26, 2021: Upon information and belief, Defendant PHPC assembles for a meeting. 

According to the publicly released minutes, the meeting was convened and adjourned 

without notable results. 

120. Also important to note, 8 NYCRR 66-3.1: Face Coverings is set to expire at the stroke of 

midnight. As noted above, 66-3.1 bases its authority in Executive Order 202.  

121. AUGUST 27, 2021: The repeal of 8 NYCRR 66-3.1 et seq. is effective, and 10 NYCRR 2.60 

is amended to require mandatory masking. 

122. On the same day, August 27, 2021, Defendant Commissioner Zucker issued his 

determination as follows: 

 
17 https://twitter.com/GovKathyHochul/status/1430256476895993863?s=09 
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“Pursuant to 10 NYCRR 2.61, I hereby issue the following determination, which 
includes findings of necessity, to support the face masking/covering requirements 
set forth below: 
Findings of necessity: 

. . . .  
Certain settings and areas (e.g., healthcare, schools, and public places located in 
CDC-identified areas of substantial or high community transmission) pose 
increased challenges and urgency for controlling the spread of this disease because 
of the vulnerable populations served, the disproportionate percentage of individuals 
(e.g., children) who are not yet eligible for the COVID-19 vaccination, and/or the 
substantial to high levels of community transmission. 
The above findings demonstrate the necessity for the implementation of layered 
prevention strategies, which includes face coverings/masks. COVID-19 spreads 
through respiratory droplets, and several studies have shown that appropriate face 
coverings/masks reduce the spray of droplets when worn correctly, fully covering 
one’s nose and mouth . . .  

Face Covering/Masking Requirements18 

P-12 school settings: After careful review and consideration of C.D.C. 
recommendations for face coverings/masks in school settings, I hereby adopt such 
recommendations, imposing them as requirements, where applicable, until this 
determination is modified or rescinded.19 
Accordingly, universal masking of teachers, staff, students, and visitors to P-12 
schools over age two and able to medically tolerate a face-covering/mask, 
regardless of vaccination status, is required until this determination is modified or 
rescinded. Such requirement is subject to applicable CDC-recommended 
exceptions. 
Updates to the above referenced C.D.C. recommendations will not necessarily 
require the issuance of a revised or modified determination. However, such C.D.C. 
recommendations will be continuously monitored by the Department, and updated 
determinations issued, as appropriate.” 

 
123. In response to criticism of the statewide school mandate, Defendant Governor Hochul 

responded, "We'll take bold, dramatic action to protect individuals in the state, but 

 
18 Defendant Commissioner Zucker included the following footnote #1: “Nothing in this determination shall be 
interpreted as inconsistent with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), workplace safety guidelines, or applicable 
federal regulations.” 
19 Defendant Commissioner Zucker included the following footnote #2: “Guidance from American Academy of 
Pediatrics was also reviewed when making a face-covering/masking determinations in school settings, which is 
consistent with the above referenced CDC recommendations.” https://www.aap.org/en/pages/2019-novel-
coronavirus-COVID-19-infections/clinical-guidance/cloth-face-coverings/ 



- 28 - 
 

particularly our children as we start schools. Kids are resilient. They can handle a mask on 

their face.  We'll do it now, and we'll assess because there'll be parts of our state where the 

numbers drop, you get the vaccination nods, and we get the vaccine out to children.”20 

(emphasis added) 

124. SEPTEMBER 1, 2021: The NYS Legislature returned to Albany for an emergency session to 

address specific COVID-19 matters.21  However, to date, the NYS Legislature did not 

convey additional emergency powers to Defendants Governor Hochul, NYS DOH, or NYS 

DOE, and the NYS Legislature did not pass any law requiring children to wear masks in 

schools. 

125. SEPTEMBER 2, 2021: Defendant NYS DOH issued “Interim NYS DOH Guidance for 

Classroom Instruction in P-12 Schools During the 2021-2022 Academic Year.”22 The 

guidance stated: 

“Please note that the following guidance applies to P-12 elementary and secondary, 
public, charter, private, and state-operated schools, including residential schools 
and programs serving students with disabilities, as regulated by the NYS Education 
Department.”23 

126. With regards to its school mask mandate, the guidance stated, “People with medical or 

developmental conditions that prevent them from wearing a mask may be exempted from 

mask requirements, as documented by a medical provider.”24 (emphasis added) 

127. SEPTEMBER 8, 2021: Parent “Jane Doe,” on behalf of her 11-year old child, filed a motion 

for emergency relief in the Eastern District Federal Court against the Franklin Square Union 

 
20 Id. 
21 https://www.nysenate.gov/calendar/sessions/september-01-2021/extraordinary-session-912021  
22 https://coronavirus.health.ny.gov/system/files/documents/2021/09/school-guidance.pdf  
23 Id. 
24 Id. 
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Free School District and New York Health Commissioner Howard Zucker. The lawsuit 

claimed "Sarah Doe" suffers from asthma and other serious underlying conditions.  

128. Sarah’s pediatrician determined it is unsafe for Sarah to wear a mask all day and wrote her 

a medical exemption. On September 2, the School District rejected it.25  According to the 

complaint, Jane received a call from Jared T. Bloom, the Superintendent of the School 

District (“Superintendent Bloom”), who stated that the district had a policy not to give any 

child a mask exemption. Jane called Defendant NYS DOH and the Nassau County local 

health department, and both confirmed that they do not have a policy of reviewing or denying 

mask exemption requests.26 

129. As an administrative agency, Defendant NYS DOH does not have the authority to write its 

own legislation on a clean slate, creating its own comprehensive set of rules without the 

benefit of legislative guidance.  See Matter of Vapor Tech. Assn. v. Cuomo, 66 Misc 3d 800, 

807 [Sup. Ct., Albany County 2020].27 

130. Subsequently, Defendant NYC DOE issued its policy28 for the 2021-2022 school year: 

“All students and staff must wear a face covering when riding on school buses and 
anywhere on school property, indoors and outdoors, regardless of vaccination 
status, unless they have a medical exemption. Students who are not medically able 
to tolerate masks will be provided with alternative accommodations.”29 

131. However, there are no clear guidelines to describe what a “medical exemption” means or the 

process for which parents can secure a “medical exemption” for their child, or what 

 
25 https://www.newsday.com/long-island/education/school-mask-mandate-lawsuit-franklin-square-1.50355384  
26 https://childrenshealthdefense.org/wp-content/uploads/Dkt-1-2021-9-7-Complaint.pdf  
27 No provision of PHL §§ 201, 206, and/or 225 provides statutory authority for the school mask mandate contained 
in 10 NYCRR § 2.60 and/or in the Commissioner’s Guidance. 
28 https://www.silive.com/coronavirus/2021/08/nyc-releases-guidelines-for-2021-2022-school-year-10-things-you-
need-to-know.html  
29 https://www.schools.nyc.gov/school-life/health-and-wellness/covid-information/health-and-safety-in-our-schools  
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constitutes “medically able to tolerate masks.”  There is also no explanation of what 

“alternative accommodations” will be provided.31  

132. For those students who do not receive a “medical exemption” but are unable to “respond to 

a positive intervention plan” to wear a mask throughout the entire school day, they will be 

“transitioned to remote learning,” i.e., kicked out of in-person learning.32 

133. SEPTEMBER 12, 2021: Governor Hochul delivered a sermon at Abyssinian Baptist Church 

in Harlem, where she made her first appearance as the Prophet – of all things COVID. She 

told the congregation to be her “apostles” and spread the “good word” about masks and 

vaccines. Defendant Hochul’s sermon is further explored below in Part II. 

134. SEPTEMBER 15, 2021: Upon information and belief, Defendants DOH and PHPC convened 

a meeting to discuss the then-expired 8 NYCRR 66-3.1: Face Coverings provision. 

Following the meeting 10 NYCRR 2.60: Face Coverings for COVID-19 Prevention was 

newly minted.  

135. Upon information and belief, Defendants rescinded 8 NYCRR 66-3.1 et seq., but 

retroactively dated its repeal to August 27, 2021.  

136. Plaintiffs make these allegations upon information and belief, and a review of the history of 

the regulations on Westlaw and otherwise, as there are no notices, agendas, minutes, or 

evidence of the meeting, except as Plaintiff claims herein.  

137. Defendants’ failure to post the documents mentioned above on the State’s website for the 

public to view violated state rules and regulations and further illustrates Defendants’ 

deceitful acts and attempts to conceal their illicit behavior. 

 
31 https://www.schools.nyc.gov/about-us/messages-for-families  
32 Id. 
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138. The result was precarious: following the meeting, 10 NYCRR 2.60: Face Coverings for 

COVID-19 Prevention was amended to include a mandatory mask provision, with virtually 

no exceptions. Students in all elementary and secondary schools would now be required to 

wear masks in the classrooms, the hallways, on buses, and elsewhere.   

139. Although 10 NYCRR 2.60 was amended at a meeting held on September 15, 2021 (the same 

meeting at which 8 NYCRR 66-3.1, et seq. was repealed), it became effective retroactively 

on August 27, 2021 – not coincidentally, the minute following the expiry of the 66-3.1: Face 

Masks amendment on August 26, 2021.  

140. Defendants’ were committed to their cause and would not let the rules, the law, or science 

stand in their way. 

141. Defendant Hochul did not have the legislative support to get mask mandate through the 

legislature, and she lacked the lawful authority to create, amend, or alter an existing 

regulation or rule. 

142. Even if Defendant Hochul could enact a new regulation creating a more restrictive mask 

mandate, there was a problem. Enacting a new mask mandate would result in two statutory 

mask mandates – 10 NYCRR 2.60 and 8 NYCRR 66-3.1), with the same subject matter 

requiring entirely different mandates in effect on the same day. Accordingly, Defendants 

“did the best they could” and implemented the new amendment on the back of the dying one 

in an attempt to breathe new life into the provision set to expire at midnight, August 26, 

2021. 

143. It is clear that to further Governor Hochul’s mask mandate, Defendants created the 

perception that Executive Order 202 was in effect beyond June 25, 2021 – the day Executive 

Order 202 was rescinded by Governor Cuomo under Executive Order 210.  
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144. Accordingly, Defendants made excruciating efforts, including unlawful amendments, secret 

meetings, and otherwise, to implement the political (and religious) agenda of Defendant 

Governor Hochul relating to the mask mandate.  

128. SEPTEMBER 21, 2021: US DOE OCR launched an investigation into Texas’s ban on schools' 

mask mandates.  This comes three weeks after Defendant US DOE OCR opened 

investigations into Iowa, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee, and Utah.33 

129. SEPTEMBER 23, 2021: The U.S. Department of Education34 awarded its first Project to 

Support America’s Families and Educators (Project SAFE) grant in the amount of $147,719 

to a Florida school district after the state withheld funding because the district imposed a 

mask mandate, part of a broader effort by the federal government to fight state-level bans on 

school mask orders. Project SAFE was announced in early September to provide federal 

funds to schools that have had funding withheld or been financially penalized for imposing 

Covid-19 mitigation measures like mask mandates.35 

130. SEPTEMBER 30, 2021: Defendant Secretary Cardona refused to acknowledge that parents 

should be the “primary” stakeholders in their children’s education during the Senate 

Committee on Health, Education, Labor, and Pensions hearing.36 

II. DEFENDANT HOCHUL’S VIOLATIONS OF THE ESTABLISHMENT CLAUSE 

145. Clearly, the underhanded implementation of the state-wide mask mandate was not enough 

for Defendant Hochul. To enforce the mandate and gain public favor, Defendant Hochul 

 
33 https://www.dallasnews.com/news/education/2021/09/21/federal-government-opens-investigation-into-texas-
mask-mandate-ban-in-schools/ 
34 https://www.ed.gov/news/press-releases/us-department-education-awards-project-safe-funds-florida-school-
district-following-state-imposed-penalty-implementing-covid-19-safety-measures  
35 https://www.forbes.com/sites/alisondurkee/2021/09/23/biden-administration-doles-out-money-to-florida-schools-
penalized-for-imposing-mask-mandates-against-state-rules/?sh=5d7f724a5466 
36 https://www.dailywire.com/news/biden-education-secretary-dodges-when-asked-if-parents-should-be-primary-
stakeholder-of-childs-education 
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delivered a sermon at Abyssinian Baptist Church in Harlem, New York, on September 12, 

2021, where she preached: 

“Throughout the whole experience of the pandemic, a lot of people prayed to God. 
. . He inspired the smartest scientists and doctors, and researchers to create a 
vaccine. God gave us that through men and women so we could be delivered from 
this pandemic. . . And all of you have to be not be just true believers, but our 
apostles to go out there and spread the word that we can get this out once and for 
all if everyone gets vaccinated.” (emphasis added).37 

 
146. In addition to abusing the authority of her position to solicit and recruit her “apostles” to 

further her cause and religious-like ideology, Defendant Hochul obfuscates the fine line that 

separates Church and State.  

147. Defendant Hochul has launched an all-out holy war, of sorts, against COVID-19 and those 

who choose not to get vaccinated or wear a mask at all times in all places.  

148. Defendant Hochul has used the power of the Governor’s Office and the Executive Branch 

to create and impose an unduly burdensome and overly restrictive mask mandate on virtually 

everyone in the State of New York, without any recognized exception.  

149. In order to enforce her mask and vaccine mandates, Defendant Hochul has taken to Churches 

and other houses of worship throughout the state, where, from the height of each pulpit, she 

enlists the help and assistance of the congregations’ members, as her Apostles, to impose 

and enforce her mandates on those who have not yet complied.  

150. Astonishingly, Governor Hochul again preaches from the pulpit, but this time at the 

Christian Cultural Center in Brooklyn, New York, on September 26, 2021. 

151. She preaches, in pertinent part: 

“We are not through the pandemic. I wished we were but I prayed a lot to God 
during this time and you know what—God did answer our prayers. He made the 
smartest men and women, the scientists, the doctors, the researchers—he made 

 
37 https://www.governor.ny.gov/news/video-audio-photos-rush-transcript-governor-hochul-attends-services-
abyssinian-baptist-church. 
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them come up with a vaccine. That is from God to us and we must say thank you, 
God. Thank you. And I wear my ‘vaccinated’ necklace all the time to say I’m 
vaccinated. All of you, yes, I know you’re vaccinated, you’re the smart ones, but 
you know there’s people out there who aren’t listening to God and what God wants. 
You know who they are. 
 
I need you to be my apostles. I need you to go out and talk about it and say, we owe 
this to each other . . .”38 (emphasis added). 

 
152. This is a clear violation of the Establishment Clause of the Constitution, which provides that 

there must be a separation between Church and State, as further discussed below, and 

violates the Supreme Court’s holding in Lynch v. Donnelly (1984).39 

153. In Justice O’Connor’s opinion, she opens with the following: 

“The Establishment Clause prohibits the government from making adherence to a 
religion relevant in any way to a person’s standing in the political community. 
Government can run afoul of that prohibition in two principal ways. One is 
excessive entanglement with religious institutions, which may interfere with the 
independence of the institutions, give the institutions access to the government or 
governmental powers not fully shared by non-adherents of the religion, and foster 
the creation of political constituencies defined along religious lines. [citation 
omitted]. The second and more direct infringement is government endorsement or 
disapproval of a religion. Endorsement sends a message to non-adherents that they 
are outsiders, not full members of the political community, and in an accompanying 
message to adherents that they are insiders, favored members of the political 
community.”40 Lynch, 465 U.S. 668 (1984) (emphasis added). 

 
154. In utilizing her official position of Governor to essentially “preach” to those she deems her 

“apostles,” Defendant Hochul has violated the Establishment Clause. By framing the relief 

efforts of the COVID-19 pandemic as an “act of God” and urging congregation members to 

be her “apostles” to further her bidding, Defendant Hochul essentially “entangles” the two, 

endorsing the message that those congregation members willing to follow her principles are 

 
38  https://www.governor.ny.gov/news/rush-transcript-governor-hochul-attends-service-christian-cultural-center 
39 Lynch v. Donnelly, 465 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 1355, 79 L. Ed. 2d 604 (1984). 
40 Id.., citing Larkin v. Grendel's Den, Inc., 459 U.S. 116, 103 S. Ct. 505, 74 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1982) and Sch. Dist. of 
Abington Twp., Pa. v. Schempp, 374 U.S. 203, 83 S. Ct. 1560, 10 L. Ed. 2d 844 (1963). 
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the adherents and “insiders,” while those who remain skeptical of the contradictory guidance 

set forth (further described herein) by Dr. Fauci remain as “outsiders.” 

155. Even more disconcerting, Defendant Governor Hochul essentially calls upon her “apostles” 

to seek out and confront those not sharing in the same view, which borderlines incitement 

of possible violence, as well as a clear violation C.F.R. §2635.702 (Use of public office for 

private gain). 

156. As set forth by C.F.R. §2635.702(c): “[a]n employee shall not use or permit the use of [her] 

Government position or title or any authority associated with his public office to endorse 

any product, service or enterprise except: 

(1)  In furtherance of statutory authority to promote products, services, or 
enterprises; or 

(2)  As a result of documentation of compliance with agency requirements or 
standards…” 

 
157. Plaintiffs assert that Defendant Governor Hochul lacked the authority to utilize her public 

office in this way or, alternatively, lacked the authority to endorse the above messages in a 

non-secular venue. Plaintiffs also allege that utilizing a public office in this way is an abuse 

of power that offends the Constitution and the very spirit of this nation. 

158. This abuse of authority is unlawful under the color of the Constitution, federal law, state law, 

and the previous holdings of the Supreme Court, including Marsh v. Chambers.41 

 
41 Marsh v. Chambers, 463 U.S. 783, 103 S. Ct. 3330, 77 L. Ed. 2d 1019 (1983) (promoting a particular religious 
expression). 
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III. THE MASK MANDATE EXCEEDS THE EXECUTIVE POWERS OF THE GOVERNOR AND THE 
EXECUTIVE AGENCIES SHE OVERSEES, INCLUDING THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH (DOH) 

AND THE N.Y.S. PUBLIC HEALTH AND PLANNING COUNCIL (PHPC) 

159. As set forth above, on June 23, 2021, the eve of the expiry of the NYS COVID-19 Disaster 

Declaration, Defendant NYS DOH, through Defendant NYS PHPC42, amended its 

emergency regulations dealing with mask mandates as noted in 10 NYCRR § 66-3.1 (a). 

160. In accordance with N.Y.S. Public Health Law §201(1)(s), the N.Y.S. Department of Health 

(“DOH”) “administer[s] to the medical and health needs of the ambulant sick and needy 

Indians on reservations”, in addition to “supervising the work and activities of the local 

boards of health and health officers throughout the state, unless otherwise provided by law.” 

N.Y.S. Public Health Law §201(a). 

161. Accordingly, the DOH is an executive agency of the State of New York and is under the 

management and control of the executive branch, managed by Governor Hochul. 

162. The NYS PHPC is governed by N.Y.S. Public Health Law, Chapter 45, Article 2, Title 2, 

and is an executive agency of the State of New York, under the management and control of 

the executive branch, headed by Governor Hochul. 

163. Accordingly, §224-b of the N.Y.S. Public Health Law sets forth the duties of the PHPC as 

follows: 

“The public health and planning council shall have such powers and duties as are 
set forth in this chapter, including the consideration of applications for the 
establishment and construction of health care facilities, home care agencies and 
hospices licensed under articles twenty-eight, thirty-six or forty of this chapter. In 
carrying out its powers and duties, the council shall take into account the impact of 
its actions and recommendations on the quality, accessibility, efficiency and cost-
effectiveness of health care throughout the state. The council shall undertake a 
comprehensive review of regulations and council procedures governing the 
establishment and construction of such health care facilities, home care agencies 

 
42 These regulations were challenged in an Article 78 petition filed on June 29, 2021, in New York State Supreme 
Court, see Blenker et al. v. State of New York et al., Index No. 905504-21, and NYS DOH responded by claiming the 
updated regulations were “under review.” 
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and hospices and shall submit to the commissioner any recommendations for the 
revisions of such regulations.” (emphasis added). 

 
164. N.Y.S. Public Health Law §224-b makes no reference to legislative abilities or actions the 

PHPC may take. 

165. More importantly, as set forth by the Public Health Law: “The public health and health 

planning council shall have no executive, administrative or appointive duties except as 

otherwise provided by law.” N.Y.S. Public Health Law §225(3) (emphasis added). 

166. However, the PHPC does have the ability by the “affirmative vote of the majority of its 

members to establish, and from time to time, amend and repeal sanitary regulations, to be 

known as the sanitary code of the state of New York, subject to approval by the 

commissioner.” N.Y.S. Public Health Law §225(4) (emphasis added). 

167. The New York State Health Commissioner, Dr. Howard Zucker (“Commissioner Zucker”) 

has held this position since being appointed in 2015. 

168. Following Governor’s Hochul’s announcement that federal funding would be utilized for 

COVID-19 testing and masks in schools, but before the executive passing of the mask 

mandate, Commissioner Zucker released the following foreshadowing statement: 

“Based on incidence and prevalence, our findings demonstrate the necessity of 
layered prevention strategies, including this mask requirement. While a simple 
measure of prevention, requiring masks now is crucial for protecting the health of 
our children and ensuring we can get our students back in their schools this fall.” 43 
(emphasis added). 

 
169. Coincidentally, this announcement by Commissioner Zucker was three days before the NYS 

PHPC voted to implement the mask mandate. 

 
43 Id. 
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170. In enacting 10 NYCRR § 2.60, Defendant NYS DOH has unlawfully given one person, 

Defendant Commissioner Zucker, a member of its own administrative agency, the sole 

authority and power to dictate a mask mandate to millions of children, school staff, family 

members, and others who visit a P-12 school—an authority that it simply does not have.  

Thereafter, Defendant Commissioner Zucker delegates the details to the ever-vacillating Dr. 

Fauci.44 

171. However, this is not the only state official seizing the opportunity to expand on the breadth 

of authority within their position. Secretary Cardona, when defending his stance on the mask 

mandate, refused to acknowledge that parents should be the “primary” stakeholders in their 

children’s education during the September 30, 2021 hearing before the Senate Committee 

on Health, Education, Labor, and Pensions, despite the numerous case law, statutes, and 

regulations that set forth the rights of parents as stakeholders in their child’s education.45 

172. When asked about parents expressing anger and frustration at local school board meetings 

over mask mandates and the Critical Race Theory curriculum, Cardona attributed these 

expressions as “…a proxy for being mad that their guy didn’t win.”46 

173. Once again, the state officials of New York attempt to frame the COVID-19 pandemic as a 

political issue, as opposed to a health issue involving one’s autonomy, further sundering the 

public and chilling the speech of those “non-adherents” skeptical of the contradictory 

guidance. 

 
44 Defendant NYS DOH cites Public Health Law (“PHL”) § 206 as the legal basis for delegation of its power to 
Defendant Commissioner Zucker; however, the statute does not authorize Defendant NYS DOH to convey its power 
to a single member of its agency. Additionally, relying on § 206 also contradicts the Constitutional separation of 
powers doctrine since the NYS Legislature has not passed any law providing such all-encompassing authority. 
45 https://www.theepochtimes.com/education-secretary-miguel-cardona-wont-say-parents-are-primary-stakeholders-
in-childrens-education_4027466.html 
46 https://www.help.senate.gov/hearings/school-reopening-during-covid-19-supporting-students-educators-and-
families. 
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174. Additionally, New York State Commissioner of Education Dr. Betty A. Rosa released the 

following statement: 

“With the increase in COVID variant cases around the state, Governor Hochul’s 
action, taken after consultation with educators, demonstrates her commitment to 
the health and wellbeing of our students and the importance of keeping our schools 
open. The State Education Department supports a consistent application of masking 
requirements in schools, easing the return to school with a common line of defense 
against the spread of the COVID variant.”47 (emphasis added). 

 
175. Indeed, Commissioner Rosa’s public statement confirms that the decision for the mask 

mandate was not rooted in “science” as originally claimed, but in the preference of 

unspecified “educators” who lack the knowledge and expertise to recommend such 

restrictive measures, despite public claims. 

A. THE DOH AND PHPC ARE EXECUTIVE AGENCIES AND LACKED LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 
TO AMEND STATE LAW 

176. Upon information and belief, on June 23, 2021, upon the expiry of Governor Cuomo’s 

Executive Order pertaining to the COVID-19 Emergency, the DOH, and PHPC, at the behest 

of Governor Hochul, amended 10 NYCRR 66, entitled Immunizations and Communicable 

Diseases: Emergency Regulations to implement §66-3.2, which mandates “face coverings.” 

177. However, §66-3.1 sets forth: “The provision of this Subpart shall apply for the duration of 

any state disaster emergency declared pursuant to sections 28 and 29-a of the Executive Law 

related to the outbreak of COVID-19 in New York State.” 

178. Not only have the DOH and PHPC usurped the power of the N.Y.S. Legislature, both 

executive agencies enacted a law based on sections of the N.Y.S. Executive Law that relate 

to the Governor’s Emergency Executive Powers (sections 28 and 29-a), which were 

 
47 Id. 



- 40 - 
 

previously stripped from the Governor by the N.Y.S. Legislature through the passing of 

Legislature Bill No. S05357 on March 2, 2021. 

179. Additionally, even if the DOH and PHPC embodied legislative abilities, both agencies failed 

to follow the procedure set forth by law to amend and enact the purported legislation through 

an Open Meeting. 

180. The proposed amendment to 10 NYCRR 66-3.1 et seq. was not advertised as required by the 

Open Meetings law, nor was an agenda/minutes generated or made available to the public 

before its amendment, nor were minutes or a final agenda posted after the meeting. 

181. On August 24, 2021, Governor Hochul issued Executive Order No. 1, continuing the 

previous Executive Orders to remain in effect.48 Governor Hochul did not and has not issued 

an Executive Order declaring a State Disaster Emergency related to COVID-19, which had 

previously expired on June 25, 2021. 

182. As set forth above, on August 26, 2021, Defendant NYS DOH, through NYS PHPC, held 

an emergency meeting49 to discuss the NYS PHPC’s Codes, Regulation, and Legislation 

Committee to approve of a Notice of Emergency Adoption50 and recommend it to the NYS 

PHPC Full Council Committee which held its meeting immediately following to approve 

and adopt the Notice of Emergency Adoption.51 

183. On the same day, Defendant NYS DOH through NYS PHPC filed a Notice of Emergency 

Adoption with the New York Secretary of State regarding “Prevention of COVID-19 

 
48  https://www.governor.ny.gov/news/no-1-review-continuation-and-expiration-prior-executive-orders 
49 https://www.health.ny.gov/facilities/public_health_and_health_planning_council/meetings/2021-08-26/   
50 https://www.health.ny.gov/facilities/public_health_and_health_planning_council/meetings/2021-08-
26/docs/codes_committee_agenda.pdf 
51 https://www.health.ny.gov/facilities/public_health_and_health_planning_council/meetings/2021-08-
26/docs/full_council_agenda.pdf 
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Transmission.”52A true and accurate copy of said Notice of Adoption is annexed hereto as 

EXHIBIT 4. 

184. Even though there is no record of a NYS PHPC meeting on August 27, 2021 discussing the 

proposed amendment to the regulations mentioned above, Defendant NYS DOH’s 

documents state that on August 27, 2021, Defendant NYS DOH, through NYS PHPC, filed 

a Notice of Emergency Adoption with the New York State Secretary of State to repeal 10 

NYCRR § 66-3 and § 2.60 and replace them with a new 10 NYCRR § 2.60.53  A true and 

accurate copy of said Notice of Emergency Adoption is annexed hereto as EXHIBIT 5. 

185. There is no record of NYS PHPC even considering this Notice of Emergency Adoption. 

186. Though the Notice was drafted and filed as a result of the September 15, 2021 meeting, the 

repeal of 10 NYCRR 66-3.1 et seq. and the revised 2.60 provision were backdated to be 

effective August 27, 2021. The reasoning for this is clear: backdating the effective dates of 

the regulations gives the appearance that they were a product of the meeting conducted on 

August 26, 2021, and were made effective the next day.  

187. This not only attempts to conceal the deceptive conduct but allowed Defendants to 

essentially “reach back” and root the regulation in the last hours of the ninety (90) day 

implementation of Executive Order 210, which rescinded all previous emergency Executive 

Orders, including 202 and 205, to bestow power upon the DOH Commissioner, Defendant 

Zucker, to enact the mandatory mask mandate in schools single-handedly, and impose 

punishment and penalties upon the non-adherents. 

 
52 https://regs.health.ny.gov/sites/default/files/pdf/emergency_regulations/Prevention%20of%20COVID-
19%20Transmission%20by%20Covered%20Entities.pdf 
53]https://regs.health.ny.gov/sites/default/files/pdf/emergency_regulations/Face%20Coverings%20for%20COVID%2
019%20Prevention.pdf 



- 42 - 
 

188. Enacting the amendment to 10 NYCRR 2.60 underscores Defendants’ intention to continue 

their conduct indefinitely. For instance, the amended 10 NYCRR § 2.60 (a) reads: 

“As determined by the Commissioner based on COVID-19 incidence and 
prevalence, as well as any other public health and/or clinical risk factors related to 
COVID-19 disease spread, any person who is over age two and able to medically 
tolerate a face-covering may be required to cover their nose and mouth with a mask 
or face-covering when: (1) in a public place and unable to maintain, or when not 
maintaining, social distance; or (2) in certain settings as determined by the 
Commissioner, which may include schools, public transit, homeless shelters, 
correctional facilities, nursing homes, and health care settings, and which may 
distinguish between individuals who are vaccinated against COVID-19 and those 
that are not vaccinated. The Commissioner shall issue findings regarding the 
necessity of face-covering requirements at the time such requirements are 
announced.”54 (emphasis added) 

 
189. With 8 NYCRR 66-3.1 et seq. repealed, the new 10 NYCRR 2.60 empowers Defendant 

Commissioner Zucker to implement regulations with consequential monetary penalties for 

failing to adhere to same ($1,000 per violation), in a nature patently inconsistent with the 

intentions of N.Y.S. Legislature to push forward Defendant Governor Hochul’s political 

agenda for her 2022 campaign and/or her religious agendas. 

190. Once again, the regulation was ambiguous on its face as to what kind of mask would enable 

members of the public to achieve compliance with the regulations. For instance, 10 NYCRR 

§ 2.60 (e) stated: 

“For purposes of this section, face-coverings shall include, but are not limited to, 
cloth masks, surgical masks, and N-95 respirators that are worn to completely cover 
a person’s nose and mouth.”55 

 

191. New York State’s rulemaking procedures, including provisions for notice, comments, public 

participation, and transparency, are outlined by the State Administrative Procedure Act §§ 

201-207. 

 
54 Id. 
55 Id. 
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192. State Administrative Act § 202(6) outlines the specific and strict procedures for emergency 

adoption of regulations on an expedited basis to prevent the abuse of the process. 

193. Specifically, Defendant NYS DOH through NYS PHPC attempted to use State 

Administrative Act § 202(6)(a) to enact the updated mask mandates (10 NYCRR § 2.60) as 

an emergency, which states: 

“[i]f an agency finds that the immediate adoption of a rule is necessary for 
preservation of the public health, safety or general welfare and that compliance with 
the [non-emergency rulemaking] requirements of subdivision one of this section 
would be contrary to the public interest, the agency may dispense with all or part 
of such requirements and adopt the rule on an emergency basis.” 

 
194. The August 26, 2021, Notice of Emergency Adoption filed by Defendant NYS DOH failed 

to contain the findings required by State Administrative Act § 202(6)(a) since it did not 

include any explicit statements regarding the factors outlined in the regulation nor any 

statements with specificity. The only sentence included in the Emergency Justification 

section of the notice states, “Accordingly, pursuant to the State Administrative Procedure 

Act Section 202(6), a delay in the issuance of these emergency regulations would be contrary 

to public interest.”  The August 27, 2021, Notice of Emergency Adoption contained the same 

flaws. 

195. Defendant NYS DOH failed to comply with State Administrative Act § 202(6)(d), 

specifically, § 202(6)(d)(iv), which requires more than conclusory findings and not the 

boilerplate and inaccurate statements regarding the current situation in New York State.56 It 

specifically requires “[a] statement fully describing the specific reasons for such findings 

 
56 An example of the inaccurate statement in the Emergency Justification states that “New York State first identified 
cases on March 1, 2020, and has since become the national epicenter of the outbreak,” which is outdated by more 
than a year. 
 



- 44 - 
 

and the facts and circumstances on which such findings are based,” including, “at a 

minimum: 

a description of the nature and, if applicable, location of the public health, safety or 
general welfare need requiring adoption of the rule on an emergency basis; a 
description of the cause, consequences, and expected duration of such need; an 
explanation of why compliance with the requirements of subdivision one of this 
section would be contrary to the public interest; and an explanation of why the 
current circumstance necessitates that the public and interested parties be given less 
than the minimum period for notice and comment provided for in subdivision one 
of this section.” 

 
196. The Emergency Justification relies on the NYS COVID-19 Disaster Declaration that expired 

on June 24, 2021.  Assuming arguendo that the Disaster Declaration did not expire, the 

N.Y.S. Legislature’s revocation of the governor’s sweeping executive powers in March 2021 

would not have permitted this new regulation, as Governor Cuomo and Governor Hochul 

previously publicly acknowledged. 

197. Defendants NYS DOH and NYS DOE were already found to have established arbitrary and 

capricious rules regarding COVID-19 and school mandates.  In Hensley v Williamsville 

Cent. Sch. Dist. 2021 N.Y. Slip Op 21153 Decided on May 20, 2021, Supreme Court, Erie 

County, Judge Emilio Colaiacovo recognized Courts around the country were dealing with 

similar legal challenges when States were adopting “rigid and inflexible standards that are 

used to measure whether children should attend school full-time.” Judge Colaiacovo cited 

California Superior Judge Cynthia A. Freeland, who acknowledged the “State agencies … 

compelling interest in preventing the spread of COVID-19”, however, the Court found “the 

framework permitting a return to in-person instruction provided was ‘selective in its 

applicability, vague in its terms and arbitrary in its prescription’.” A.A. et al. v. Gavin 

Newsom, (Superior Court, County of San Diego, Case No. 37-2021-00007536), p. 9.  Judge 

Colaiacovo further highlighted, “Judge Freeland concluded that the State failed to submit 
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specific, admissible evidence in support of its contention that elementary school students are 

not similarly situated with middle and high school students. Further, she found that the State 

failed to offer any admissible evidence to justify that disparate treatment of elementary 

schools and secondary schools serves the purpose of slowing the spread of COVID-19.” 

Judge Colaiacovo determined Defendants NYS DOH and NYS DOE’s insistence to defend 

regulations dealing with social distancing between elementary and secondary school 

students had “no rational basis.” Thus, Judge Colaiacovo invalidated such regulations.57 

198. By enacting 10 NYCRR § 2.60 and bypassing legislative oversight, Defendant NYS DOH 

has unlawfully given one person, Defendant Commissioner Zucker, who is part of its own 

administrative agency, the sole authority and power to dictate a mask mandate to millions of 

children, school staff, family members and others who visit a P-12 school.  Thereafter, 

Defendant Commissioner Zucker delegates the details to an unaccountable CDC.58 

199. The repercussions of this unchecked power are endless. For example, on August 17, 2021, 

the Locust Valley School Board in Long Island, New York, voted to allow parents to decide 

whether their child would wear a mask to school.  On August 31, 2021, the Locust Valley 

School Board voted to reaffirm the mask-optional policy.59 60However, immediately after 

the local school board’s decision, Defendant Commissioner Rosa sent a threatening letter to 

Locust Valley School Board President Brian Nolan. 

 
57 https://law.justia.com/cases/new-york/other-courts/2021/2021-ny-slip-op-21153.html 
58 Defendant NYS DOH cites Public Health Law (“PHL”) § 206 as the legal basis for delegation of its power to 
Defendant Commissioner Zucker; however, the statute does not authorize Defendant NYS DOH to convey its power 
to a single member of its agency. Relying on § 206 also contradicts the Constitutional separation of powers doctrine 
since the NYS Legislature has not passed any law providing such all-encompassing authority. 
59 https://abc7ny.com/health/li-school-board-votes-in-favor-of-mandatory-mask-policy/10991188/ 
60 https://www.liherald.com/stories/locust-valley-board-of-education-vote-to-defy-mask-wearing-mandate,134393 
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200. On September 1, 2021, the Locust Valley School Board met again and read the letter from 

the New York State Education Commissioner, Defendant Commissioner Rosa. The letter 

said: 

“It is my expectation that the Board will set an example for its students by following 
the law. If not, however, you have been fairly warned of the potential consequences.  
School officers take an oath to obey all legal requirements, not just those which 
they deem expedient.  Absent the change in the board’s position . . . the Department 
of Health and the Nassau County Department of Health will not hesitate to enforce 
the provisions of the public health law . . . which includes the assessment of civil 
and criminal penalties.” A willful violation would result in Nolan’s removal from 
office and the withholding of state aid from the district.” (emphasis added). 

 
201. Locust Valley School Board Vice President Margaret Marchand asked the district’s attorney, 

Edward McCarthy, if there were any way to determine when the mask mandate would end.  

Mr. McCarthy stated the current mandate is in effect for 90 days but, “They offer no metric, 

no date, no science.  How will the Department of Health operate for the next 90 days, and 

what happens after that?”  The Locust Valley School Board reversed its position from the 

previous day and voted to abide by the mask mandate, with Ms. Marchand voting against 

the mask mandate.61 

202. The mandate, coupled with severe monetary penalties and threats to cut funding, are a clear 

abuse and overstep of the executive branch. 

203. The underlying theme of Boreali v. Axelrod62 could not ring truer: “an administrative agency 

exceeds its authority when it makes difficult choices between public policy ends, rather than 

find[ing] a means to an end chosen by Legislature.”63 

 
61  https://www.liherald.com/oysterbay/stories/lv-schools-will-abide-by-state-mandate,134479 
62 Boreali v. Axelrod, 71 N.Y.2d 1, 517 N.E.2d 1350 (1987). 
63 Id. See also, New York Statewide Coal. of Hisp. Chambers of Com. v. New York City Dep't of Health & Mental 
Hygiene, 23 N.Y.3d 681, 700, 16 N.E.3d 538 (2014). 
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204. It is also well-founded that “[a]gencies [such as the DOH and PHPC], as creatures of 

Legislature, act pursuant to specific grants of authority conferred by their creator.” 

Campagna v. Shaffer, 73 N.Y.2d 237, 242, 536 N.E.2d 368 (1989). 

205. “Thus, a legislature may enact a general statute that reflects its policy choice and grants 

authority to an executive agency to adopt and enforce regulations that expand upon the 

statutory text by filling in details consistent with that enabling legislation.” LeadingAge New 

York, Inc. v. Shah, 32 N.Y.3d 249, 260, 114 N.E.3d 1032 (2018) (emphasis added). 

206. However, “if an agency promulgates a rule beyond the power it was granted by the 

legislature, it usurps the legislative role and violates the doctrine of separation of powers.” 

Id. 

207. Although Defendants may argue they are within their right to promulgate such laws, in 

Matter of Levine v. Whalen, the Court of Appeals held that “[b]ecause of the constitutional 

provision that ‘[t]he legislature power of this State shall be vested in the Senate and the 

Assembly’ (N.Y. Const. art. III, § 1), the Legislature cannot pass on its law-making functions 

to other bodies . . . but there is no constitutional prohibition against the delegation of power, 

with reasonable safeguards and standards, to an agency or commission to administer the 

law as enacted by the Legislature.’” Id. (emphasis added). 

208. As Defendants DOH and PHPC are, by statutory definition, agencies within the executive 

branch, Defendants DOH and PHPC lack the authority, by express legislative prohibition, 

to enact said regulations. 

IV. NEW YORK CITY MASK MANDATE 

209. In February 2021, Defendants NYC DOE and NYC DOH published a study conducted 

during eight weeks between October 9, 2020, and December 18, 2020, measuring the 

prevalence of COVID-19 infection rates within the New York City public school system and 
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the community at large. The results demonstrated that in-person learning in school was not 

associated with an increase in COVID-19 transmission64, and in half of the period measured, 

the prevalence was lower in schools than in the community.  In other words, this study 

affirmed that schools were generally safer from COVID-19 for students and staff than being 

in the community, and that was before the availability of the COVID-19 vaccination.65 

210. From June through July 2021, after the CDC announced it was revising its COVID-19 

guidance stating that vaccinated students and teachers can attend school without a mask and 

Defendant NYS DOH removed the mask requirement in schools66, Defendant NYC DOE67 

and Defendant Mayor de Blasio stated that all New York City public schools would require 

a universal mask mandate for all students and staff in school, regardless of vaccination 

status.68 

211. In Restaurant Owners Association Rescue, et al. v. DeBlasio, et al., Judge Colon held that: 

“[T]his Court recognizes a State’s authority encompasses those limited and 
enumerated powers pertaining the government to protect the rights of the people—
which may include reasonable steps to protect their health and welfare. However, 
this Court knows of no common law power in New York State granting an individual 
acting in the capacity as the local Executive branch the “authority” to “protect the 
public in the event of an emergency.” Index No. 85155/2021, Decision and Order 
(dated September 10, 2021), p. 5. 
 

212. After exploring the many acts of authority that the Mayor possesses, Judge Colon notes that,  
“[t]he current pandemic status, despite its worldwide impact, does not seem to meet 
the first element necessary to declare a state of emergency under the quoted 
language of New York City’s code (“an act of violence or a flagrant and substantial 
defiance of or resistance of a lawful exercise of public authority . . .). Id. P. 6-7.  

 
64 The study showed transmission within schools was not common. 
https://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/147/5/e2021050605  
65 Id. 
66 https://www.politico.com/states/new-york/newsletters/weekly-new-york-education/2021/06/07/new-york-scraps-
school-masking-mandate-344698  
67 https://ny.chalkbeat.org/2021/6/4/22519516/school-mask-mandate-lifted-new-york-city  
68 https://nypost.com/2021/07/12/nyc-to-uphold-school-mask-requirement-despite-new-cdc-guidance/  



- 49 - 
 

213. On July 13, 2021, the current Brooklyn Borough President and Democratic-nominee for 

Mayor of New York City, Eric Adams,69 was asked, “Do you agree with de Blasio’s decision 

to keep a mask mandate for all students, even those above the age of 12?”  His response, 

“No, I do not. I believe what we must do is follow the science. If the CDC states 
that we don’t need masks and we don’t have to wear them, that’s fine. But let’s 
always give people the option. Because there’s a level of comfortability that we 
should look at. Like, I still wear my mask when I’m in certain locations because I 
believe it’s crowded and I feel comfortable in doing so. So, let’s not take away that 
comfortability.”70 (emphasis added) 

214. Subsequently, Defendant NYC DOE issued its policy71 for the 2021-2022 school year, “All 

students and staff must wear a face covering when riding on school buses and anywhere on 

school property, indoors and outdoors, regardless of vaccination status, unless they have a 

medical exemption. Students who are not medically able to tolerate masks will be provided 

with alternative accommodations.”72 

215. However, there are no clear guidelines to describe what a “medical exemption” means or the 

process for which parents can secure a “medical exemption” for their child, or what 

constitutes “medically able to tolerate masks.”  There is also no explanation of what 

“alternative accommodations” will be provided.73    

216. For those students who do not receive a “medical exemption” but are unable to “respond to 

a positive intervention plan” to wear a mask throughout the entire school day, they will be 

“transitioned to remote learning,” i.e., kicked out of in-person learning.74 

 
69 Mr. Adams is the likely next Mayor of New York City and would sworn into office in January 2022. See 
https://www.reuters.com/world/us/new-results-expected-new-york-citys-democratic-mayoral-race-2021-07-06/  
70 https://satrnnews.com/eric-adams-disagrees-with-de-blasio-school-mask-mandate-need-to-follow-the-science/  
71 https://www.silive.com/coronavirus/2021/08/nyc-releases-guidelines-for-2021-2022-school-year-10-things-you-
need-to-know.html  
72 https://www.schools.nyc.gov/school-life/health-and-wellness/covid-information/health-and-safety-in-our-schools  
73 https://www.schools.nyc.gov/about-us/messages-for-families  
74 Id. 



- 50 - 
 

217. Yet, Defendant NYC DOE provides a medical exemption form for students to be exempt 

from COVID-19 testing in schools.75 

 
V. THE MASK MANDATE CREATES AN ENTANGLEMENT OF THE STATE AND RELIGIOUS 

PRINCIPLES OF HUMANISM 

218. Although ‘Humanism’ is not a term that comes to mind when discussing traditional notions 

of religion, it is prevalent and practiced worldwide in different forms, including Christian 

Humanism, Humanistic Judaism, and others. 

219. Humanism emerged with a following after the publication of the Humanist Manifesto in 

1933.76 Later, it was recognized by the United States Supreme Court as a religion in the 

decision of Torasco v. Watkins.77  

220. It is not uncommon for “humanism” to be confused or interchanged with “humanitarianism,” 

however, there is a stark difference between the two. Whereas the term “humanitarianism” 

usually refers to a person who promotes human welfare and social reform, “humanist” refers 

to one who believes that human beings are capable of solving their own problems and 

determining their own destiny.78 The religion of Humanism is “nontheistic” and is opposed 

to the notions of traditional theism doctrines.79 

221. Humanism is said to be a doctrine that is centered on human values and interests and 

ultimately defies man.80 

 
75 https://www.schools.nyc.gov/docs/default-source/default-document-library/student-medical-exemption-form  
76 Humane, Humanities, Humanitarian, and Humanism,” Kenneth A. Penman & Samuel H. Adams, THE CLEARING 

HOUSE, Vol. 55, No. 7 (Mar. 1982) (p. 308-310) accessed at: https://www.jstor.org/stable/30186123. 
77 Torcaso v. Watkins, 367 U.S. 488, 81 S. Ct. 1680, 6 L. Ed. 2d 982 (1961) (“Among religions in this country which 
do not teach what would generally be considered a belief in the existence of God is Buddhism, Taoism, Ethical Culture, 
Secular Humanism, and others.”) 
78 Humane, Humanities, Humanitarian, and Humanism,” Kenneth A. Penman & Samuel H. Adams, THE CLEARING 
HOUSE, Vol. 55, No. 7 (Mar. 1982) (p. 308-310) accessed at: https://www.jstor.org/stable/30186123 
79 Id. 
80 Id. 
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222. The Humanism dogma includes a fifteen-point belief system filled with socialist propaganda 

opposing “acquisitive and profit-motivated society” and outlining a worldwide egalitarian 

society based on voluntary mutual cooperation through the “equitable distribution of the 

means of life.”  Other passages included: 

“The time has come for widespread recognition of the radical changes in religious 
beliefs throughout the modern world . . .To establish such a religion is a major 
necessity of the present . . . Religious humanists regard the universe as self-existing 
and not created . . . A socialized and cooperative economic order must be 
established to the end that the equitable distribution of the means of life be possible 
. . . So stand the theses of religious humanism.”81 

 

A. HISTORY OF HUMANISM AND ITS INFLUENCE ON THE U.S. GOVERNMENT 
 
223. The Humanist movement in the United States was organized initially as the “Humanist 

Fellowship” in 1927, changing into the “Humanist Press Association” in 1935, and finally 

being reorganized as “The American Humanist Association” (“The A.H.A.”) in 1941.  The 

A.H.A. has a network of over 250 local affiliates and chapters around the country,82 

including the Humanist Chaplaincy at Harvard.83 In 1952, the A.H.A. became a founding 

member of the International Humanist and Ethical Union84 and subsequently joined with the 

American Ethical Union and in the late 1960s established itself as a religious tax-exempt 

organization allowing Humanist ministers to legally officiate at weddings, perform 

 
81 https://americanhumanist.org/what-is-humanism/manifesto1/ 
82 https://americanhumanist.org/get-involved/find-or-start-a-chapter/ 
83 The Humanist Chaplaincy at Harvard (HCH) became the world’s first university-based Humanist Chaplaincy upon 
its founding in the 1970s by former Catholic Priest Tom Ferrick. HCH now has its own Humanist community center 
in Harvard Square and employs a talented professional staff of young Humanist leaders who facilitate its many 
programs.  The Humanist Chaplain, Greg Epstein, was recently appointed as the President of Harvard’s Chaplains, 
overseeing all 40 religious denominations on campus. See https://humanistchaplaincies.org/harvard-university/, 
https://chaplains.harvard.edu/filter_by/humanist-chaplaincy-humanistagnosticatheist1 and The New Chief Chaplain 
at Harvard? An Atheist. By Emma Goldberg, Aug. 26, 2021, https://www.nytimes.com/2021/08/26/us/harvard-
chaplain-greg-epstein.html 
84 This umbrella organization, now referred to as Humanists International, has more than 160 member organizations 
from more than 80 countries. See https://humanists.international/2019/02/humanists-international/ 
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chaplaincy functions, and other traditional clergy activities.85 In 1991, the A.H.A. took 

control of another religious Humanist organization, the Humanist Society, and merged it into 

its operations.86  

224. Humanism has seen significant growth worldwide since its founding.87 The Humanist 

Manifesto II was written in 197388and Humanist Manifesto III was published in 2003.89 

Several prominent Humanists created their own Ten Commandments since its founding, 

including Bertrand Russell, Michael Schmidt-Salomon, Richard Dawkins, Christopher 

Hitchens, and John Figdor. See also, APPENDIX A. 

225. In 1953, the A.H.A. established its highest honor, The Humanist of the Year Award, 

bestowed upon “a person of national or international reputation, who, through the application 

of humanist values, has made a significant contribution to the improvement of the human 

condition.”90 

226. In 2021, the A.H.A. conferred its highest honor, the Humanist of the Year Award, to Dr. 

Anthony S. Fauci, M.D. (“Dr. Fauci”), the Director of the National Institute of Allergy and 

Infectious Diseases (“NAID”), within the United States National Institutes of Health 

(“N.I.H.”).91  

227. Subsequently, on December 3, 2020, Dr. Fauci announced he accepted the position of Chief 

Medical Advisor to then-President-elect Joe Biden. 

 
85 ttps://www.azmirror.com/2019/07/19/phoenix-humanists-to-claim-tax-break-to-tax-code/ 
86 https://web.archive.org/web/20120412091912/http://humanist-society.org/ 
87 The World's Newest Major Religion: No Religion.  As secularism grows, atheists and agnostics are trying to 
expand and diversify their ranks.  By Gabe Bullard, April 22, 2016, 
https://www.nationalgeographic.com/culture/article/160422-atheism-agnostic-secular-nones-rising-religion 
88 In this updated version, sexuality and abortion were emphasized as well as deploring “the division of humankind 
on nationalistic grounds” while looking forward to “a world order based upon transnational federal government.”  
89 Evolving Humanist Manifestos: https://www.icr.org/article/evolving-humanist-manifestos 
90 https://americanhumanist.org/awardees/ 
91 Id. 
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228. In announcing its selection, the A.H.A. proudly highlighted that Dr. Fauci has publicly 

identified himself as a Humanist since 2003. 92 Dr. Fauci accepted the award on July 25, 

2021, through a video presentation. 

229. Dr. Fauci becomes the newest recipient in a long line of controversial Humanists, including 

Margret Sanger, best known for establishing Planned Parenthood and advocating for the 

elimination of the African-American population. See, APPENDIX A. Brock Chisolm was the 

1959 award recipient, best known for advocating the dangers of parents allowing their 

children to believe in Santa Claus, followed by Dr. Linus Pauling in 1961, a known 

eugenicist and advocate for marking persons with “defective genes” with a uniform mark, 

such as a forehead tattoo. APPENDIX A, Humanism Award of the Year Recipients. 

230. It is understood that Humanism is a religion93 rooted in a “nontheistic” dogma, in that no 

other supreme being exists except man himself. However, just as the government may not 

impose a religion upon the People, the government cannot impose those principles that align 

with a “religion” and infringe upon the rights of Plaintiffs without due process of law. 

B. THE ENTANGLEMENT OF HUMANISM AND GOVERNMENT MANDATES 

Dr. Fauci, in his Official Capacity as U.S. Chief Medical Advisor 

231. Dr. Fauci’s religious (or “nontheistic”) beliefs did not become problematic until he took the 

stance that a challenge to his guidance regarding COVID-19 was an attack on “science.” In 

an interview with NBC News, Dr. Fauci responded to criticisms of his management of 

COVID-19 by stating, “[i]f you are trying to, you know, get me as a public health official 

 
92 C-SPAN interview of Dr. Fauci announcing himself a humanist: https://www.c-span.org/video/?c4873572/user-
clip-fauci-humanist&fbclid=IwAR1dM0Ra65nIrnZ_XQu1PRRjFSRS3wkYHicmw0D0sKrB93DRMr5ru9yaDo4 
93 Torcaso, 367 U.S. 488 (“Among religions in this country which do not teach what would generally be considered a 
belief in the existence of God is Buddhism, Taoism, Ethical Culture, Secular Humanism, and others.”). 
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and a scientist, you are really attacking not only Anthony Fauci—you are attacking science. 

And anybody that looks at what is going on clearly sees that.”94 (emphasis added). 

232. Clearly, Dr. Fauci took the criticisms about his recent contradictory remarks as an attack on 

“science” and seemingly began a crusade to create a schism of the general public - those 

who would abide by his advice and those who attacked “science.” 

233. Through these public statements, it is also apparent that Dr. Fauci, as representative of the 

federal government and acting in his official capacity as the U.S. Chief Medical Advisor to 

the President, intended to classify the public into two major groups; those who would follow 

the advice and guidelines of the government, and those opposed to “science” by questioning 

his constant controversial and contradictory advice, which changed weekly, as elaborated 

below. 

Dr. Fauci’s History of Inconsistent Guidance 

234. As the COVID-19 pandemic emerged, on February 5, 2020, Dr. Fauci sent an internal email 

(although this email was not released to the public until May 2021) stating that “[t]he typical 

mask you buy in the drug store is not really effective in keeping out virus, which is small 

enough to pass through material. It might, however, provide some slight benefit in keep out 

gross droplets if someone coughs or sneezes on you.”95 

235. In a public statement on March 8, 2020, Dr. Fauci stated in an interview of CBS’ 60 Minutes: 

“When you’re in the middle of an outbreak, wearing a mask might make people 
feel a little bit better and it might even block a droplet, but it’s not providing the 
perfect protection that people think that it is. And, often, there are unintended 
consequences — people keep fiddling with the mask and they keep touching their 
face.”  He continued during the interview to state, “Right now in the United States, 

 
94 https://www.businessinsider.com/fauci-attack-on-science-gop-criticism-2021-6 
95  https://www.foxnews.com/health/faucis-controversial-60-minutes-interview-about-mask-wearing-was-one-year-
ago 
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people should not be walking around with masks. ... There’s no reason to be 
walking around with a mask.”96 

236. Less than a month later, on April 3, 2020, Dr. Fauci states just the opposite: 

“And, importantly, I think what people don't fully appreciate is that putting a mask 
on yourself is more to prevent you from infecting someone else. And if everybody 
does that, we're each protecting each other, because the data is, it's more efficient 
to prevent transmitting to others than it is to prevent transmission to yourself. But 
you can completely cover that ballpark if, essentially, universally, when people go 
out and are in a situation where they might come into closer contact, that they wear 
that mask.”97 

237. The contradiction and confusion does not end there. On January 25, 2021, in an interview 

on NBC’s Today Show, Dr. Fauci tells viewers that two masks are better than one, and states: 

“So, if you have a physical covering with one layer, you put another layer on, it just 
makes common sense that it likely would be more effective. That's the reason why 
you see people either double masking or doing a version of an N95 [respirator].”98 

 

238. Two days later, on January 27, 2021 during a CNN Town Hall segment, Dr. Fauci said, "The 

CDC does not recommend that you should wear two masks, nor does the CDC recommend 

that you have to wear an N95 mask. They just say, 'The most important thing is get 

everybody to wear a mask.’”99 

239. Even more perplexing, the next day, January 28, 2021 during a live stream Q&A with the 

American Federation of Teachers (“AFT”) and the National Education Association 

(“NEA”), Dr. Fauci is asked about his recommendation of “double masking,” to which he 

replies, “There's no data that indicates that that is going to make a difference."100 

 
96 Id. 
97 https://www.pbs.org/newshour/show/what-dr-fauci-wants-you-to-know-about-face-masks-and-staying-home-as-
virus-spreads#transcript 
98 https://www.cnbc.com/2021/01/25/dr-fauci-double-mask-during-covid-makes-common-sense-more-effective.html 
99 https://www.newsweek.com/fact-check-did-dr-anthony-fauci-advise-wearing-two-masks-then-reverse-course-
1565961 
100 Id. 



- 56 - 
 

240. Accordingly, there is no clear guidance from the purported expert on the matter as to 

whether or not masking is effective in mitigating the spread of the virus. Dr. Fauci’s 

contradictions continue ad nauseum, ranging from the use of PPE; eye shields;101 

N96/KN95102 masks; whether the public should or should not worry about infection rates; 

whether the virus remains a threat; the use of vaccines; the use of a mask in combination 

with the vaccine, and so on.  

241. In the interest of efficacy, Plaintiffs do not list all of the contradictory guidance issued by 

Dr. Fauci and other executive agencies; however, Plaintiffs are ready, willing, and able to 

provide further documentation of the contradictory guidance not addressed above. 

242. Dr. Fauci’s inconsistencies are one of the main contributing factors to the public confusion, 

fostering skepticism and thus empowering government officials, such as Governor Hochel 

and Commissioner Zucker, to abuse the authority of their respective offices to infringe upon 

the individual rights and freedoms of the students of New York. 

VI. VIOLATIONS OF THE ESTABLISHMENT CLAUSE BY AND THROUGH THE FOURTEENTH 
AMENDMENT 

243. As reiterated above, the Constitution provides that the government may not establish a 

religion in the United States. 

244. As described in Part III above, Humanism is a recognized religion that embodies the 

principle of “non-theism” and that man alone is the supreme being. As such, those followers 

of Humanism subscribe to the notion that people should (and must, to be Humanist) give up 

their religious beliefs and principles to be fully successful in life. 

 
101 https://www.webmd.com/lung/news/20200731/fauci-suggests-wearing-goggles-for-full-protection 
102 bin-Reza F et al. The use of mask and respirators to prevent transmission of influenza: A systematic review of the 
scientific evidence. Resp Viruses 2012;6(4):257-67. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5779801/ 
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245. Other major religions of the world consist of Christianity, Islam, Hinduism, Buddhism, 

Sikhism, and Judaism. 

246. As described in Part II above, Defendant Governor Hochul violated the Establishment 

Clause twice by delivering sermons to the Abyssian Baptist Church in Harlem, on September 

12, 2021, and the Christian Center in Brooklyn on September 21, 2021, by calling upon the 

congregation to “be [her] apostles” and to address those that remain skeptical about the 

masking and vaccine mandates. 

247. As set forth above, this type of conduct from a public official is prohibited, as 

“[e]ndorsement sends a message to non-adherents that they are outsiders, not full members 

of the political community, and in an accompanying message to adherents that they are 

insiders, favored members of the political community.”103 Lynch v. Donnelly (1984). 

248. In the case of Lemon v. Kurtzman, the Supreme Court expanded on the definition and 

application of the Establishment Clause, holding that a law “respecting the proscribed result, 

that is, the establishment of religion, is not always easily identifiable as one violative of the 

Clause. A given law might not establish a state religion but nevertheless be one respecting 

that end in the sense of being a step that could lead to such establishment and hence offend 

the First Amendment.” Lemon v. Kurtzman, 403 U.S. 602, 612-13 (1971) (Burger, C.J.) 

(emphasis added).104 

249. However, in addressing the Establishment Clause in a school setting, in Lee v. Weisman, 505 

U.S. 577, 112 S. Ct. 2649, 120 L. Ed. 2d 467 (1992), the Supreme Court explores “the subtle 

coercive pressures [that] exist and where the student had no natural alternative which would 

have allowed [her] to avoid the fact or appearance of participation. 

 
103 Id., citing Larkin, 459 U.S. 116 and School Dist. of Abington Tp., Pa., 374 U.S. 203. 
104 See also, Bouvier Law Dictionary: Establishment Clause. 
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250. In Lee, the Supreme Court held that:  

“The First Amendment's Religion Clauses mean that religious beliefs and religious 
expression are too precious to be either proscribed or prescribed by the State. The 
design of the Constitution is that preservation and transmission of religious beliefs 
and worship is a responsibility and a choice committed to the private sphere, which 
itself is promised freedom to pursue that mission. It must not be forgotten then, that 
while concern must be given to define the protection granted to an objector or a 
dissenting nonbeliever, these same Clauses exist to protect religion from 
government interference.  [*590]   James Madison, the principal author of the Bill 
of Rights, did not rest his opposition to a religious establishment on the sole ground 
of its effect on the minority. A principal ground for his view was: "Experience 
witnesseth that ecclesiastical establishments, instead of maintaining the purity and 
efficacy of Religion, have had a contrary operation." Memorial and Remonstrance 
Against Religious Assessments (1785), in 8 Papers of James Madison 301 (W. 
Rachal, R. Rutland, B. Ripel, & F. Teute eds. 1973).”  

Lee, 505 U.S. 577 (emphasis added). 

251. As described above, Defendant Governor Hochul’s sermon before the Christian Center in 

Brooklyn and Abyssian Baptist Church in Harlem undoubtedly violated the Establishment 

Clause. See supra, ¶ 106-110.  

252. With this predicate context, Defendant Hochul, DOH, and PHPC then implemented the 

mandatory mask mandate in school settings, creating a situation that the Supreme Court in 

Lee expressly tried to prevent in holding that “[t]he degree of school involvement here made 

it clear that the [conduct] bore the imprint of the State and thus put school-age children who 

objected in an untenable position.”  

253. Dr. Fauci also engaged in acts violating the Establishment Clause. 

254. In a 2015 interview, Dr. Fauci stated: 

"I think that there are a lot of things about organized religion that are unfortunate, 
and I tend to like to stay away from that and think more in terms of the principles 
that I learned from the Jesuits, from the Catholic religion, the principles that I run 
my life by. But the idea about the organization of religion is not something that I 
adhere to very much.”105 

 
105 https://ifyc.org/article/dr-anthony-fauci-named-2021-humanist-year 
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255. Dr. Fauci’s association with the American Humanist Association (AHA) is undisputed. The 

Constitution protects each American’s individual right to freely practice the religion of their 

choice by and through the free exercise clause of the First Amendment. By utilizing his 

government position to influence the public and endorse mandates restricting the public 

under Humanist principles, Dr. Fauci is violating the Establishment Clause and depriving 

the public, including the plaintiff students, of their liberties and fundamental human rights 

without due process of law. See Cantwell v. State of Connecticut, 310 U.S. 296, 60 S. Ct. 

900, 84 L. Ed. 1213 (1940). 

256. As described in detail above, Dr. Fauci is seen on national television making the following 

statement: “[i]f you are trying to, you know, get me as a public health official and a scientist, 

you are really attacking not only Anthony Fauci—you are attacking science. And anybody 

that looks at what is going on clearly sees that.” (emphasis added).106 

VII. THE “SCIENCE” BEHIND COVID-19 

A. THE MINISTRY OF SCIENCE 

257. This subtle form of public control is not new; this principle is eerily similar to George 

Orwell’s classic 1984, where the four Ministries of the dystopian government of Oceania 

utilize different tactics, opposite of their name, to exercise power and control over the 

general public of Oceania. For instance, the Ministry of Peace supported a perpetual war; 

the Ministry of Truth controlled the public through lies; the Ministry of Plenty rationed food, 

goods, and other domestic productions; and the Ministry of Love performed covert 

operations that identified, monitored, arrested, and converted dissidents. See APPENDIX C, 

1984 Ministries. 

 
106 Supra, ¶98. 
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258. When first published, the book was arguably meant to be an ironic musing based on 

dystopian fiction. However, in light of the facts at hand, the book’s premise has become a 

shocking modern-day parallel. 

259. If George Orwell wrote a modern-day sequel, he would likely include a “Ministry of 

Science” that seeks to control the public through the dissemination of contradictions and 

misinformation rooted in public health, inciting public panic and fear, and creating a divide 

between those “apostles” that believe the unproven, contradictory proclamations of 

“science” and those who are deemed immoral for questioning the ‘narrative’ and refusing to 

accept contradictory statements as truth. 

B. WHAT IS “SCIENCE” AS DEFINED BY LAW? 

260. Where individual rights and freedoms collide with those principles rooted in science, one 

must look to the legal definition of “scientific knowledge” to properly establish the theories 

and techniques being presented to the court. 

261. As set forth by the Supreme Court in Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharms., Inc.,107 there are four 

main components to establish a “theory or technique” as “scientific knowledge”: (1) 

testability; (2) peer review; (3) known or potential rate of error; and (4) general acceptance. 

Id. 

262. “Additionally, in the case of a particular scientific technique, the court ordinarily should 

consider the known or potential rate of error” [see, e.g., United States v. Smith, 869 F.2d 

348, 353–354 (7th Cir. 1989) (surveying studies of the error rate of spectrographic voice 

identification technique)], and the existence and maintenance of standards controlling the 

technique’s operation. See, United States v. Williams, 583 F.2d 1194, 1198 (2d Cir. 1978). 

 
107 Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharms., Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 113 S. Ct. 2786, 125 L. Ed. 2d 469 (1993). 
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Testability & Peer-Reviewed Studies 

263. Studies into the effectiveness of cloth facemasks in preventing the spread of airborne 

droplets from respiration and coughing often find that cloth masks are ineffective, especially 

compared to medical-grade masks. 

264. Studies into the effectiveness of cloth facemasks in preventing the spread of airborne 

droplets from respiration and coughing often find cloth masks considerably ineffective 

compared to medical-grade masks. 

265. The World Health Organization has also issued guidelines about children wearing masks 

that contradict Defendant NYS DOH and Defendant NYC DOH. 

1. Should children wear a mask? 

i. Children aged 5 years and under should not be required to wear 
masks. This is based on the safety and overall interest of the child and 
the capacity to appropriately use a mask with minimal assistance; 

ii. Children aged 6-11 should only wear a mask based on six factors108; 

iii. Children 12 and older should follow the same guidance as adults.109 

2. Should children with developmental disabilities wear masks? 

i. The use of masks for children of any age with developmental 
disorders, disabilities or other specific health conditions should not be 
mandatory and be assessed on a case by case basis by the child’s 
parent, guardian, educator, and/or medical provider. In any case, 
children with severe cognitive or respiratory impairments with 
difficulties tolerating a mask should not be required to wear masks.110 

3. Should children wear a mask when playing sports or doing physical activities? 

 
108 WHO and UNICEF have identified these factors: 1) Whether there is widespread transmission in the area where 
the child resides, 2) The ability of the child to safely and appropriately use a mask, 3) Access to masks, as well as 
laundering and replacement of masks in certain settings (such as schools and childcare services), 4) Adequate adult 
supervision and instructions to the child on how to put on, take off and safely wear masks, 5) Potential impact of 
wearing a mask on learning and psychosocial development, in consultation with teachers, parents/caregivers and/or 
medical providers, and 6) Specific settings and interactions the child has with other people who are at high risk of 
developing serious illness, such as the elderly and those with other underlying health conditions 
109 https://www.who.int/news-room/q-a-detail/q-a-children-and-masks-related-to-covid-19  
110 Id. 
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i. Children should not wear a mask when playing sports or doing 
physical activities, such as running, jumping, or playing on the 
playground, to not compromise their breathing. When organizing 
these activities for children, it is important to encourage all other 
critical public health measures: maintaining at least a 1-metre distance 
from others, limiting the number of children playing together, 
providing access to hand hygiene facilities, and encouraging their 
use.111 

Beijing, China (2020) 

266. A study conducted in March of 2020 in Beijing by Wang et al. demonstrated that, within the 

family setting, masks, disinfectants, and social distancing are effective strategies to minimize 

the risk of disease transmission. The study follows 124 families with at least one confirmed 

case of Covid-19 and tracks the disease’s transmission to others who live in the same 

household. 

267. This peer-reviewed and generally accepted study found that wearing masks reduced the 

transmission of Covid-19 to others in prolonged close proximity by 79%. The study shows 

that the “secondary attack rate” of Covid-19 in children is nearly half that of adults in the 

household setting112This is a retrospective study using documentation as the primary data 

source. The study focuses on the household setting, and participants are families aged young 

to old. The type of masks used is not specified. 

Denmark (2020) 
 
268. Studies show that cloth masks are relatively ineffective when considering variables and the 

comparison to surgical masks. 

269. A study from Denmark demonstrated that inconsistent community usage of masks on top of 

other health measures did not reduce the risk of Covid-19 transmission by a considerable 

 
111 Id. 
112  https://gh.bmj.com/content/5/5/e002794 
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percentage. In this study, researchers followed participants who spent three or more hours 

outside of the home and encouraged them to follow social distancing. 

270. Half of the participants were asked to wear masks, and half were asked not to wear masks. 

271. The study concluded that “the recommendation to wear surgical masks to supplement other 

public health measures did not reduce the SARS-CoV-2 infection rate among wearers by 

more than 50% in a community with modest infection rates, some degree of social 

distancing, and uncommon general mask use.” 

272. The Denmark study did not examine the use of commonly used cloth masks.113 This study 

is a controlled study with two groups who were either instructed to wear a mask outside the 

home or instructed not to. The study focuses on an adult population with no specific location 

other than the country of Denmark. The type of masks used are surgical masks. The study is 

peer-reviewed and generally accepted. 

Vietnam, 2020 
 
273. A study in fourteen hospitals in Vietnam compared the efficacy of cloth masks versus 

medical masks in usage by hospital workers. The study assigned a group to wear cloth masks, 

a group to wear medical masks, and a control group that wore masks per their usual practice. 

274. The study found that the cloth mask wearers had a higher rate of contraction of illness than 

the medical mask users. In addition, it was noted that “penetration of cloth masks by particles 

was almost 97% and medical masks 44%.” 

275. The study authors concluded that “the results caution against the use of cloth masks.”114 This 

study is a controlled study with three groups—one with “usual masking practice,” one with 

cloth masks, and one with medical masks. 

 
113 https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33205991/ 
114 https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/5/4/e006577 
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276. The study focuses on healthcare workers over the age of 18 in the hospital setting in Vietnam. 

The type of masks used are cloth and surgical masks. The study is peer-reviewed and 

generally accepted. 

Center for Evidence-Based Medicine 
 
277. According to Carl Heneghan and Tom Jefferson from the Center for Evidence-Based 

Medicine, the more recent studies that find usage of cloth masks effective in reducing the 

transmission of COVID-19 contradict the findings of older, less hastily constructed studies 

that found cloth masks to be detrimental to the health of the wearer: 

“It would appear that despite two decades of pandemic preparedness, there is 
considerable uncertainty as to the value of wearing masks. For instance, high rates 
of infection with cloth masks could be due to harms caused by cloth masks, or 
benefits of medical masks.  The numerous systematic reviews that have been 
recently published all include the same evidence base so unsurprisingly broadly 
reach the same conclusions. However, recent reviews using lower quality evidence 
found masks to be effective. Whilst also recommending robust randomized trials to 
inform the evidence for these interventions.”115 

 

278. The Heneghan and Jefferson study summarizes peer-reviewed and generally accepted 

studies that focused primarily on healthcare workers and students using surgical masks and 

cloth masks. 

Massachusetts General Hospital: Brigham (2020) 
 
279. Wang et al. assessed the masking policy of the Mass General Brigham hospital system in 

Massachusetts. The researchers identified a decrease in cases of COVID-19 in healthcare 

workers after implementing universal masking policies in hospitals. 

280. The researchers concluded that their “results support universal masking as part of a 

multipronged infection reduction strategy in health care settings.” The recommendation 

 
115 https://www.cebm.net/covid-19/masking-lack-of-evidence-with-politics/ 
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justified here is only applicable to healthcare settings. Because all healthcare workers and 

patients wore surgical masks, this study cannot justify requiring typical cloth masks to 

reduce COVID-19 transmission.116 

281. This study is conducted using health records and documentation provided by the hospitals 

studied. The study focuses on adult healthcare workers in the hospital environment. The type 

of masks used is surgical masks. The study is peer-reviewed and generally accepted. 

Mask-wearing: A Cross-Sectional Study 

282. “Mask-wearing and control of SARS-CoV-2 transmission in the USA: A Cross-Sectional 

Study” makes clear that although evidence suggests that masks help to curb the spread of 

the disease, there is little empirical research at the population level, and investigates the 

association between self-reported mask-wearing; physical distancing; and SARS-CoV-2 

transmission in the USA, along with the effect of statewide mandates on mask uptake. 

283. Researchers found that “[a]n increasing trend in reported mask usage across the USA was 

observed, although uptake varied by geography. Communities with high reported mask-

wearing and physical distancing had the highest predicted probability of transmission 

control. Segmented regression analysis of reported mask-wearing showed no statistically 

significant change in the slope after mandates were introduced; however, the upward trend 

in reported mask-wearing was preserved. The widespread reported use of face masks 

combined with physical distancing increases the odds of SARS-CoV-2 transmission 

control.”117 

 
116 https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/2768533 
117 https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33483277/ 
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284. The Cross-Sectional Study was conducted using surveys that focused on age groups 13 years 

and older with no specific location and did not specify the type of masks used.  The study 

was peer-reviewed and generally accepted.  

Other Mask Studies 

285. Studies rarely specifically focused on mask mandates in the school setting or in settings 

where individuals are in close proximity for prolonged periods of time. Most CDC studies 

used to justify mask mandates focus on adult populations or are too broad to relate to the 

school setting directly. 

Springfield, Missouri 

286. A study by Hendrix et al. looks retroactively at a successfully contained outbreak of COVID-

19 at a hair salon in Springfield, MO. 

287. Two hairstylists at the salon contracted symptoms of COVID-19 and tested positive for the 

virus. The stylists worked for eight days between becoming symptomatic and receiving their 

positive test results. During this period, the hairstylists worked with 139 clients, and all 

clients and hairdressers in the salon wore masks for the duration of each appointment. 

288. None of the clients serviced by the symptomatic hairstylists or their secondary contacts 

experienced symptoms of COVID-19. 

289. The study concludes “implementation of masking policies could mitigate the spread of 

infection in the general population.” However, the instance described in this study sees short-

term exposure of masked individuals to symptomatic carriers. In the school setting, children 

spend hours out of the day in close proximity. 
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290. This study holds no insight into the efficacy of masks in preventing the spread of the virus 

among individuals in prolonged contact.118 

291. The Hendrix study is a retrospective study using surveys as its primary data source. The 

study focuses on the business setting, where the mean participant age is 52. The type of 

masks used are cloth and surgical masks. The study is peer-reviewed and generally accepted. 

Washington, D.C. 

292. One study provides evidence from a natural experiment on the effects of state government 

mandates for face mask use in public issued by fifteen states plus Washington, D.C., between 

April 8 and May 15, 2020. 

293. The research design is an event study examining changes in the daily county-level COVID-

19 growth rates between March 31 and May 22, 2020. 

294. This study also identified the effects of states’ public face mask mandates on the daily 

COVID-19 growth rate, using an event study that examined the effects over different 

periods. The study considered the impact of mask mandates targeting employees in some 

work settings rather than community-wide mandates. 

295. Mandating face mask use in public is associated with a decline in the daily COVID-19 

growth rate by 0.9, 1.1, 1.4, 1.7, and 2.0 percentage points in 1–5, 6–10, 11–15, 16–20, and 

21 or more days after state face mask orders were signed, respectively. 

296. This study projected the number of averted COVID-19 cases with the mandates for face 

mask use in public by comparing actual cumulative daily cases with daily cases predicted 

by the model if none of the states had enacted the public face cover mandate at the time they 

 
118 ] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32673300/ 
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did. This is an event study using documentation and statistics from the entire population as 

the primary data source. 

297. The study does not focus on any particular age group within the general population and relies 

heavily upon insubstantial estimations rather than hard data. The type of masks used is not 

specified. The study is peer-reviewed and generally accepted. 

Germany 

298. Mitze et al. identified the time frame when different German regions began to implement 

mask mandates in public places and compared it with the trend in COVID-19 cases from 

those regions. In particular, the study followed Jena, the first region of Germany to 

implement face mask requirements. 

299. The researchers found that the usage of face masks reduced the growth of COVID-19 

infections. Conscious of its boundaries, however, the study cited limitations that prevent its 

findings from a universal application: 

“First, Germany is only one country. Different norms or climatic conditions might 
change the picture for other countries. Second, we have ignored spatial 
dependencies in the epidemic diffusion of Covid-19. This might play a role. Third, 
there are various types of face masks. We cannot identify differential effects since 
mask regulations in German regions do not require a certain type.” 

 
300. The Mitze study is too broad to apply to a school-specific setting.119 This retrospective study 

observes data after the fact, focuses on one German town, and its participants are aged 15 

and older. The type of masks used is not specified. The study is peer-reviewed and generally 

accepted. 

 
119 ttp://ftp.iza.org/dp13319.pdf 
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Testability & Peer Review Studies of COVID-19 and Masks in Schools 

301. Since the start of the COVID-19 crisis, the data and science have demonstrated less risk of 

spreading COVID-19 among students and staff in school than in the general community.  

This was a fact before the introduction of vaccinations. Safety is increased where many 

school staff and children are eligible for vaccinations and other well-established treatments 

for COVID-19.120 

302. British Medical Journal, one of the oldest general medical journals in the world, published 

an article in April 2020 emphasizing the need for children to return to school. The authors’ 

fundamental argument is that children are not COVID-19 super spreaders. This argument is 

supported by data from China, South Korea, and Ireland on children and COVID-19. “Some 

regions have implemented widespread community testing, such as South Korea and Iceland. 

Both countries found that children were significantly underrepresented. In Iceland, this is 

true both in targeted testing of high-risk groups compared with adults (6.7% positive 

compared with 13.7%), and in (invited) population screening, there were no children under 

10 found to be positive for SARS-CoV-2 compared with 0.8% of the general population.” 

Using their cumulated data, the authors deduce that “Governments worldwide should allow 

all children back to school.”121 

303. Eurosurvelliance, Europe’s journal on infectious disease surveillance, epidemiology, and 

control, published a study on the secondary transmission of COVID-19 from children 

attending school in Ireland. The study examined three pediatric cases and three adult cases 

of COVID-19 with a history of school attendance. The available epidemiological data for all 

cases indicated that they had not been infected with SARS-CoV-2 in the school setting. One 

 
120 https://www.nytimes.com/2021/08/23/nyregion/nyc-schools-vaccine-mandate.html 
121 https://adc.bmj.com/content/105/7/618 
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pediatric case attended a primary school, while the other two cases attended secondary 

schools. One of the adult cases was a teacher, while the other adult cases conducted 

educational sessions in schools that were up to 2 hours in duration. A total of 1,155 contacts 

of these six cases were identified. They were exposed at school in the classroom, during 

sports lessons, music lessons, and during choir practice for a religious ceremony, which 

involved a number of schools mixing in a church environment. Their findings show that 

among 1,001 child contacts of these six cases there were no confirmed cases of COVID-19. 

In the school setting, among 924 child contacts and 101 adult contacts identified, there were 

no confirmed cases of COVID-19. “The results moreover echo the experience of other 

countries, where children are not emerging as considerable drivers of transmission of 

COVID-19.”122 

304. The National Center for Immunization Research and Surveillance (NCIRS) investigated all 

COVID-19 cases in New South Wales, Australia schools in April 2020. The report shows 

that from March to mid-April 2020, 18 individuals (9 students and 9 staff) from 15 schools 

were confirmed as COVID-19 cases. A total of 735 students and 128 staff were close 

contacts of these initial 18 cases. Of these, no teacher or staff member contracted COVID-

19 from any of the initial school cases. The report concluded that “Our investigation found 

no evidence of children infecting teachers...SARS-CoV-2 transmission in children in schools 

appears considerably less than seen for other respiratory viruses.”123 

305. The Public Health Agency of Sweden published a report comparing the effect of different 

approaches regarding school closure in Sweden and Finland as a response to the COVID-19 

 
122 https://www.eurosurveillance.org/content/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2020.25.21.2000903#html_fulltext 
123 http://ncirs.org.au/sites/default/files/2020-
04/NCIRS%20NSW%20Schools%20COVID_Summary_FINAL%20public_26%20April%202020.pdf 
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pandemic. Sweden is one of the few countries that decided to keep daycare and primary 

schools open during the pandemic.  In Finland, on the other hand, all schools were closed 

from March 18th until May 13th except children in grades 1-3 who could participate in 

regular on-site teaching if their caretakers were working in areas considered critical for 

society. Primary schools were reopened between May 14 and May 31. There were 23 

primary school exposures (index cases) in 21 primary schools during this reopening period. 

Of the index cases, 16 were pupils and seven adults. There were 392 pupils and 54 adults 

placed under quarantine, and the last quarantine ended on June 12. Primary school closure 

and re-opening did not significantly impact the weekly number of laboratory-confirmed 

cases in primary school-aged children. 

306. Chief Physician at the Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare stated, “Coronavirus 

infections with serious symptoms are rare among children and young people in both Finland 

and Sweden. Neither country has reported a single coronavirus-related death in the under-

20 age group. According to current information, children also pass on the virus less 

frequently than adults.” The report concluded, “The negative effects of closing schools must 

be weighed against the possible positive indirect effects it might have on the mitigation of 

the COVID-19 pandemic.”124 

307. In February and March 2020, a study published by the Oxford University Press, in 

correlation with the Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA) and the HIV Medicine 

Association (HIVMA), within the newly issued volume of Clinical Infectious Diseases, 

depicted the low risk of transmission in school settings. The study was achieved in Singapore 

as part of the country’s public health strategy to undergo nationwide surveillance and contact 

 
124  https://www.folkhalsomyndigheten.se/contentassets/c1b78bffbfde4a7899eb0d8ffdb57b09/COVID-19-school-
aged-children.pdf 
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tracing. The clinical and epidemiological data and the contacts of potential cases of SARS-

CoV-2 within three separate educational settings were all obtained and analyzed. A 12-year-

old student and a 5-year-old student were both diagnosed with COVID-19 and subsequently 

isolated after acquiring symptoms. In both the secondary school and preschool #1, all close 

contacts were placed under quarantine 14 days from their last exposure and subsequently 

examined and isolated if they experienced any respiratory symptoms or fevers. They were 

only discharged if they received at least 2 negative nasopharyngeal swabs taken on 2 

individual days. 

308. Although schools were not closed during this period, they continued to take precautionary 

health measures. Eight (8) students in secondary school and thirty-four (34) in preschool #1 

became symptomatic, but all were tested negative for the virus. In preschool #2, the same 

measures were taken, except that schools were closed for 14 days following the detection of 

staff members with COVID-19, and a single NP swab for SARS-CoV-2 among 

asymptomatic children was also taken. 

309. Although 77 children became symptomatic, all tested negative. Based on the study’s results, 

there was no evidence of disease transmission, which entails that children may be more 

resistant at a cellular level. “Based on these findings, more targeted control measures for 

preschool settings (such as keeping symptomatic children away from schools instead of 

blanket closures) could be considered.”125 

310. The Journal of Pediatrics and Child Care published an article in June 2020 that prefaced the 

French Pediatric Society, and various pediatric specialties support children returning to 

school. The authors concluded that there is no scientific evidence regarding the role of 

 
125 https://academic.oup.com/cid/article/doi/10.1093/cid/ciaa794/5862649?searchresult=1 
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children in transmitting COVID-19. “Children today are paying a heavy price for the initial 

assumption that they were the primary vector for the circulation of the COVID-19 virus, by 

analogy with other viruses. We now know that this is not the case and that almost all of the 

children infected with COVID-19 were in contact with adults. Finding your playmates 

should not be considered as exposing them to particular risks. It is urgent to recall that 

communities of children, nurseries or classes, continued to exist during confinement, 

especially for the children of nursing staff. No epidemic was noted in these groups of 

children, while viral circulation was high among adults.”126 

311. Nature Medicine, a monthly peer-reviewed journal, published an article riddled with age-

structured epidemic data from China, Italy, Japan, Singapore, Canada, and South Korea that 

concludes individuals under 20 years of age are less susceptible than adults to become 

infected with COVID-19. Moreover, the authors found that interventions aimed at children 

might have a relatively small impact on reducing COVID-19 transmission. “Understanding 

the role of age in transmission and disease severity is critical for determining the likely 

impact of social-distancing interventions on SARS-CoV-2 transmission, especially those 

aimed at schools, and for estimating the expected global disease burden.” To explore school 

closure effects, the authors simulated three months of school closures with varying 

infectiousness of subclinical infections.  Their study found that school closures in response 

to COVID-19 did not have a substantial effect on cases. “...There were more clinical cases 

per capita projected in cities with older populations, and more subclinical infections 

projected in cities with younger populations. Among the three cities analyzed here, school 

closures had the least impact in Bulawayo, which has both the youngest population and the 

 
126 https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0987798320300438?via%3Dihub 
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fewest contacts in school relative to the other cities (19% of contacts for 0- to 14-year-olds 

occurring in school, compared with 39% in Birmingham and 48% in Milan).” Based on their 

simulation, the authors conclude, “In countries with younger population structures—such as 

many low-income countries—the expected per capita incidence of clinical cases would be 

lower than in countries with older population structures.”127 

Potential Rate of Error & General Acceptability 

312. “Additionally, in the case of a particular scientific technique, the court ordinarily should 

consider the known or potential rate of error. See, e.g., Smith, 869 F.2d at 350 (surveying 

studies of the error rate of spectrographic voice identification technique), and the existence 

and maintenance of standards controlling the technique's operation. See Williams, 583 F.2d 

1194 (noting professional organization's standard governing spectrographic analysis). 

313. Finally, "general acceptance" can have a bearing on the inquiry. A "reliability assessment 

does not require, although it does permit, explicit identification of a relevant scientific 

community and an express determination of a particular degree of acceptance within that 

community." United States v. Downing, 753 F.2d 1224, 1238 (3d Cir. 1985). See also 3 

Weinstein & Berger P702[03], pp. 702-41 to 702-42. Widespread acceptance can be an 

essential factor in ruling particular evidence admissible, and "a known technique which has 

been able to attract only minimal support within the community," Downing, 753 F.2d at 

1238, may properly be viewed with skepticism.” 

VIII. DEFENDANT’S PURPORTED “SCIENCE” DOES NOT SUPPORT THE USE OF MASKS TO 
PREVENT COVID-19 

314. There is currently no science, as the U.S. Supreme Court has defined it, which validates 

forcing a child to wear any mask throughout an entire school day to prevent the spread of 

 
127 https://www.nature.com/articles/s41591-020-0962-9 
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COVID-19 or prevent the child from contracting COVID-19.  The research includes all of 

the research cited by the CDC and others who recommend schools mandate the wearing of 

masks by children in schools.  It also includes additional research and studies, all of which 

demonstrate either mandating masks in schools for children has no statistical impact on the 

spread of COVID-19 or shows it has a negative impact. 

315. According to the American Medical Association: 

“Face masks should be used only by individuals who have symptoms of respiratory 
infection such as coughing, sneezing, or, in some cases, fever. Face masks should 
also be worn by healthcare workers, by individuals who are taking care of or are in 
close contact with people who have respiratory infections, or otherwise as directed 
by a doctor. Face masks should not be worn by healthy individuals to protect 
themselves from acquiring respiratory infection because there is no evidence to 
suggest that face masks worn by healthy individuals are effective in preventing 
people from becoming ill. Face masks should be reserved for those who need them 
because masks can be in short supply during periods of widespread respiratory 
infection. Because N95 respirators require special fit testing, they are not 
recommended for use by the general public.”128 

 

316. A literature review of the seventeen (17) top studies was analyzed and concluded that “None 

of the studies established a conclusive relationship between mask/respirator use and 

protection against influenza infection.”129 

A. CHILDREN ARE NOT “LITTLE ADULTS” 

317. Age-adjusted statistical analysis is conducted because almost all diseases or health outcomes 

occur at different rates in different age groups.130 The National Institutes of Health published 

a review of clinical data in 2017 declaring, “Children are not simply little adults. As a result, 

 
128 Journal of the American Medical Association (JAMA); April 21, 2020 Volume 323, Number 15 
https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/2762694 
129 ] bin-Reza F et al. The use of mask and respirators to prevent transmission of influenza: A systematic review of the 
scientific evidence. Resp Viruses 2012;6(4):257-67. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5779801/ 
130  https://www.health.ny.gov/statistics/cancer/registry/age.htm 
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extrapolating results from adult clinical trials to the treatment of children may be 

inappropriate and, possibly, harmful.” (emphasis added)131 

318. From the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic until today, the data and science have 

continued to demonstrate that children have a significantly low chance of becoming infected 

with COVID-19, and if infected, the outcomes are not likely to be severe compared to older 

adults and specific at-risk individuals.132  “Children are very much adapted to respond — 

and very well equipped to respond — to new viruses,” says Donna Farber, an immunologist 

at Columbia University in New York City. Even when they are infected with SARS-CoV-2, 

children are most likely to experience mild or asymptomatic illness.”133 A new model from 

researchers in Israel found that kids are half as susceptible to COVID-19 compared to 

adults.134 

319. As of September 15, 2021, 439 American children ages zero to 17 heartbreakingly died due 

to COVID-19, representing 0.0666% of the 658,754 total deaths in the United States.135 

Specifically in New York State, there have tragically been 17 children aged zero to nine and 

15 children aged ten to 19 who have died due to COVID-19.  This represents 0.0725% of 

the 44,133136 total New Yorkers who have passed away due to COVID-19.137 

320. It has been reported that children under the age of 15 have a greater chance of being struck 

by lightning than dying of COVID-19.138 

 
131 tps://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29191349/  
132  https://adc.bmj.com/content/106/5/429 
133 https://www.nature.com/articles/d41586-020-03496-7 
134 https://www.healthline.com/health-news/kids-are-half-as-likely-get-COVID-19-as-adults-heres-what-we-know 
135 https://www.statista.com/statistics/1191568/reported-deaths-from-covid-by-age-us/ 
136 The NYS DOH tracker has not been updated since Defendant Governor Hochul added more than 12,000 
additional deaths due to COVID-19, from 43,400 to 55,400, from what former Governor Cuomo and NYS DOH 
under his leadership had reported: https://www.foxnews.com/politics/kathy-hochul-adds-12k-deaths-to-covid-death-
count 
137 https://covid19tracker.health.ny.gov/views/NYS-COVID19-Tracker/NYSDOHCOVID-19Tracker-
Fatalities?%3Aembed=yes&%3Atoolbar=no&%3Atabs=n 
138 https://www.telegraph.co.uk/politics/2020/06/09/school-age-children-likely-hit-lightning-die-coronavirus-
oxbridge/?fbclid=IwAR0CjevkUPW3TFy8i_QPolumu_O-1ratcMUWJxP4I6EHr8EPFa3FFGB-gpw 
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321. Early epidemiologic reports on COVID-19 in children showed they are less likely than adults 

to be infected and have a severe illness. 

a.  In a large study published in Pediatrics, the official peer-reviewed journal of 
the American Academy of Pediatrics, researchers conducted the first 
retrospective epidemiologic analysis of disease spread and severity in 2,143 
confirmed or possible pediatric COVID-19 infections reported to the Chinese 
Center for Disease Control and Prevention. 

b.  The study analyzed children hospitalized in Wuhan, China (children were 
defined as being less than 18 years old). “Only one child died, and most cases 
were mild, with much fewer severe and critical cases than adult patients,” the 
study reported. 

c.  The findings suggest that compared with adult patients, clinical manifestations 
of children’s COVID-19 may be less severe.139  In fact, only one child (with 
cerebral palsy) died during the initial COVID-19 outbreak in Wuhan, China.  
Yan Cheng, a 16-year-old boy, died due to neglect because his sole caregiver 
contracted COVID-19 and was hospitalized. 140 

322. The New England Journal of Medicine, one of the most prestigious peer-reviewed medical 

journals, published an article outlining the dubious nature of children contracting and 

transmitting COVID-19 to adults. 

a.  The study tested people living in Iceland who were at high risk for infection 
along with a population screening that utilized two strategies: 1) open 
invitation to 10,797 people, 2) random invitations sent to 2283 people. A total 
of 1221 of 9119 people who were recruited for targeted testing had positive 
results. 87 people in the open-invitation and 13 people in the random 
population screening tested positive for the virus. 

b.  Children under 10 years of age were less likely to receive a positive result than 
were persons 10 years of age or older. Out of 564 children under the age of 10 
years in the targeted group testing, 38 tested positive, in contrast to positive 
test results of 1183 of 8635 people who were 10 years of age or older. 

c.  The study found that “[i]n the population-screening group, the difference was 
even more marked: none of the 848 children under the age of 10 years tested 
positive….” Based on the study’s results, the article concluded that children 
are underrepresented in COVID-19 cases, especially severe and fatal cases.141 

 

 
139 https://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/pediatrics/early/2020/03/16/peds.2020-0702.full.pdf 
140 https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-china-51362772 
141 https://www.nejm.org/doi/pdf/10.1056/NEJMoa2006100 



- 78 - 
 

323. In late April 2020, scientists at France’s Institute Pasteur, an international research and 

education institution founded in 1887, with the support of the Hauts-de-France Regional 

Health Agency and the Amiens Education Authority, carried out an epidemiological survey 

on 1,340 people linked to primary schools in Crépy-en-Valois, in the Oise department. 

"Overall, the results of this study are comparable to those of studies carried out in other 

countries, which suggest that children aged between 6 and 11 are generally infected in a 

family environment rather than at school. The main new finding is that the infected children 

did not spread the virus to other children or teachers or other school staff," commented 

Arnaud Fontanet, lead author of the study, Head of the Epidemiology of Emerging Diseases 

Unit at the Institute Pasteur and a Professor at the CNAM.142 

324. A report by McKinsey and Company, one of the most prominent management consultants 

globally, notes that children have a much lower risk of contracting COVID-19 than adults. 

325. Researchers found that: 

“The most critical question is whether reopening schools will lead to a resurgence 
of infection among students, staff, and the broader community. The evidence here 
is still nascent. Children’s risk of contracting COVID-19 appears to be lower than 
that of adults. In China and the United States, the countries with the largest number 
of confirmed COVID-19 cases, children represent 2 percent of cases. Emerging 
evidence also suggests that children are more likely to be asymptomatic, less likely 
to be hospitalized, and much less likely to die if they do develop COVID-19.” 

 
326. The McKinsey report also underscored the importance of in-person schooling: 

“Every year, students in the United States lose a month’s worth of learning over the 
summer, with the sharpest learning declines in math, seen especially in low-income 
students. One recent analysis projects that students could return in the fall, having 
progressed only 70 percent of a grade in reading and less than 50 percent of a grade 
in math during the 2019–20 school year. If closures extend beyond the fall, this 
shortfall could be even greater, with negative consequences for individual students 
and society. Beyond academics, schools provide important social support, 

 
142 https://www.pasteur.fr/en/press-area/press-documents/COVID-19-primary-schools-no-significant-transmission-
among-children-students-teachers 
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especially to vulnerable students. Indeed, 19 percent of reports of child abuse or 
neglect in the United States come through education personnel, and school closures 
have resulted in a steep drop in such reports. This change suggests that school 
closures have shut down support sources for victims of abuse. Reports of domestic 
violence increased more than 30 percent in France, 50 percent in India, and 60 
percent in Mexico. With such high stakes, systems that can consistently deliver 
remote student services—nutrition, safety, and mental health support—can likely 
weather longer closures than those who cannot.”143 

 

327. The Journal of Pediatrics, the official peer-reviewed journal of the American Academy of 

Pediatrics, published a Commentary that explores the scientific complexities of children 

transmitting COVID-19. The following represent the salient points of the commentary: 

a.  The authors deduced that children infrequently transit COVID-19 to adults, 
basing their conclusions on a new study published in Pediatrics, "COVID-19 
in Children and the Dynamics of Infection in Families," and four other recent 
studies that examine COVID-19 transmission by and among children. 

b.  Referencing cases in China, Japan, France, and Australia, the authors further 
elaborate that children are not “driving the pandemic.” For example, contact 
tracing of 40 children under 16 years of age with confirmed cases of SARS-
CoV-2 at the Geneva University Hospital in Geneva, Switzerland, from March 
10 to April 10, were identified along with their infected household contacts. 

c.  In only 3 cases did children exhibit symptoms of illness before their adult 
household contacts. In all other cases, the children exhibited symptoms after, 
or concurrent with, their adult household contacts. 

d.  This alludes to the notion that the child was not the primary source of the 
virus’s transmission, therefore more often obtaining COVID-19 from adults, 
rather than being the transmitters themselves. 

e.  This study coincides with investigations performed in China, where 68 
children confirmed with COVID-19 were admitted into Qingdao Women’s and 
Children’s Hospital from January 20 to February 27, 2020. 65 of these infected 
cases were household contacts of previously affected adults, which amounts to 
95.59% of the total number of cases. 

f.   An understanding of these studies demonstrates that the transmission of SARS-
CoV-2 in schools is not as profound a predicament as initially considered. 

g.  As the authors state, “Almost 6 months into the pandemic, accumulating 
evidence and collective experience argue that children, particularly school-
aged children, are far less important drivers of SARS-CoV-2 transmission than 
adults.” 

 
143 https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/social-sector/our-insights/safely-back-to-school-after-coronavirus-closures 
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h.  School re-opening in the fall is imperative to children's well-being and healthy 
development, the authors say. "Therefore, serious consideration should be paid 
toward strategies that allow schools to remain open, even during periods of 
COVID-19 spread. In doing so, we could minimize the potentially profound 
adverse social, developmental, and health costs that our children will continue 
to suffer until an effective treatment or vaccine can be developed and 
distributed or, failing that until we reach herd immunity," the article 
concludes.144 

328. The Indian Journal of Pediatrics published a scientific letter that assesses the intricacies of 

transmission of COVID-19 in children.  The authors affirmed that a notable feature of the 

COVID-19 pandemic is that children account for less than 2% of total cases, and most 

develop only mild illness. “Even when children with comorbidities are being reported at risk 

of severe disease, mortality was very rare. Many asymptomatic infections were noted.  Most 

acquired infection from close contact with adults in family clusters. However, transmission 

from children to others was rare,” the letter stated. 

329. Pulling data from cases in China, Spain, and Sweden, the authors conclude that “it might be 

prudent to anticipate an optimistic scenario when schools open.”145 

330. On June 24, 2020, at an emergency local school board meeting to discuss reopening schools, 

Dr. Mark McDonald, a psychiatrist who specialized in children and at-risk youth, stated: 

"Children are not dying from COVID-19.  Children are not passing the disease on 
to adults.  So the only question is, "Why are we even having this meeting tonight?"  
We're meeting because we adults are afraid. 
As parents, we will face many moments of anxiety: seeing our children off on their 
first day of kindergarten, their first day of camp, their first year of college.  We may 
want to keep them home to protect them from the world, which can indeed be a 
frightening place.  But let’s be clear, when we do that, we are not really protecting 
our children.  We are only attempting to manage our own anxiety, and we do that 
at their expense.  We are acting as negligent parents.  We are harming our children.  
We are failing them. 
We must agree to make decisions in the best interest of the children.  If we do not 
- if, paralyzed by fear, we continue to act purely out of self-interest - we will ensure 

 
144 https://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/pediatrics/early/2020/07/08/peds.2020-004879.full.pdf 
145 https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12098-020-03401-0#author-information 
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an entire generation of traumatized young adults, consigned to perpetual 
adolescence and residency in their parents’ garages, unable to move through life 
with independence, courage, and confidence.  They deserve better - we owe it to 
them as parents."146 
 

331. “What is truly driving the agenda to close schools,” questions Daniel Horowitz, senior editor 

of The Conservative Review. Horowitz wrote an article that compares and contrasts the flu 

and COVID-19 in children while expounding on research that highlights the deadliness of 

the flu season to children. “The reality is that every flu season, many more children die from 

this common ailment than have from COVID-19,” Horowitz claimed. He argued that, unlike 

the flu, COVID-19 presents rare pediatric deaths and severe conditions among children. 

“Even those who suffer no serious consequences [of the flu] are often bedridden for a week 

or longer with high fever, muscle ache, and incessant coughing, unlike COVID-19, where 

almost every child who develops it is asymptomatic or very mildly symptomatic.”  

332. Throughout the article, Horowitz cites specific examples of severe flu in children, and 

questions discrepancies in its overall treatment (specifically in school settings) compared 

with COVID-19 –  

“… if we are going to limit or modify or schooling and mandate that kids wear 
suffocating masks all day, shouldn’t this be done every year from November to 
April – by a factor of 10? And given that the flu does linger for all months of the 
year, at least at the threat level of COVID-19 to children during the off months, if 
schools are closed for COVID-19, shouldn’t they always be closed because of the 
flu?”147 

 
333. Even vaccination research and protocols separate adults from children and further 

distinguish various age brackets within children.148 

 
146 ttps://www.markmcdonaldmd.com/?s=09.  
147  https://www.conservativereview.com/news/horowitz-panicmongers-consistent-wed-close-schools-every-flu-
season/ 
148 https://theconversation.com/kids-arent-just-littler-adults-heres-why-they-need-their-own-clinical-trials-for-a-
COVID-19-vaccine-162821; See also https://www.cedars-sinai.org/blog/COVID-19-vaccine-trials-children.html; 
see also https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0264410X15010634?via%3Dihub 
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B. POTENTIAL LONG-TERM DETRIMENTS OF MASKING CHILDREN OUTWEIGHS THE 
PURPORTED BENEFITS OF PREVENTING THE SPREAD OF COVID-19. 

334. There are well-established negative Behavioral, Physiological, and Psychological Effects of 

wearing masks in children. Face masks are proven to be relatively ineffective in preventing 

the wearer from becoming infected by the virus that causes COVID-19, according to a study 

of over 6,000 subjects.149 

335. However, masks do cause significant behavioral, physiological, and psychological effects, 

especially when masks are mandated among and around children.  

336. A German survey asked 20,353 parents if their children (nearly 26,000 children in total) 

experienced adverse side effects of mask usage.  

337. In the study, 68% of the parents reported that their children experienced impairments, 

including 60% reporting irritability, 53% reporting headaches, 50% reporting difficulty 

concentrating, 42% malaise, 37% reporting learning fatigue, and 38% reporting impaired 

learning.150 

338. Adults are also proven to experience adverse side effects of mask usage. A study of 

healthcare workers showed that 91.3% of subjects using PPE with existing headache 

diagnoses claimed that the PPE affected their headaches and diminished their work 

performance.151 A similar study showed that 81% of healthcare workers studied developed 

headaches from wearing masks.152 

339. Other research has shown that extensive wearing of masks decreases oxygen to the brain.  

Many children may experience learning impairment, and adults may experience headaches 

 
149 https://www.lifesitenews.com/opinion/study-shows-how-masks-are-harming-children/ 
150 https://www.researchsquare.com/article/rs-124394/v2 
151 https://headachejournal.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/head.13811 
152 ttps://www.technocracy.news/blaylock-face-masks-pose-serious-risks-to-the-healthy/ 
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when forced to wear masks because of a lack of oxygen in the bloodstream. The same study 

showing 81% of healthcare workers developed mask-related headaches acknowledged that 

the cause of the headaches was likely “hypoxia or hypercapnia” (decrease in blood oxygen 

or increase in blood CO2). Many studies have proven that mask usage is related to a 

significant decrease in blood oxygen levels—up to 20% decrease in some cases.153 

340. Furthermore, this decrease in blood oxygen can be incredibly dangerous for children and 

detrimental to their proper development. The Japan Pediatric Association warns that masks 

on infants can impair their breathing, increase the burden on their hearts, and increase the 

risk of heatstroke.154 

341. Additionally, Dr. Margarite Griesz-Brison, a German Consultant Neurologist and 

Neurophysiologist, has warned that all children are at risk of adverse developmental effects 

when made to wear masks – “Children and adolescents have an extremely active and 

adaptive immune system, and they need constant interaction with the microbiome of the 

Earth. Their brain is also incredibly active, as it has so much to learn. The child’s brain or 

the youth’s brain is thirsting for oxygen. The more metabolically active the organ is, the 

more oxygen it requires.  In children and adolescents, every organ is metabolically active.”155 

342. Dr. Griesz-Brison notes that children are more negatively impacted by the lack of oxygen 

and the inability to interact with pathogens to develop strong immune systems than they are 

assisted by them. Id. 

343. Masks become even more dangerous once saturated from saliva, dirt, sweat, or other 

substances. While completely dry and functioning as intended, masks still reduce the 

 
153 https://www.technocracy.news/blaylock-face-masks-pose-serious-risks-to-the-healthy/; see also 
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15340662/; see also  https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18500410/ 
154 https://www.japantimes.co.jp/news/2020/05/27/national/masks-children-coronavirus/ 
155 https://perma.cc/Q568-Y2H2 
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wearer’s oxygen intake and increase their take in of CO2. However, masks, as used by the 

public, are rarely dry and functioning as intended. 

344. Research shows that masks become even more dangerous and constricting when they are 

wet, dirty, or overused. A study of the efficacy of cloth masks versus surgical masks found 

that cloth masks were inadvisable because “[m]oisture retention, reuse of cloth masks and 

poor filtration may result in increased risk of infection.”156 Accordingly, the moisture 

retention of cloth masks blocks respiration and increases the CO2 trapped in the mouth-

space, further endangering the wearer. 

345. The dangers of this saturation were seen in China when three schoolchildren in different 

regions died due to respiration-related difficulties while wearing masks during gym class. A 

report cited the events suggesting that mask saturation may have been a cause for the deaths:    

“Temperatures in China’s southern provinces have risen in recent days, with 
students having gym class during the hottest hours of the day. Yin Zhenhe, a 
professor in the department of preventative medicine at Yonsei University Hospital 
in Seoul, told CCTV that once a mask is saturated (from sweat), a person’s 
breathing capability decreases by up to 20%.”157 

 

346. COVID-19 deaths have also been connected with secondary fungal infection. A recent study 

from India found that cloth mask use significantly increases the risk of developing 

Coronavirus disease-associated mucormycosis (“CAM”) (a deadly fungal infection of the 

lungs seen primarily in COVID-19 patients in India sometimes referred to as “Black Fungus” 

infection). “Use of surgical or cloth masks for prolonged periods was found to be associated 

with an increased risk of CAM.” 158 

 
156  https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4420971/ 
157 https://www.thatsmags.com/china/post/31100/student-deaths-lead-schools-to-adjust-rules-on-masks-while-
exercising 
158 Umang Arora et al., Novel risk factors for Coronavirus disease-associated mucormycosis (CAM): a case-control 
study during the outbreak in India, MEDRXIV (forthcoming 2021), available at 
https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.07.24.21261040. 
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347. Ironically, Dr. Anthony Fauci and other scientific and medical professionals published a 

study in 2008 establishing that most of the deaths in the pandemic of 1918 were not from 

influenza; instead, the deaths were caused by secondary bacterial infections that developed 

into pneumonia.159 

C. THE EFFECTS OF MASKS ON THE SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT OF STUDENTS 

348. Other studies show that repeated and extensive wearing of masks in children impairs child 

recognition and language development.  

349. The physical dangers that masks pose to children also threaten severe developmental 

challenges. Child psychologists have studied the relationship between child development of 

recognition abilities through exposure to the facial expressions of adults around them since 

long before the COVID-19 pandemic. 

350. Kang Lee, a professor of applied psychology and human development at the University of 

Toronto, says that children under 12 rely mostly on facial features to recognize people.160 

351. David Lewkowicz, senior scientist at Haskins Laboratories and professor adjunct at the Yale 

Child Study Center, verifies: 

“There’s general agreement now that somewhere between four to five years of age 
is where the ability to start to perceive faces as holistic objects begins to emerge .... 
Now, if you imagine that those kids are now living in a world where half the face 
is blocked, that is clearly going to have an effect on the development of this ability, 
which is really really important for face recognition.”161 

 

352. Similarly, Lee suggests that speech recognition is developed in young children through the 

child’s watching of lips and facial movements as well as facial recognition. 

 
159 Morens D.M., et al., Predominant role of bacterial pneumonia as a cause of death in pandemic influenza: 
implications for pandemic influenza preparedness, 198 J Infect Dis. 962 (2008), available at 
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18710327/. 
160 https://www.advisory.com/daily-briefing/2020/09/17/masks 
161 https://www.cbc.ca/news/science/children-masks-language-speech-faces-1.5948037 
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353. Lewkowicz has demonstrated this with his research tracking the eye movements of children 

when watching a woman speak to them: 

“What we discovered, in a nutshell, was that at four months of age babies were 
really interested in the eyes of the talker. But then at eight months of age there was 
a really dramatic shift … where they started to look much more at the mouth region 
of the person that was talking to them.” 
 

354. When masks obscure these features of the nose and lips, the communication development of 

young children can be delayed. Amy Learmonth, professor of Psychology at William 

Patterson University, concurs that young children need visual cues to learn language and 

communication skills “because learning a new word when you don't have any is 

complicated.”162 

355. Learmonth also warns about the harms that delay in the development of these skills due to 

the usage of masks in the COVID-19 pandemic can cause: “Anyone who is just a little behind 

in language development or a little behind in understanding social cues -- what concerns me 

is that they will fall further behind.” 

356. Facial expressions are essential for gathering information about the people you interact with 

to understand how they feel and guide one’s interaction.163 

357. This interpretive skill is essential to successful emotional and language development in 

adolescence. Children who are better at reading facial expressions perform better in school, 

socially and are more popular with their peers. 

358. Alternatively, children less adept at interpreting facial expressions are prone to “peer 

problems and learning difficulties.”164 

 
162 ttps://www.cnn.com/2021/08/11/health/masks-child-development-effects-covid-pandemic-wellness/index.html 
163 https://www.verywellmind.com/understanding-emotions-through-facial-expressions-3024851 
164  https://parentingscience.com/facial-expressions-for-kids/ 
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359. Children exhibit more expressive control the older they get – meaning that they try to hide 

negative emotions from appearing in their facial expressions as they age and understand the 

effect their facial expressions have on the people around them.165 The development of these 

skills lasts through the majority of adolescence, as children only reach an adult-level of facial 

expression recognition around the age of eleven.166 

360. Studies suggest that culture is also vital to developing a child’s face-reading abilities because 

different cultures read expressions differently based on their cultural context.167 

361. David Lewkowicz of the Yale Child Study Center demonstrates the necessity of facial 

expressions to child development in a study of lip-reading in babies. Lewkowicz says that 

babies begin looking at the mouth around 6-8 months old: “they spend a lot of time looking 

at that person’s mouth, trying to master their own native speech, getting not only auditory 

cues but visual.”168 The fact that very young babies instinctively look for the mouth of the 

person communicating with them shows how essential seeing the mouth is to communicating 

with facial expressions. 

362. Kang Lee of the Development Lab at the University of Toronto suggests that reading facial 

expressions is a part of human evolution: “As humans evolved from primates, we shed a lot 

of facial hair. There’s good reason for it—it highlights the eyes and other facial features so 

we can read important information about another person. By just looking at a face you can 

see what group or race they belong to, their age, and whether they are male or female.”169 

Lee highlights the importance of the most subtle aspects of facial expression to emotional 

 
165 ttps://www.jstor.org/stable/1130411 
166  https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25492258/; see also https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16472321/ 
167 Crivelli C, Jarillo S, Russell JA, Fernández-Dols JM. 2016. Reading emotions from faces in two indigenous 
societies. J Exp Psychol Gen. 145(7):830-43. 
168 https://www.nytimes.com/2020/09/14/well/family/Masks-child-development.html 
169 https://dana.org/article/losing-face/ 
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communication: “Once you make social contact, the face also is a source of emotional 

information. The brain can very efficiently manipulate the facial muscles to convey different 

kinds of emotions, even extremely subtle changes in our emotions. It’s not a surprise that 

the brain has set aside a special area so we can quickly perceive and process this 

information.” 

363. The information communicated through the face is so important to human communication 

that an entire section of the brain is dedicated to interpreting the faces around us. When these 

faces are masked, however, this facial communication essential to human expression is 

blocked. 

364. Facial expressions, and therefore the ability to freely speak and express one’s self are 

blocked by masks. In a study by Claus-Christian Carbon, a perceptual psychologist at the 

University of Bamberg, participants aged 19-87 viewed photos of faces depicting different 

emotions with medical masks covering their mouths and noses and were asked to identify 

what emotions they perceived. 

365. Participants reported that they had difficulty judging the emotions of the faces - especially 

the “happy” emotions - when the faces were covered with masks. Carbon concluded that 

masks covering the face make perception of emotion much more difficult even for adults 

with fully developed facial recognition abilities: “If you don’t have as much information 

about the face, it makes sense that processing will be hampered. But what we also saw was 

that participants had lower confidence in their own perceptual ability when reading those 

faces. Given that emotional expressions are one of the most efficient ways of communicating 

to other people, this is something that does have an impact.”170 

 
170 https://dana.org/article/losing-face/ 
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366. A similar experiment was conducted in Wisconsin with children as participants rather than 

adults. The results of this study found that “participants were less accurate at reading 

emotions on masked compared to unmasked faces, but their accuracy was still above 

chance.”171 This means that children, whose facial recognition abilities are still developing, 

can use context to make educated guesses about what emotion a masked face is expressing; 

however, their ability to recognize emotion is still considerably hindered when the face is 

covered. 

367. The effect of this masking is a decrease in the personal ability to share emotions with others, 

as others have a proven impaired ability to read emotion on masked faces, but also a decrease 

in child ability to develop emotional health and communication abilities through the essential 

interaction with facial expressions in their environment. 

368. The conclusion to be reached is that masks are detrimental to a child’s development, health, 

and ability to communicate. According to Dr. Michael Unger, a family therapist and 

researcher at Dalhousie University: “With widespread masking, we may unintentionally be 

disadvantaging younger children from developing the necessary skills to discern emotions 

and the neurological changes that make it possible to distinguish one face from another.”172 

369. Unger cautions, “It is likely that younger children are not being exposed to the many 

different facial expressions which stimulate good neurocognitive development” when they 

live in a social environment in which the faces and emotions around them are masked and 

made more difficult to perceive and learn from.” 

 
171 https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33362251/ 
172 https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/nurturing-resilience/202012/will-wearing-masks-affect-children-s-
emotional-development 
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370. This underdevelopment in younger kids is met with an even more alarming negative 

emotional effect of masked social communities on older children.  

371. According to Ashley Ruba, a postdoctoral fellow in the Child Emotion Lab at the University 

of Wisconsin-Madison, “People are focused on the mask-wearing as something that will hurt 

kids, but what may be of more concern is that so many children are isolated from their friends 

or struggling with virtual school. We don’t know yet what may have long-term effects on 

development or mental health. These are things that we should be looking at carefully as we 

move forward.”173 

372. Older children are suffering from the lack of communication and the ability to express 

themselves when they are kept out of social environments or put in social environments in 

which they are masked and cannot properly communicate or gauge the emotions of those 

around them. 

373. This physical and emotional isolation has led to increased child suicide rates in the last year, 

with many children citing social isolation as a stressor in their life leading to the decision to 

commit suicide.174 

374. JAMA Pediatrics published a research letter approved by the Ethics Committee of Tongji 

Medical College and Huazhong University of Science and Technology. Using Hubei 

Province, China as its case study, this research investigated the mental health status of 

children in home confinement during COVID-19. Depression and anxiety symptoms were 

two driving health risks identified among students in Hubei. A total of 2330 students in 

grades 2 through 6 in 2 primary schools in Hubei province, of whom 845 were from Wuhan 

 
173 https://dana.org/article/losing-face/ 
174 https://www.cbs58.com/news/3-out-of-5-teens-who-died-by-suicide-in-milwaukee-county-last-year-cited-virtual-
learning-as-a-stressor 
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and 1485 were from Huangshi, were invited to complete a survey between February 28 and 

March 5, 2020. The information included sex, school grade, optimism about the epidemic, 

whether they worried about being infected by COVID-19, and depressive and anxiety 

symptoms measured by the Children’s Depression Inventory–Short Form (CDI-S) and the 

Screen for Child Anxiety Related Emotional Disorders, respectively. The study concluded: 

“22.6% of students reported having depressive symptoms, which is higher than other 

investigations in primary schools of China (17.2%). During the outbreak of COVID-19, the 

reduction of outdoor activities and social interaction may have been associated with an 

increase in children’s depressive symptoms. Our study found that 18.9% of students reported 

anxiety symptoms, which is higher than the prevalence in other surveys.” 175 

375. There are many other public health concerns such as increases in child abuse and neglect176 

malnutrition,177 mental health,178 as well as increases in alcohol and drug use179 associated 

with keeping kids out of school.180 

D. THE EFFECTS OF MASKS ON THE EMOTIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF STUDENTS 

376. Research also reveals that mask-wearing impairs a child’s emotional development, which is 

arguably even more important than the development of recognition and language abilities. 

 
175 https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamapediatrics/fullarticle/2765196 
176 https://www.nytimes.com/2020/06/09/nyregion/coronavirus-nyc-child-abuse.html; see also 
https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/nation/2020/05/13/hospitals-seeing-more-severe-child-abuse-injuries-during-
coronavirus/3116395001/ 
177 https://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMp2005638; see also 
https://www.forbes.com/sites/alexandrasternlicht/2020/05/06/the-number-of-mothers-reporting-food-insecurity-has-
jumped-more-than-200-since-start-of-pandemic/amp/?__twitter_impression=true.  
178  https://www.washingtonpost.com/health/2020/05/04/mental-health-coronavirus/ 
 See also https://www.today.com/parents/mental-load-coronavirus-pandemic-means-moms-take-more-t179021.  
179 https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/daily-life-coping/stress-coping/alcohol-use.html; see also 
https://www.shatterproof.org/blog/why-COVID-19-perfect-storm-addiction-world 
180 https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/public-sector/our-insights/COVID-19-and-student-learning-in-the-united-
states-the-hurt-could-last-a-lifetime; see also: https://www.today.com/parents/parents-children-disabilities-discuss-
remote-school-t187677; see also https://www.nbcnews.com/business/consumer/what-do-working-parents-do-when-
coronavirus-closes-local-schools-n1150671 
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377. According to psychologists, emotional development is dependent on the child’s ability to 

see the communication of emotions through the facial expressions of the adults around them. 

Kang Lee explains that “face masks obscure the ‘facial musculature’ people use to 

communicate ‘emotional information.’” 

378. Because of this, “children will likely have problems with ‘emotional recognition and social 

interaction’” as a result of mask mandates during the COVID-19 pandemic.181 

379. A group of 70 doctors in Belgium found this threat to emotional development severe enough 

to sign a petition asking Ben Weyts, the Minister of Education in Belgium, to repeal his 

mask mandate in schools. The complaint of these physicians on behalf of children states: 

“The mandatory mouth mask in schools is a major threat to their development. It 
ignores the essential needs of the growing child. The well-being of children and 
young people is highly dependent on the emotional connection with others. (…). 
The aim of education is to create an optimal context so that a maximum 
development of young people is possible. The school environment must be a safe 
practice field. The mouth mask obligation, on the other hand, makes the school a 
threatening and unsafe environment, where emotional connection becomes 
difficult.”182 

 
IX. A MASK MANDATE FOR STUDENTS WITH DISABILITIES IS A VIOLATION OF THE IDEA, 

ADA, §504, §1983, AND OTHER FEDERAL LAW 

 

380. The effects of wearing masks are heightened for children with disabilities. Dominique 

Payment, an Autism Canada family support representative, says that children and adults with 

autism “have trouble with sensory processing, as well as tactile, olfactory, and nervous-

system hypersensitivity that wearing a mask could aggravate.”183 

 
181 https://www.advisory.com/daily-briefing/2020/09/17/masks 
182 ] https://www.world-today-news.com/70-doctors-in-open-letter-to-ben-weyts-abolish-mandatory-mouth-mask-at-
school-belgium/ 
183 https://globalnews.ca/news/6967625/coronavirus-canada-face-masks-disabilities/ 
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381. This, coupled with Amy Learmonth’s statement that “anyone who is just a little behind in 

language development or a little behind in understanding social cues … will fall further 

behind” demonstrates the way that mask mandates negatively impact students with 

disabilities in a more heightened way than it impacts able children.184 

382. Children with disabilities are not only negatively impacted when they are made to wear a 

mask, impairing their physical well-being, but they are negatively impacted when their able 

classmates are made to wear masks, impairing their development of essential recognition, 

language, and emotional abilities even more so than those wearing the masks are impaired. 

383. As further described below, the mask-mandate also directly violates the rights of students 

with disabilities under the IDEA, the ADA, §504, and other relevant federal and state laws. 

384. As further described below, the mask-mandate also directly violates the rights of students 

with disabilities under the IDEA, the ADA, §504, and other relevant federal and state laws. 

A. A MASK, BY DEFINITION, IS A “MEDICAL DEVICE” 

385. Under the 1976 Medical Device Amendments, the Food Drug and Cosmetics Act (“FDCA”) 

defines a medical device as: 

“an instrument, apparatus, implement, machine, contrivance, implant ... or other 
similar or related article ... intended for use in the diagnosis of disease or other 
conditions, or in the cure, mitigation, treatment, or prevention of disease . . . [or] 
intended to affect the structure or any function of the body of man.., and which does 
not achieve any of its principal intended purposes through chemical action within 
or on the body.”185 

386. Under federal law, masks (surgical and otherwise), as well as face coverings, are regulated 

devices and require FDA approval or authorization when used for a medical purpose. 

Mitigating the spread of an infectious disease is defined as a medical purpose. 

 
184 https://www.cnn.com/2021/08/11/health/masks-child-development-effects-covid-pandemic-wellness/index.html.  
185 Lanier, Veronica, Medical Device Eligibility for the Statutory Experimental Use Exception to Patent Infringment, 
HASTINGS COMMUNICATIONS AND ENTERTAINMENT LAW JOURNAL, Vol. 17, No. 3 (1995); see also, PL 94–295 (S 
510), PL 94–295, May 28, 1976, 90 Stat 539 
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387. None of the masks currently available for COVID-19 are approved or licensed by the federal 

government for children to use. 

388. Accordingly, those masks available to the general public outside hospitals are made available 

on a conditional basis through an Emergency Use Authorization (“EUA”).186 

389. By the express terms of their EUA letters and the governing statutes that regulate EUA 

products, a primary condition is that masks may not be mandated. 

390. The EUA letters issued by the FDA clarify that masks, even surgical masks, have not been 

established as safe or effective for use in mitigating infection. 

391. In fact, the FDA has labeled masks experimental devices requiring, inter alia, that the user 

must be advised of his right to refuse to use the experimental device or product. See 21 

U.S.C. § 360bbb-3(e)(1)(A) (“Section 360bbb-3”). 

392. The FDA takes the position that the terms and conditions of EUAs preempt state and local 

laws. See 21 U.S.C. § 360(k)(a): 

“GENERAL RULE. Except as provided in subsection (b), no State or political 
subdivision of a State may establish or continue in effect with respect to a device 
intended for human use any requirement that would impose obligations that are 
inconsistent with those terms and conditions.”  
 
See, also, Emergency Use Authorization of Medical Products and Related 
Authorities: Guidance for Industry and Other Stakeholders: 
 
          “FDA believes that the terms and conditions of an EUA issued under section 
564 preempt state or local law, both legislative requirements and common-law 
duties, that impose different or additional requirements on the medical product for 
which the EUA was issued in the context of the emergency declared under section 
564…To the extent state or local law may impose requirements different from or 
in addition to those imposed by the EUA for a particular medical product within 
the scope of the declared emergency or threat of emergency (e.g., requirements on 
prescribing, dispensing, administering, or labeling of the medical product), such 
law ‘stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes 

 
186 https://www.fda.gov/medical-devices/coronavirus-disease-2019-covid-19-emergency-use-authorizations-
medical-devices/personal-protective-equipment-euas#surgicalmasks.  
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and objectives of Congress,’ and ‘conflicts with the exercise of Federal authority 
under [§ 564].’”187 

 
393. The Mask EUAs each specify that “emergency use of face masks must be consistent with, 

and may not exceed, the terms of this letter….”. 

394. Further, the Mask EUA’s state that the products must not be labeled in such a manner that 

would misrepresent the product’s intended use; for example, the labeling must not state or 

imply that the product is intended for antimicrobial or antiviral protection or related uses or 

is for use such as infection prevention or reduction. 

395. Similarly, in its Enforcement Policy for Face Masks and Respirators During the Coronavirus 

Disease (COVID-19) Public Health Emergency (Revised),188 the FDA stated in three 

instances that masks are not intended to reduce or prevent infection: The product is not 

intended for any use that would create an undue risk in light of the public health emergency, 

for example, the labeling does not include uses for antimicrobial or antiviral protection or 

related uses or uses for infection prevention or reduction or related uses and does not include 

particulate filtration claims. 

B. THE IMPLEMENTATION OF A MASK MANDATE FUNDAMENTALLY ALTERS THE TERMS OF 
THE STUDENT’S INDIVIDUAL EDUCATION PLAN (IEP) AND THUS VIOLATES THE IDEA AND 

TRIGGERS PENDENCY 

396. Under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”), The IDEA contains a so-

called “stay put” or “pendency” provision that provides as follows: “during the pendency of 

any proceedings conducted pursuant to this section, unless the State or local educational 

agency and parent otherwise agree, the child shall remain in the then-current educational 

 
187 See guidance at 39-40 available at https://www.fda.gov/regulatory-information/search-fda-guidance-
documents/emergency-useauthorization-medical-products-and-related-authorities 
188 FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION, Enforcement Policy for Face Masks and Respirators During the 
Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Public Health Emergency (Revised May 2020), 
https://www.fda.gov/media/136449/download. 
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placement of the child . . . until all such proceedings have been completed." 20 U.S.C. § 

1415(j); see also 34 C.F.R. § 300.518(a) and in New York State, N.Y. EDUC. L. § 4404(a). 

397. The pendency provision evinces the Congressional intent that all disabled children, 

“regardless of whether their case is meritorious or not, are to remain in their current 

educational placement until the dispute with regard to their placement is ultimately 

resolved.” Mackey ex rel. Thomas M. v. Bd. of Educ. For Arlington Cent. Sch. Dist., 386 

F.3d 158, 160 (2d Cir.), supplemented sub nom. Mackey v. Bd. of Educ. for Arlington Cent. 

Sch. Dist., 112 F. App'x 89 (2d Cir. 2004). 

398. “The purpose of this provision is ‘to maintain the educational status quo while the parties’ 

dispute is being resolved.’” Avaras v. Clarkstown Central School District, et al., 18-CV-

6964 (NSR), Docket Entry No. 30 (S.D.N.Y. August 27, 2018); Doe v. E. Lyme Bd. of Educ., 

790 F.3d 440, 452 (2d Cir. 2015) (quoting, T.M. ex rel. A.M. v. Cornwall Cent. Sch. Dist., 

752 F.3d 145, 152 (2d Cir. 2014)). 

399. The “stay put” provision codifies a student’s right to a stable learning environment during 

what may become a lengthy administrative and/or judicial proceeding.  Avaras, supra; 

Murphy v. Arlington Cent. Sch. Dist. Bd. of Educ., 297 F.3d 195, 199 (2d Cir. 2002).  

Moreover, as alleged above, this “stay put” operates in a due process challenge “regardless 

of whether the [underlying] case is meritorious or not.” Avaras, Id.; Doe, 790 F.3d at 453; 

E. Z.-L. ex rel. R.L. v. New York City Dep't of Educ., 763 F. Supp. 2d 584, 598–99 (S.D.N.Y. 

2011), aff'd sub nom. R.E. v. New York City Dep't of Educ., 694 F.3d 167 (2d Cir. 2012). 

400. The IDEA’s “stay put” provision is essentially an automatic preliminary injunction requiring 

the school district to maintain the student’s educational placement.  Murphy, 297 F.3d 195. 

In this regard, the IDEA: 
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substitutes an absolute rule in favor of the status quo for the court’s discretionary 
consideration of the factors of irreparable harm, and either a likelihood of success 
on the merits or a fair ground for litigation and a balance of hardships. See, Board 
of Educ. v. J.P., 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 105102at *7 (E.D.N.Y. June 21, 2018) 
(citing Zvi D. by Shirley D. v. Ambach, 694 F.2d 904, 906 (2d Cir. 1982)); see also 
34 C.F.R. § 300.518(a) and N.Y. Educ. Law § 4404(a). 

 
401. The IDEA’s “stay-put” codified at 20 U.S.C. § 1415(j) functions as an automatic preliminary 

injunction, without regard to factors such as irreparable harm or likelihood of success on the 

merits.  Strother v. S. California Permanente Med. Grp., 79 F.3d 859 (9th Cir. 1996), as 

amended on denial of reh'g (Apr. 22, 1996), as amended on denial of reh'g (June 3, 1996); 

Casey K. ex rel. Norman K. v. St. Anne Cmty. High Sch. Dist. No. 302, 400 F.3d 508, 511 

(7th Cir. 2005) (comparing a stay put injunction to an automatic stay in a bankruptcy case); 

Wagner v. Bd. of Educ. of Montgomery Cty., 335 F.3d 297, 301 (4th Cir. 2003) (noting that 

an “injunction is automatic”). 

402. The “stay-put” interim relief also includes the requirement to continue funding the disabled 

student’s current educational placement until the proceedings are complete.  See Doe, 790 

F.3d at 452; T.M. ex rel. A.M., 752 F.3d at 171; E. Z.-L. ex rel. R.L., 763 F. Supp. 2d at 599.  

“This provision aims to preserve public funding for an educational placement ‘consented to 

by the parent before the parent requested a due process hearing. To cut off public funds 

would amount to a unilateral change in placement, prohibited by the Act.’” Mackey ex rel. 

Thomas M., 386 F.3d at 163 (quoting Zvi D. v. Ambach, 694 F.2d 904, 906 (2d Cir. 1982)). 

403. A disabled student’s right to a “stay put” or “pendency placement” arises when that student’s 

parent initiates a due process complaint with the local school district.  See, Doe, 790 F. 3d 

at 452. This statutory right exists to prevent school districts from unilaterally modifying a 

disabled student’s educational placement during the pendency of a due process dispute. 
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404. A disabled student’s “then-current educational placement,” which must be maintained 

during the pendency of a due process challenge under the IDEA (related to the identification, 

evaluation, or placement of the student) and subsequent administrative and/or judicial 

proceedings, is not defined by statute or regulation. 

405. Nevertheless, such educational placement has been interpreted to mean either: 

(1)  the educational placement set forth in the disabled student’s most recently 
implemented Individualized Education Program (“IEP”) (also referred to as 
the “last agreed upon” IEP); 

(2)  the operative placement actually functioning at the time that the due process 
proceeding was commenced; or 

(3)  the educational placement at the time of the previously implemented IEP. See, 
Dervishi v. Stamford Bd. of Educ., 653 F. App'x 55, 57–58 (2d Cir. 2016); T.M. 
ex rel. A.M., 752 F.3d at 170–71; Mackey ex rel. Thomas M., 386 F.3d at 163. 

 
406.  Although the IDEA has an “exhaustion” requirement, the Plaintiffs herein are not required 

to exhaust administrative remedies by alleging a violation of 20 U.S.C. § 1415(j). An action 

alleging the violation of the stay-put provision falls within one or more of the exceptions to 

the exhaustion prerequisite. Murphy, 297 F.3d at 199; Doe, 790 F.3d at 445; Digre v. 

Roseville Sch. Indep. Dist. No. 623, 841 F.2d 245, 250 (8th Cir. 1988) (holding federal courts 

have authority to enter injunctions regarding placement during the pendency of state 

administrative proceedings); see also N.D. ex rel. parents acting as guardians ad litem v. 

Hawaii Dep't of Educ., 600 F.3d 1104, 1111 (9th Cir. 2010) (concluded that “exhausting the 

administrative process would be inadequate because the stay-put provision (and therefore 

the preliminary injunction) is designed precisely to prevent harm while the proceeding is 

ongoing.”).189 

 
189 See Honig v. Doe, 484 U.S. 305, 326–27, 108 S. Ct. 592, 98 L. Ed. 2d 686 (1988) (noting that because "parents 
may bypass the administrative process where exhaustion would be futile or inadequate . . . we have no reason to 
believe that Congress meant to require schools alone to exhaust in all cases, no matter how exigent the circumstances"). 
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407.  The term “educational placement” encompasses at least three components.” See Letter 

to Rieser, EHLR 211:403 (July 17, 1986).190 The first involves the type of placement – in 

the instant case, a self-contained classroom without the implementation of a medical device 

(i.e., mask/face covering); the second is the “educational program contained in the IEP 

including annual goals, short-term objectives and related services;” and, the “third and final 

component is the specific school or facility which the child attends.” Id. Letter to Rieser 

continued that “these are all ingredients in the ‘status quo’ which the courts interpreting the 

statute have required be maintained during the pendency of proceedings.” 

408. “To allow a new LEA to place the child in a regular education program or provide an interim 

IEP without parental consent would defeat the purpose of the statutory provision – ‘to 

guarantee a coherent educational experience for a disabled child until conclusion of review 

of a contested IEP [emphasis added].’” Letter to Rieser, supra. 

409. Over the course of several decades, the Second Circuit has consistently defined “educational 

placement” as meaning the student’s “educational program.” T.M. ex rel. A.M., 752 F.3d at 

171 (“Under our precedent, the term ‘educational placement’ refers only to the general type 

of educational program in which the child is placed.”) (quoting Concerned Parents & 

Citizens for the Continuing Ed. at Malcolm X (PS 79) v. New York City Bd. of Ed., 629 F.2d 

751, 753 (2d Cir. 1980)); T.Y. v. New York City Dep't of Educ., 584 F.3d 412, 419 (2d Cir. 

2009) ("Educational placement’ refers to the general educational program - such as the 

classes, individualized attention and additional services a child will receive..."). 

410. A student’s educational placement does not mean the “bricks and mortar” of the school 

location but rather the elements of a student’s educational program. T.Y., 584 F.3d 412.  

 
190 See Honig, 484 U.S. 305 (deferring and adopting OSEP’s construction of the term “change in placement” for 
purposes of pendency, finding that OSEP is the agency “charged with monitoring and enforcing the statute”). 
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Thus, it has been held that a change from one school building to another (i.e., a change in 

location), without more, does not necessarily constitute a change in educational placement 

(Concerned Parents & Citizens for the Continuing Ed. at Malcolm X (PS 79), 629 F.2d at 

753–54). 

411. In Letter to Fisher, 21 IDELR 992 [OSEP 1994], the United States Department of 

Education’s Office of Special Education Programs (“OSEP”) specifically addressed the 

question of what constitutes a “change in educational placement,” opining that consideration 

should be given to whether a change in educational placement has occurred on a case-by-

case basis, as it is a very fact-specific inquiry. (Letter to Fisher, 21 IDELR 992 [OSEP 

1994]).  

412. OSEP concluded that whether a change in educational placement has occurred turns on 

“whether the proposed change would substantially or materially alter the child's educational 

program.” Id. 

413. OSEP set forth the following factors to be considered in determining whether a change in 

educational placement has occurred: 

(1)  whether the educational program set out in the child's IEP has been revised; 
(2)  whether the child will be able to be educated with nondisabled children to the 

same extent; 
(3)  whether the child will have the same opportunities to participate in 

nonacademic and extracurricular services; and 
(4)  whether the new placement option is the same option on the continuum of 

alternative placements.  

Letter to Fisher, 21 IDELR 992, supra. 

414. The “then-current educational placement” more generally refers to the educational program, 

which is a point along the continuum of placement options and, in many instances, does not 

refer to a particular institution or building where the program is implemented. See, T.Y., 584 
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F.3d at 419–20; L.M. v. Pinellas Cty. Sch. Bd., No. 810-CV-539-T-33TGW, 2010 WL 

1439103, at *1–*2 (M.D. Fla. Apr. 11, 2010)). 

415. In New York State, it is noted in SRO Decision 14-098, “In this regard I note that a change 

from a BOCES-operated class in a public school to a district-operated class in a public school 

constitutes a “change in program” per New York State regulations (see 8 NYCRR 

200.1[g]),[9] and a BOCES is also a different placement on the “continuum of placement 

options” in the State. See, e.g., “Continuum of Special Education Services for School-Age 

Students with Disabilities,” Office of Special Educ. Memo [Nov. 2013], at p. 3.191  

416. A “change in program” is defined as a “change in any one of the components of the [IEP] of 

a student as described in [8 N.Y.C.R.R.] section 200.4(d)(2).” (8 NYCRR 200.1[g][9].  This 

includes a change in a student's placement (8 NYCRR 200.4[d][2][xii]).  

417. As noted in New York State Education Department (“SED”) guidance, an assignment to a 

BOCES-operated classroom in a public school is considered a different “placement” than 

an assignment to a district-operated classroom. See, “Guide to Quality Individualized 

Education Program (IEP) Development and Implementation,” Office of Special Educ. 

Mem. [Dec. 2010], at p. 57.192 “Questions and Answers on Individualized Education 

Program (IEP) Development, the State’s Model IEP Form and Related Requirements,” 

Office of Special Educ. Mem. [Apr. 2011], at p. 47.193 

418. Courts have held that if a student’s then-current educational placement becomes unavailable, 

then a district is required to provide a “similar” educational placement. Knight by Knight v. 

D.C., 877 F.2d 1025, 1028 (D.C. Cir. 1989); McKenzie v. Smith, 771 F.2d 1527, 1533 & 

 
191 Available at http://www.p12.nysed.gov/specialed/publications/policy/continuum-schoolage-revNov13.pdf). 
192 Available at: http://www.p12.nysed.gov/specialed/publications/iepguidance/IEPguideDec2010.pdf 
193 Available at:  http://www.p12.nysed.gov/specialed/formsnotices/IEP/training/QA-411.pdf 
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n.13 (D.C. Cir. 1985); see also, Wagner, 335 F.3d at 301–02 (holding that it is not 

appropriate to direct a district to provide an “alternative placement” if the task at hand is to 

identify a student’s then-current educational placement).  Other courts have stated that a 

change in educational placement has been defined as a “fundamental change in, or 

elimination of, a basic element of the educational program.” See, Sherri A.D. v. Kirby, 975 

F.2d 193, 206 (5th Cir. 1992); see also Erickson v. Albuquerque Pub. Sch., 199 F.3d 1116, 

1121 (10th Cir. 1999). 

419. District Courts have the equitable power to review and enjoin administrative “stay-put” 

orders immediately, notwithstanding the fact that they are interim orders.  See M.K. v. 

Roselle Park Bd. of Educ., No. CIV A 06-4499 JAG, 2006 WL 3193915, at *9 (D.N.J. Oct. 

31, 2006), citing Murphy, 297 F.3d at 199. 

420. The IDEA permits disabled children to vindicate their educational rights through other 

statutes, including 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  See 20 U.S.C. § 1415(l). 

421. As the Supreme Court stated in Honig, 484 U.S. 305, the court has the equitable power to 

order a change in placement upon a sufficient showing. Id. at 327–28 (interpreting the “stay 

put” provision of the EHA – former name of the IDEA). 

422. At the outset of the COVID-19 pandemic in March and April of 2021, School districts across 

the country requested the Secretary of Education to grant waivers from IDEA requirements 

and providing FAPE during the coronavirus crisis.194 While US DOE provided great 

flexibility in providing educational services during the coronavirus crisis, there has been no 

change in federal or state law. 

 
194 https://edsource.org/2020/disability-rights-groups-school-administrators-spar-over-possible-changes-to-special-
education-laws/628376 
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423. On April 27, 2020, US DOE presented a Report to Congress from the United States 

Education Secretary at the time, Betsy DeVos (“Secretary DeVos”), which expressly did not 

recommend providing school districts with the option to bypass significant parts of federal 

special education law.195 “While the Department has provided extensive flexibility to help 

schools transition, there is no reason for Congress to waive any provision designed to keep 

students learning,” Secretary DeVos said in a statement.196 

424. The US DOE issued updated guidance for special education students in June 2020, 

reaffirming previous guidance about including parents in the decision-making process: 

“Timely communication between parents and public agency staff can often help 
resolve disagreements that may arise regarding the educational services provided 
to a child with a disability during the pandemic,” according to the Q&A. “However, 
when those informal efforts prove unsuccessful, IDEA’s three dispute resolution 
mechanisms — mediation, state complaint, and due process complaint procedures 
— are available.”197 

 
425. Defendants blatantly disregarded these procedural safeguards and failed to comply with 

these long-established federal laws and regulations with Plaintiff-Parents. 

426. Because the statewide school mask mandate has now been in effect for more than ten 

cumulative days, Defendants have altered the educational program of the Plaintiff-Students, 

thus denying them a FAPE under IDEA.198 

427. Defendants unilaterally, substantially, and materially altered the Students’ “status quo” 

educational program related to the Plaintiff-Students’ pendency rights.  The IDEA includes 

 
195 https://www2.ed.gov/documents/coronavirus/cares-waiver-
report.pdf?utm_content=&utm_medium=email&utm_name=&utm_source=govdelivery&utm_term= 
196 https://www.ed.gov/news/press-releases/secretary-devos-reiterates-learning-must-continue-all-students-declines-
seek-congressional-waivers-fape-lre-requirements-idea 
197 https://www.disabilityscoop.com/2020/06/23/ed-department-new-guidance-special-education-pandemic/28517/ 
198 The maximum amount of time a school district can displace a student and change the educational program 
without triggering a violation of 20 U.S.C. § 1415(j) is 10 school days based on Honig, 484 U.S. at 325, 325–26 n.8.  
However, this unilateral action of a suspension by the school district may create a "change in placement," and by the 
terms of the IDEA, a change in placement can only occur with the parents' consent, or after written notice, and the 
opportunity for a hearing. 
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numerous procedural safeguards “that guarantee parents both an opportunity for meaningful 

input into all decisions affecting their child’s education and the right to seek review of any 

decisions they think inappropriate.” Honig, 484 U.S. at 311–12. 

428. Defendants unilaterally, substantially, and materially altered the type of educational program 

of the Plaintiff-Students by illegally adding restraints and creating a more restrictive 

environment.  This unilateral change further violates the Supreme Court’s express preference 

for educating students in the least restrictive environment with their typically developing 

peers. Honig, 484 U.S. at 313. 

429. This unilateral, substantial, and material change in the delivery of academic and related 

services constitutes an improper change of educational program as discussed in T.Y., 584 

F.3d at 419: 

“The United States Department of Education (“USDOE”) expressly considered this 
question in its commentary to the 1997 amendments to the IDEA. In that 
commentary, the USDOE noted, that some commenters requested that the term 
"location" be defined as the placement on the continuum and not the exact building 
where the IEP service is to be provided . . . . Other commenters similarly stated that 
a note be added clarifying that ‘location’ means the general setting in which the 
services will be provided, and not a particular school or facility.” 
Assistance to States for the Education of Children With Disabilities and the Early 
Intervention Program for Infants and Toddlers With Disabilities, 64 FR 12406, 
12594, 64 FR 12406-01, 12594. 

 
430. In resolving this issue, the USDOE concluded that "[t]he location of services in the context 

of an IEP generally refers to the type of environment that is the appropriate place for 

provision of the service. For example, is the related service to be provided in the child's 

regular classroom or resource room?" Id.  This conclusion comports with the Senate's 

commentary, which states that “[t]he location where special education and related services 

will be provided to a child influences decisions about the nature and amount of these services 

and when they should be provided to a child.” S. REP. 105-17, 21 (1977). “For example, the 
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appropriate place for the related service may be the regular classroom, so that the child does 

not have to choose between a needed service and the regular educational program.” Id. “For 

this reason,” the commentary continues, “in the bill the committee has added ‘location’ to 

the provision in the IEP that includes 'the projected date for the beginning of services and 

modifications, and the anticipated frequency, location, and duration of those services.’” Id. 

(emphasis omitted). We interpret these statements to indicate that the term ‘location’ does 

not mean the specific school location, but the general environment of the overall program.” 

431. There is no “pandemic exception” to the IDEA. If a student’s educational program becomes 

unavailable, the school district must find a comparable alternative placement. See, Knight by 

Knight, 877 F.2d at 1028 (“This court has held that if a student’s ‘then current educational 

placement’ becomes unavailable, [the school board] must provide him with a ‘similar’ 

placement pending administrative and judicial approval of its eventual plans.”).  When a 

student’s educational program becomes unavailable, the stay-put provision requires that a 

similar program be found for the student. See McKenzie, 771 F.2d at 33; F.S. ex rel. 

Snyderman v. D.C., No. CIV.A.06 923 EGS, 2007 WL 1114136 (D.D.C. Apr. 13, 2007). 

432. Pursuant to the IDEA, Plaintiff-Parents sent statutory Ten-Day notices to their respective 

LEAs advising that the LEA improperly modified Plaintiff-Students’ IEPs, denied their 

pendency rights under Section 1415(j) of the IDEA, and requesting relief for such violations. 

433. Pursuant to the IDEA, Plaintiff-Parents filed due process complaints with their LEAs 

alleging violations of the IDEA and Section 504 by unilaterally modifying the Plaintiff-

Students’ IEPs and failing to maintain their pendency programs and placements. 

434. Defendants discriminated against Plaintiff-Students, who are qualified individuals under the 

ADA, by prohibiting the provision of in-person academic and related services the 

opportunity to participate or benefit from such services.  Attending school while wearing a 
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mask all day is not “equal” to the “aid, benefit or service,” nor is it as effective as services 

provided without wearing a mask. 

435. Plaintiff-Parents shall also seek other relief as equitable 20 U.S.C. § 1415(i)(2)(C)(iii), 

§1439(a)(1). 

 

X. MASKS AS A “RESTRAINT” AS DEFINED BY THE UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
EDUCATION’S OFFICE OF CIVIL RIGHTS (“OCR”) 

436. US DOE’s Office of Civil Rights (“OCR”) defined the term “restraint” in a letter dated 

December 28, 2016, which outlined a list of questions and answers as guidance to school 

districts, concerning the usage of “restraints”: 

“In general, OCR uses the following definitions for mechanical restraint and 
physical restraint.199 Mechanical restraint refers to the use of any device or 
equipment to restrict a student’s freedom of movement.200 
The term does not include devices implemented by trained school personnel, or 
utilized by a student that have been prescribed by an appropriate medical or related 
services professional and are used for the specific and approved purposes for which 
such devices were designed, such as: 
- Adaptive devices or mechanical supports used to achieve proper body position, 
balance, or alignment to allow greater freedom of mobility than would be possible 
without the use of such devices or mechanical supports; 
- Vehicle safety restraints when used as intended during the transport of a 
student in a moving vehicle; 

- Restraints for medical immobilization; or 

 
199 See, e.g., OCR, 2015-16 CRDC School Form, www.ed.gov/ocr/docs/crdc-2015-16-all-schools-form.pdf. 
200 For example, suppose a school relies on law enforcement personnel to handcuff students to obtain compliance (but 
not for the sole purpose of arrest). In that case, such students are “subjected to mechanical restraint” under OCR’s 
definition. See OCR, 2015-16 CRDC School Form, Section X, www.ed.gov/ocr/docs/crdc-2015-16-all-schools-
form.pdf. Further, stakeholders have reported that mechanical restraints such as tape, straps, tie-downs, ropes, weights, 
weighted blankets, and a wide variety of other devices have been used by educators to attempt to control student 
behavior. See Council for Children with Behavioral Disorders, Council for Exceptional Children, The Use of Physical 
Restraint Procedures in School, 2 (July 2009), 
http://casecec.org/pdf/seclusion/Accepted,%20CCBD%20on%20Use%20of%20Restraint,%207-8-09.pdf 
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- Orthopedically prescribed devices that permit a student to participate in 
activities without risk of harm.201 
Physical restraint refers to a personal restriction that immobilizes or reduces the 
ability of a student to move his or her torso, arms, legs, or head freely. The term 
physical restraint does not include a physical escort. Physical escort means a 
temporary touching or holding of the hand, wrist, arm, shoulder or back for the 
purpose of inducing a student who is acting out to walk to a safe location.”202 

437. Forcing students to wear masks all day in schools is not only a violation of New York State 

Law as a deliberately inappropriate use of restraints, it is a violation of federal Medicaid 

regulations, a violation of Federal law, and it violates The American Medical Association’s 

Code of Medical Ethics. 

438. The American Medical Association advocates that people “have a fundamental right to be 

free from unreasonable bodily restraint” and that restraints should only be imposed when “in 

the best interest of the patient.” American Medical Association, Use of Restraints, Code of 

Medical Ethics, Section E-8.17. 

439. More than a decade ago, New York State regulations banned corporal punishment and the 

use of mechanical restraints.  In September 2009, Defendant NYS DOE circulated a 

memorandum to ALL school personnel and impartial hearing officers “to publicize the 

regulations and guidance of the New York State Education Department (NYSED) governing 

the policies relating to the use of restraints and seclusion in schools.” 

440. Specifically, the memorandum stated, NYSED: 

“Prohibit[s] the use of aversive interventions, with limited exceptions [8 NYCRR 
§§19.5 and 200.22]; 
Authorize[s] the use of reasonable physical force, including the use of physical 
restraints only in emergency situations in which alternative procedures and methods 

 
201 Note that items used therapeutically for a particular student in one context could be used as a mechanical restraint 
in a different context; the proper inquiry, therefore, to determine whether an item is a mechanical restraint is not 
based solely on what the item is, but also how the item is used. 
202 https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/letters/colleague-201612-504-restraint-seclusion-ps.pdf 
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not involving the use of physical force cannot reasonably be employed [8 NYCRR 
§§19.5 and 200.22(d)].”203 

441. After that, Defendant NYS DOE issued a Q&A with guidance specifically for the proper 

development of IEPs and in the section “Special Needs Related to Special Factors” answered 

Question #7 as follows: 

442. “For students with severe needs, where do items such as harnesses and helmets belong 
on the new IEP forms? 
 

If a student needs an intervention that is medically necessary for the treatment or 
protection of the student (such as a soft helmet for a student with a seizure disorder), 
these needs could be appropriately identified under the Present Levels of 
Performance section of the IEP. Devices needed to address special transportation 
needs of the student would be documented under the ‘Special Transportation’ 
section of the IEP. However, a Committee may not recommend and a school may 
not use movement limitation, including helmets and harnesses, to address student 
behavior.204 

443. Additionally, “movement limitation” is not further defined; Plaintiffs assert that the term 

“movement limitation” includes, without limitation, the movement of students’ mouths, lips, 

and airways, which are limited, inhibited, and interfered with by the donning of a mask or 

face covering. 

444. Deliberately misusing restraints is a violation of New York State Law and is defined as: 

“ ‘Deliberate inappropriate use of restraints,’ which shall mean the use of a restraint 
when the technique that is used, the amount of force that is used or the situation in 
which the restraint is used is deliberately inconsistent with a service recipient's 
individual treatment plan or behavioral intervention plan, generally accepted 
treatment practices and/or applicable federal or state laws, regulations or policies, 
except when the restraint is used as a reasonable emergency intervention to prevent 
imminent risk of harm to a person receiving services or to any other person.  For 
purposes of this subdivision, a ‘restraint’ shall include the use of any manual, 
pharmacological or mechanical measure or device to immobilize or limit the ability 
of a person receiving services to freely move his or her arms, legs or body.”205 
 

 
203 http://www.p12.nysed.gov/specialed/publications/policy/BI-909.pdf 
204 Citing,  http://www.p12.nysed.gov/specialed/publications/policy/BIattach-909.htm (emphasis added). 
205 11 N.Y. Soc. Serv. Law § 488(1)(d) (McKinney) 
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445. The exceptions to the use of aversion and restraints are so limited that New York State 

regulations only authorize physical restraints in emergencies where alternative procedures 

not involving the use of physical force cannot reasonably be used. See, 8 NYCRR 19.5[a][3]; 

200.22[d][2][i]).  

446. “Emergency” is defined in the regulation as a situation requiring “immediate intervention.” 

8 NYCRR 200.22[d].  Emergency interventions may not be used as a punishment or 

substitute for “systemic behavioral interventions that are designed to change, replace, 

modify or eliminate a targeted behavior.” 8 NYCRR 200.22[d][2][ii]).  Staff must be trained 

in safe restraint procedures, and the school must document the use of emergency 

interventions for each student and notify the parent. 8 NYCRR 200.22[d][3]-[4].  

Documentation shall include, among other things, the location of the incident, the name of 

those involved, a description of the incident and intervention used, a statement as to whether 

the student has a current BIP, and details of any injuries sustained by the student or others 

as a result of the incident. 8 NYCRR 200.22[d][4]).206 

447. The terms “intentionally” and “recklessly” are defined by Social Services Law as having the 

same meanings as New York State Penal Law. SSL § 488(16). New York State Penal Law 

states that “[a] person acts intentionally with respect to a result or to conduct… when his 

conscious objective is to cause such result or to engage in such conduct.” PL § 15.05(1).  

448. New York State Penal Law states that “[a] person acts recklessly with respect to a result or 

to a circumstance… when he is aware of and consciously disregards a substantial and 

unjustifiable risk that such result will occur or that such circumstance exists.” PL § 10.05 

(3). 

 
206 8 NYCRR § 200.22(d)(1-4). 
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449. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), in their issuance of a final rule 

related to consumers rights in the hospital setting, defined seclusion and restraint as follows: 

Restraint is any manual method, physical or mechanical device, material, or 
equipment that immobilizes or reduces the ability of a person to move his or her 
arms, legs, body, or head freely. 42 C.F.R. § 482.13(e)(1)(i)(A). See also 42 C.F.R. 
§ 483.352. 
 

450. On May 15, 2012, then-Secretary of US DOE issued the following report: 

“As education leaders, our first responsibility must be to ensure that schools foster 
learning in a safe and healthy environment for all our children, teachers, and staff. 
To support schools in fulfilling that responsibility, the U.S. Department of 
Education has developed this document that describes 15 principles for States, 
school districts, schools, parents, and other stakeholders to consider when 
developing or revising policies and procedures on the use of restraint and 
seclusion.” 

451. In this report, Principle #7 provides, 

“Restraint or seclusion should never be used in a manner that restricts a child’s 
breathing or harms the child. Prone (i.e., lying face down) restraints or other 
restraints that restrict breathing should never be used because they can cause serious 
injury or death. Breathing can also be restricted if loose clothing becomes entangled 
or tightened or if the child’s face is covered by a staff member’s body part (e.g., 
hand, arm, or torso) or through pressure to the abdomen or chest. Any restraint or 
seclusion technique should be consistent with known medical or other special needs 
of a child. School districts should be cognizant that certain restraint and seclusion 
techniques are more restrictive than others, and use the least restrictive technique 
necessary to end the threat of imminent danger of serious physical harm. A child’s 
ability to communicate (including for those children who use only sign language 
or other forms of manual communication or assistive technology) also should not 
be restricted unless less restrictive techniques would not prevent imminent danger 
of serious physical harm to the student or others.  In all circumstances, the use of 
restraint or seclusion should never harm a child.”(emphasis added).207 
 

452. Annexed hereto is a copy of the United States Department of Education’s Office for Civil 

Rights (“OCR) Fact Sheet, detailing the many ways in which the implementation of 

restraints is a denial of FAPE under the IDEA. EXHIBIT 6.  

 
207 https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/dcl-factsheet-201612-504-restraint-seclusion-ps.pdf 
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453. Accordingly, implementing a mask mandate without adhering to the procedural safeguards 

is a denial of FAPE for those students with qualifying disabilities under the IDEA. 

454. Moreover, this alarming fact emphasizes the necessity and urgency of the Plaintiffs’ claims. 

455. The conduct alleged herein, in the aggregate, parallels the long-lived practice of child 

sacrifices. The custom of sacrificing human life to the gods arose undoubtedly from the 

belief, which under different forms has manifested itself at all times and in all nations that 

the nobler the sacrifice and the dearer to its possessor, the more pleasing it would be to the 

gods.208  

456. The most notable instance of child sacrifice took place approximately 550 years ago, in 1450 

A.D., in pre-Columbian Peru. The leaders of Chimú brought hundreds of children from 

different regions of the Chimú Empire to the beautiful beach town of Huanchaco for a Chimú 

ceremony seeking relief from El Niño, which had ravaged the area.  Along a wind-swept 

bluff overlooking the Pacific Ocean, during this ceremony, the children’s faces were 

smeared with a bright red pigment made from cinnabar, and thereafter, their chests were cut 

open to remove their hearts (evidenced by cut marks to the bones, including the sternum, the 

bone in the center of the chest, while many ribs were also damaged - indicating the heart was 

removed).  The children were likely killed during wet weather and were buried facing the 

sea, meaning they were probably sacrificed to appease the Chimú's gods.  More than 200 

young llamas, all under 18 months, were sacrificed alongside the children - all of which were 

killed in a single event.  Sacrifice was common within the Chimú spiritual ceremonies.  This 

is considered the largest single incident of mass child sacrifice in recorded history. 

 
208 https://penelope.uchicago.edu/Thayer/E/Roman/Texts/secondary/SMIGRA*/Sacrificium.html 



- 112 - 
 

457. Dr. Patrick Ryan Williams is one of the premier anthropological archaeologists who has 

studied early South American cultures.  When presented with the details of the most 

significant child sacrifice known in recorded history by the Chimú in Peru, he observed: 

“We have to remember that the Chimú had a very different world view than 
Westerners today. They also had very different concepts about death and the role 
each person plays in the cosmos, perhaps the victims went willingly as messengers 
to their gods, or perhaps Chimú society believed this was the only way to save more 
people from destruction.” (emphasis added). 

458. However, we do not have to wait 500 years to determine the “willingness” of the sacrifices 

children made during the COVID-19 pandemic to alleviate adult fears.  Fortunately, we 

already know the answer to this question from 18-year-old Jane Kitchen, who revealed her 

feelings on Twitter (via @janesays22) July 14, 2021: 

“I turned 18 in Feb 2020.  I lost my friends, my 
education, the first year of my adult life, my mental 
health, and 20lbs. I didn’t make sacrifices. 
                     I was sacrificed.” 

 
CAUSES OF ACTION 

AS AND FOR A FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
 

VIOLATIONS OF THE FIRST (AND FOURTEENTH) AMENDMENTS  
42 U.S.C. § 1983 

(All Plaintiffs against all Defendants) 

395. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all of the allegations and the paragraphs 

above as is fully set forth herein. 

396. As and for the first cause of action, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants herein have violated the 

First Amendment by:  

1. Excessive entanglement with religion; 
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2. Inciting a breach of the peace through the deliverance of sermons by 
government officials utilizing the authority of their public positions, that 
included language such as “be our apostles” and “you know who they are”; 

3. Through false speech made thoughtlessly and/or deliberately; 
4. Implementing a vague and/or ambiguous regulation without clear terms that 

“man of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ 
as to its application,” as the term “mask” and/or “face covering” remains 
undefined, yet the regulation imposes a penalty for violation of same (see 
Connally v. Gen. Const. Co., 269 U.S. 385, 391, 46 S. Ct. 126, 70 L. Ed. 322 
(1926)); 

5. Interfering with Plaintiff’s First Amendment right to freedom of association, 
and Interfering with Plaintiff’s First Amendment freedom to enter and maintain 
human relationships. 

397. Defendants’ mandate and enforcement of students to wear a mask throughout the school day 

amounts to the endorsement and advancement of religion in violation of the elements and 

protections of the First Amendment as mentioned above. 

398. However, there is no requirement that a religion meet any organizational or doctrinal test to 

qualify for First Amendment protection, as orthodoxy is not an issue. Additionally, the First 

Amendment “forbids alike preference of religious doctrine or prohibition of theory which is 

deemed agnostic to particular dogma.” Altman v. Bedford Cent. Sch. Dist., 245 F.3d 49 (2d 

Cir. 2001). 

399. Defendants’ mandate and enforcement of students to wear a mask throughout the school day 

lacks a secular, independent purpose and fosters entanglement in violation of the 

Establishment Clause of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution, nor does it 

cite to a compelling interest for the mandate. Moreover, the language of the mandate is not 

“narrowly tailored” to achieve the same. 

400. Additionally, the mandate, conceived in secret and by unlawful means, infringes upon the 

freedoms and privileges outlined in the First Amendment of the Constitution, including the 

freedom of association, the freedom of religion, and the practice thereof, by inciting a breach 
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of the peace through the deliverance of speeches and/or sermons including language such as 

“be our apostles” and “[y]ou know who they are”(supra, Part II, ¶107) by way of a false 

speech made thoughtlessly and/or deliberately to misguide the public and incite unnecessary 

panic, in addition to interfering with Plaintiffs’ rights to association and to maintain intimate 

human relationships. 

401. By perpetuating false information and translating the management of the COVID-19 

situation as a political affiliation. Defendants’ actions have promulgated and cultivated an 

atmosphere where those who don masks are the “apostles” in the government’s favor, while 

those who opt not to (even those who are fully vaccinated) are presented as the enemy and 

immoral. 

402. Thus, Defendants have acted under color of state law in violating the First Amendment and 

Fourteenth as described herein in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

AS AND FOR A SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
VIOLATIONS OF THE EIGHTH (AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS)  

42 U.S.C. § 1983 
(All Plaintiffs against all Defendants) 

403. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all of the allegations and the paragraphs 

above as is fully set forth herein. 

404. Because of the acts mentioned above, policies, practices, procedures, and/or customs, 

created, adopted, and enforced under color of state law, Defendants have deprived Plaintiffs 

of their right to be free of cruel and unusual punishment as set forth by the Eighth Fourteenth 

Amendments to the United States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

405. The Eighth Amendment provides: 

“Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and 
unusual punishments inflicted.” 
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406. Generally, infliction of suffering can be found to violate the Eighth Amendment only if 

infliction is either deliberate or reckless in the criminal law sense.  

407. Here, Defendants have undoubtedly engaged in deliberate and reckless conduct by usurping 

the powers of the Legislature and promulgating a mask mandate that not only has infringed 

upon the constitutional rights of Plaintiffs but also caused an injury. 

408. Courts have recognized that officials cannot simply remain deliberately indifferent to the 

serious medical needs of prisoners and pre-trial detainees. Indeed, as children of this nation, 

Plaintiffs and other students of New York would receive the same, if not more, protection 

than prisoners and pre-trial detainees. 

409. Additionally, relevant case law provides that “lasting harm” need not be alleged to prevail 

on an Eighth Amendment claim—it is sufficient if significant injuries have been caused by 

vindictive and punitive, unprovoked attack. 

AS AND FOR A THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 
VIOLATIONS OF THE NINTH (AND FOURTEENTH) AMENDMENT 

42 U.S.C. § 1983 
(All Plaintiffs against all Defendants) 

410. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all of the allegations and the paragraphs 

above as is fully set forth herein. 

411. The Ninth Amendment provides:  

The enumeration in the Constitution of certain rights shall not be construed to deny 
or disparage others retained by the people. 
 

412. Accordingly, the Ninth Amendment protects the right to family integrity.  

413. Fundamental integrity of the family unit must be preserved absent a showing of a 

compelling government interest—it has also been held that protecting the child from harm 

is a requisite government interest. 



- 116 - 
 

414. Here, the “harm” that the government seeks to protect students from is simply not 

“compelling.” Defendants will likely cite the transmissibility of COVID-19. However, as 

reiterated above, on June 25, 2021, Governor Cuomo himself found that the Emergency 

Declaration was unnecessary and rescinded the same. 

415. Additionally, Defendant Zucker was Commissioner of the DOH during Governor Cuomo’s 

tenure and held this position when the 8 NYCRR §66-3.1 Face Coverings amendment was 

made, which created an exception for school students. Zucker also held this position on the 

day Governor Cuomo rescinded his Emergency Declaration and emergency Executive 

Orders, including Executive Order 202 and 205. However, upon the repeal of the Executive 

Orders, Defendant Zucker took no action to implement a mask mandate in schools until, 

upon information and belief, prompted by Governor Hochul. 

416. Because of the acts as mentioned above, policies, practices, procedures, and/or customs, 

created, adopted, and enforced under color of state law, Defendants have deprived 

Plaintiffs of their rights to familial integrity secured by the Fourteenth Amendment to the 

United States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and discriminated against those students 

with disabilities protected by the IDEA in violation of Section § 504 of the Rehabilitation 

Act of 1973 (“§ 504”),  29 U.S.C. § 794(a), 34 C.F.R. § 104.4(a), Title II of the Americans 

with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12132, and Title XI of the NYS Constitution. 

417. The right to privacy protects the Plaintiffs’ personal autonomy and bodily integrity from 

intrusion by the government. The mask mandate violates the Plaintiffs’ right to privacy. 

418. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violation of the Ninth and Fourteenth 

Amendment(s) as outlined in this Complaint, Plaintiffs have suffered harm, including the 

loss of their fundamental constitutional rights, entitling them to be declaratory and 

injunctive relief. 
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AS AND FOR A FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
VIOLATIONS OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT—DUE PROCESS CLAUSE 

42 U.S.C. § 1983 
(All Plaintiffs against all Defendants) 

419. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all of the allegations and the paragraphs 

above as is fully set forth herein. 

420. Under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment: 

No State shall “deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of 
law.” 
 

421. The fundamental liberties extend to certain personal choices central to individual dignity and 

autonomy, including intimate choices that define personal identity and beliefs. See 

Obergefell v. Hodges, 576 U.S. (2015), citing Eisenstadt v. Baird, 405 U.S. 438, 92 S. Ct. 

1029, 31 L. Ed. 2d 349 (1972).  

422. Here, Defendants have unlawfully implemented a mandate requiring all elementary and 

secondary school students in New York to wear a mask – without exception. 

423. However, it is crucial to note that the initial mask mandate contained an exception for 

students attending school. But upon Defendant Hochul’s swearing-in as Governor, the 

provision was revised to a State-wide mandate (§2.60), empowering Defendant 

Commissioner Zucker to implement restrictions rooted in Executive Order 202, which 

Governor Cuomo expressly rescinded on June 25, 2021. 

424. Interestingly, NY DOE has set forth on their website homepage that: 

Please be advised that the COVID-19 Disaster Emergency declared by former 
Governor Andrew Cuomo, pursuant to Executive Order 202 issued on March 7, 
2020, and each successor Executive Order to Executive Order 202 have expired as 
of June 25, 2021. While the several exceptions and authorizations relevant to the 
Title VIII statutes and regulations contained within Executive Order 202 and each 
successor Executive Order to Executive Order 202 have now expired, Title VIII 
professionals should return to compliance with all Title VIII statutory and 
regulatory requirements without delay unless specifically suspended or waived 
under Executive Order 4. 
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425. However, Defendants NY DOE and Defendant Betty Rosa have made it clear that they 

intend to implement the mandate, even though it lacks authority as Executive Order 202 is 

no longer in effect.  

426. Instead, Defendants would rather violate the rights and freedoms bestowed upon Plaintiffs 

at birth and guaranteed as a matter of law by the Constitution, as well as relevant State and 

federal laws.  

427. Through the IDEA and related statutes, Congress has bestowed the right to education upon 

S.J.D., Plaintiffs, and other students with disabilities across the country. 

428. Accordingly, Defendants cannot simply circumvent the Legislature to implement a mandate 

wholly inconsistent with Congress’s intentions. 

429. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violations as outlined in this Complaint, 

Plaintiffs have suffered irreparable harm, including the loss of their fundamental 

constitutional rights, entitling them to declaratory and injunctive relief. 

AS AND FOR A FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
VIOLATIONS OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT—SUBSTANTIVE RIGHTS & EQUAL PROTECTION 

42 U.S.C. § 1981, 1983 
(All Plaintiffs against all Defendants) 

430. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all of the allegations and the paragraphs 

above as is fully set forth herein. 

431. The Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment provides: 

“All persons within the jurisdiction of the United States shall have the same right 
in every State and Territory to make and enforce contracts, to sue, be parties, give 
evidence, and to the full and equal benefit of all laws and proceedings for the 
security of persons and property as is enjoyed by white citizens….” 
 

432. Plaintiffs assert that for the reasons set forth above, those students of New York State that 

are disabled and protected under the IDEA essentially have a guaranteed right to be free of 
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the mask mandate until such conclusion of these judicial proceedings. However, there is 

no enumerated right for education for those non-disabled students outside the protections 

of the IDEA. 

433. Accordingly, Plaintiffs bring this claim on behalf of all non-disabled students, who shall 

enjoy the same liberties as their disabled peers under the Equal Protection Clause. 

434. Concerning the substantive rights at bar, in Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 120 S. Ct. 

2054, 147 L. Ed. 2d 49 (2000), the Supreme Court held that the “liberty of parents and 

guardians” includes the right “to direct the upbringing and education of children under their 

control.” The Court then cites to Pierce v. Soc'y of the Sisters of the Holy Names of Jesus 

& Mary, 268 U.S. 510, 45 S. Ct. 571, 69 L. Ed. 1070 (1925), explaining that “[t]he child 

is not the mere creature of the State; those who nurture him and direct his destiny have the 

right, coupled with the high duty, to recognize and prepare him for additional obligations.” 

Pierce, 268 U.S. at 534–535. “It is cardinal with us that the custody, care and nurture of 

the child reside first in the parents, whose primary function and freedom include 

preparation for obligations the state can neither supply nor hinder.” Prince v. 

Massachusetts, 321 U.S. 158, 64 S. Ct. 438, 88 L. Ed. 645 (1944). (“It is plain that the 

interest of a parent in the companionship, care, custody, and management of his or her 

children ‘come[s] to this Court with a momentum for respect lacking when appeal is made 

to liberties which derive merely from shifting economic arrangements'” (citation omitted)); 

Wisconsin v. Yoder, 406 U.S. 205, 232, 92 S. Ct. 1526, 32 L. Ed. 2d 15 (1972). 

435. “In a long line of cases, we have held that, in addition to the specific freedoms protected 

by the Bill of Rights, the ‘liberty’ specially protected by the Due Process Clause includes 
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the righ[t] ... to direct the education and upbringing of one's children” Washington v. 

Glucksberg, 521 U.S. 702, 117 S. Ct. 2258, 138 L. Ed. 2d 772 (1997) (emphasis added). 

436. Defendants have directly infringed upon the rights of Plaintiffs—both students and parents, 

as well as those similarly situated, to exercise their judgment regarding what is best for 

their child.  

437. This runs afoul of the relevant law without a compelling state interest nor a regulation 

narrowly tailored to achieve the same. 

438. As a result, Plaintiffs have suffered, and continue to suffer, irreparable harm as those 

students with disabilities’ health and welfare are put at risk, while those non-disabled 

students are harmed by direct infringement upon their rights as Americans. 

439. Plaintiffs do not contend that masks would not be useful for some students with disabilities; 

however, a mask quite literally acts as a restraint, is unnecessary where the student is 

vaccinated, and masking one’s child should remain the parents’ decision, not the State’s. 

440. As outlined in Gamble v. United States, 139 S. Ct. 1960, 204 L. Ed. 2d 322 (2019), “No 

subjective balancing test can justify such a wholesale disregard of the People’s individual 

rights protected under the Fourteenth Amendment. Gamble, 139 S. Ct. at 1988–1989. 

AS AND FOR A SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
Violations of the New York State Education Law 

§313: Unfair Educational Practices 
(All Plaintiffs against all Defendants) 

441. The Plaintiffs realleges and incorporates by reference all of the allegations and the 

paragraphs above as is fully set forth herein. 

442. NYS Education Law §313 provides that: 

“It shall be an unfair educational practice for an educational institution after 
September fifteenth, nineteen hundred forty-eight: 
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(a) To exclude or limit or otherwise discriminate against any person or persons 
seeking admission as students to such institution or to any educational program or 
course operated or provided by such institution because of race, religion, creed, sex, 
color, marital status, age, sexual orientation as defined in section two hundred 
ninety-two of the executive law, gender identity or expression as defined in section 
two hundred ninety-two of the executive law, or national origin; except that nothing 
in this section shall be deemed to affect, in any way, the right of a religious or 
denominational educational institution to select its students exclusively or primarily 
from members of such religion or denomination or from giving preference in such 
selection to such members or to make such selection of its students as is calculated 
by such institution to promote the religious principles for which it is established or 
maintained.” 

443. Plaintiffs assert that as a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, those students sent home 

for failing to adhere to the mask-mandate have been discriminated against, arguably on the 

grounds of religion (because they are not one of Defendant Hochul’s “apostles”) and/or 

political association (i.e. those who do not wear masks attack “science” and are immoral, as 

deemed by federal and State officials in public comments). 

AS AND FOR A SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
Violations of the New York State Constitution 

Title XI 
(All Plaintiffs against all Defendants) 

444. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all of the allegations and the paragraphs 

above as is fully set forth herein. 

445. Title XI of the New York State Constitution provides: 

“The legislature shall provide for the maintenance and support of a system of free 
common schools, wherein all children of this state may be educated.” 

446. As such, this provision clearly sets forth that legislature shall provide for the maintenance 

of schools, where all children may be educated, not just those willing and able to adhere to 

the mask mandate. 
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447. Accordingly, turning students away who are unable or unwilling to don a mask without an 

alternative means for educating said student (i.e., by remote learning, in-home sessions, etc.) 

is a direct violation of Title XI. 

AS AND FOR AN EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
VIOLATIONS OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT 

42 U.S.C. § 1983 
(All Plaintiffs against all Defendants) 

448. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all of the allegations and the paragraphs 

above as is fully set forth herein. 

449. Defendants’ failure to maintain Plaintiff-Students’ educational program, as per their IEPs 

deprived Plaintiff-Students of their rights to a free appropriate public education and without 

due process of law, as secured by the New York State Constitution or Statute, in violation 

of their Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution.  

Such actions by Defendants deprive Plaintiffs of rights secured by federal law in violation 

of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

450. Additionally, Defendants have directly infringed upon the substantive and due process rights 

as set forth by the Fourteenth Amendment, as set forth above. 

451. Plaintiffs-Students are entitled to declaratory relief, temporary, preliminary, and permanent 

injunctive relief, to restore their educational programs and related services. 

AS AND FOR A NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
VIOLATIONS OF THE INDIVIDUALS WITH DISABILITIES EDUCATION ACT (IDEA) 

20 U.S.C. § 1401, et seq., 34 C.F.R. Part 300 
(All Plaintiffs against all Defendants) 

Failure to Provide Pendency Under IDEA 

452. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all of the allegations and the paragraphs 

above as is fully set forth herein. 
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453. Defendants violated Plaintiffs’ pendency rights under 20 U.S.C. § 1415(j) by failing to 

provide an educational program and placement that maintained the Plaintiff-Students’ 

educational program as described herein. 

454. As a result, Defendants have also denied those students with IEPs a FAPE, as required by 

law, by subjecting these students to mandatory masking, contrary to the terms of their IEPs. 

455. Based on the preceding, Plaintiff-Parents rights and those of their Plaintiff-Students were 

violated under IDEA, 20 U.S.C. § 1401, et seq., 34 C.F.R. part 300. 

AS AND FOR A TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 504 OF THE FEDERAL REHABILITATION ACT (SECTION 504) 

29 U.S.C. § 794, et seq. 
(All Plaintiffs against all Defendants) 

Punitive Damages 

456. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all of the allegations and the paragraphs 

above as is fully set forth herein. 

457. Due to Defendants’ intentional and willful failure to provide the Plaintiff-Students with a 

FAPE, the Plaintiff-Parents and Plaintiff-Students were injured in fact. 

458. Based on the preceding, Plaintiff-Parents rights and those of the Plaintiff-Students were 

violated under Section 504, 29 U.S.C. § 794, et seq. 

AS AND FOR AN ELEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
VIOLATIONS OF TITLE II OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITY ACT (ADA) 

42 U.S. Code § 12101, et seq. 
(All Plaintiffs against all Defendants) 

459. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all of the allegations and the paragraphs 

above as is fully set forth herein. 

460. By implementing a mandatory “restraint,” as defined by the Office of Civil Rights (i.e., a 

mask), Defendants have violated the civil rights of the Plaintiff-Students as per Title II of 

the Americans with Disabilities Act ("ADA"), 42 U.S. Code § 12101, et seq. 
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461. Based on the preceding, Plaintiff-Parents rights and those of their Plaintiff-Students were 

violated under the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq. 

AS AND FOR A TWELFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
MONELL CLAIM – UNLAWFUL POLICY AND PRACTICE 

(42 U.S. Code § 1983) 
(All Plaintiffs against all Defendants) 

462. The Plaintiffs realleges and incorporates by reference all of the allegations and the 

paragraphs above as is fully set forth herein. 

463. The actions of NYC Defendants and NYS Defendants were undertaken under policies, 

practices, and customs of NYC Defendants and NYS Defendants, described above and 

below. 

464. At all times material to this complaint, NYC Defendants and NYS Defendants have 

interrelated de facto policies, practices, and customs related to school mask mandate. 

465. The inter-related policies, practices, and customs alleged above were well known. 

466. The inter-related policies, practices, and customs alleged above were the direct and 

proximate cause of the unconstitutional acts committed by NYC Defendants and NYS 

Defendants and the injuries suffered by Plaintiffs. 

AS AND FOR A THIRTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
FOURTH AMENDMENT VIOLATION 

(42 U.S. Code § 1983) 
(All Plaintiffs against all Defendants) 

467. The Plaintiffs realleges and incorporates by reference all of the allegations and the 

paragraphs above as is fully set forth herein. 

468. The Plaintiffs realleges and incorporates by reference all of the allegations and the 

paragraphs above as is fully set forth herein. 

469. NYC Defendants and NYS Defendants have committed constitutional violations against 

Plaintiffs under color of law. 
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470. Under 42 U.S.C. § 1983: Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, 

custom, or usage, of any State or Territory or the District of Columbia,  subjects, or causes 

to be subjected, any citizen of the United States or other person within the jurisdiction thereof 

to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution and 

laws, shall be liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit in equity, or other proper 

proceedings for redress. 

471. NYC Defendants and NYS Defendants have deprived Plaintiffs of their Fourth and 

Fourteenth Amendment rights under color of law by subjecting them to unlawful seizures, 

denying them due process of law, and denying them educational opportunities equal to non-

disabled students. 

472. The Fourth Amendment provides the right to be free from “unreasonable searches and 

seizures[.].” U.S. Const. IV. amend. 

473. NYC Defendants and NYS Defendants’ actions relating to Plaintiffs constitute unlawful 

seizures that are objectively unreasonable under the circumstances, and in light of the 

educational objectives, NYC Defendants and NYS Defendants purport to be trying to 

achieve. NYC Defendants and NYS Defendants’ staff, employees, and contractors are acting 

under color of law under § 1983 and are directly and proximately responsible for the 

deprivation of Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amendment rights. 

474. The Fourteenth Amendment mandates that all persons born in the United States are entitled 

to due process before restricting their liberty and equal protection of the laws. U.S. Const. 

XIV. amend. 
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475. Under the Fourteenth Amendment, a state entity assumes a duty to provide reasonable care 

to protect a child with whom it has formed a special relationship, such as a child entrusted 

in the care of a school system. 

476. The preceding actions and omissions of NYC Defendants and NYS Defendants constitute a 

policy, practice, pattern, and/or custom of discriminating against Plaintiffs in violation of 

the constitutionally protected liberty and privacy interests. 

477. Specifically, Defendants have violated 42 U.S.C. § 1983 in two ways. First, NYC 

Defendants and NYS Defendants are responsible for ensuring that students with disabilities 

are treated equally to their non-disabled peers. 

478. Although NYC Defendants and NYS Defendants have written guidelines on the use of 

restraint and seclusion, they have blatantly ignored these guidelines as applied to students 

with disabilities, all while failing to adequately document this information to shield it from 

public scrutiny. 

479. NYC Defendants and NYS Defendants were deliberately indifferent and encouraged the 

illegal use of mask restraints effectuated against students with disabilities by their school 

mask mandates did not have an automatic exemption for students with disabilities. 

480. Second, NYC Defendants and NYS Defendants have violated 42 U.S.C. § 1983 by failing 

to adequately train their staff in any methods to effectively respond to disability-related 

behaviors dealing with the use of mask restraints for students with disabilities. 

481. NYC Defendants and NYS Defendants’ actions have violated Plaintiffs’ rights to due 

process and equal protection by subjecting them to unnecessary and unreasonable restraints 

because of their disabilities. NYC Defendants and NYS Defendants’ mask restraint system 
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lacks transparency and accountability and deprives Plaintiffs of due process, including 

adequate notice regarding students’ unlawful seizures, and denies them equal protection. 

482. NYC Defendants and NYS Defendants’ actions have violated Plaintiffs’ right to due process 

by restricting their liberty through unnecessary restraint in non-emergency situations without 

any process or even notice to parents. 

483. NYC Defendants and NYS Defendants acted intentionally or with reckless indifference to 

the constitutional rights of the Plaintiffs. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for the following relief: 

1. Assert jurisdiction over this matter; 

2. Certify this action as a class action under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a) and (b)(2); 

3. Issue a Temporary Restraining Order (TRO) and/or mandatory injunction 
enjoining Defendants from implementing the mask mandate at bar; 

4. Issue a judgment declaring that Defendants’ conduct is unconstitutional under 
the First, Eighth, Ninth, and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States 
Constitution; 

5. Issue a judgment declaring that Defendants’ conduct is unlawful under the 
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1400, et seq. 
(“IDEA”) and the regulations of the United States Department of Education, 
which were promulgated pursuant to authority granted by the statute (34 C.F.R. 
Part 300), Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. § 794, et 
seq. (“Section 504”); and the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 
U.S.C. § 12101, et seq. (“ADA”); and 42 U.S.C. § 1983 with regard to those 
Plaintiffs that represent students with disabilities in attendance of New York 
schools;  

6. Order Defendants to comply with the procedural safeguards and due 
process(es) as provided by law. 

7. Require Defendants herein to comply with the Individuals with Disabilities 
Education Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1400, et seq. (“IDEA”) and the regulations of the 
United States Department of Education, which were promulgated pursuant to 
authority granted by the statute (34 C.F.R. Part 300), Section 504 of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. § 794, et seq. (“Section 504”); and the 
Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq. 
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(“ADA”); and 42 U.S.C. § 1983 with regard to those Plaintiffs that represent 
students with disabilities in attendance of New York schools, in the event of 
an emergent need for masking students in schools;  

8. Enjoin Defendants from implementing the instant mask mandate; 

9. Enjoin Defendants from convening and conferring in secret, and requiring 
Defendants to adhere to the Open Meetings Act for all meetings, especially 
those in which law-making and/or promulgation takes place; 

10. Allow Plaintiffs to seek punitive damages for those claims herein to the extent 
that such damages are not barred by federal and state law; 

11. Direct Defendants to pay for the costs and expenses for maintaining this action, 
including reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to 20 U.S.C. § 1415(i)(3)(B); 

12. Award attorneys’ fees pursuant to the Rehabilitation Act, the Americans with 
Disabilities Act, and 42 U.S.C. § 1988; 

13. Retain jurisdiction over this action until such time as this Court is satisfied that 
the systematic violations of the laws and regulations complained herein have 
been rectified; and  

14. Grant such other and further relief that this Court deems just and proper.  

Dated: October 13, 2021 
 New York, New York 

 
 
Respectfully submitted, 

       Brain Injury Rights Group, Ltd. 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 
 

 
                                                                             By: ______/S/_______________ 
                                                                                Patrick B. Donohue, Esq. 
                                                                                 95th Street, Suite 130 
                                                                                 New York, NY 10128 
                                                                                 (646) 850-5035 
                                                                                 Patrick@pabilaw.com 
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